
 

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 
 

FORM  10-K
 

☒ Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
For the fiscal year ended  June 30 ,  2024

or
☐ Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

For the transition period from   to   
Commission File Number:  001-35392

 

RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter) 

 

 

        
         Delaware

         

        
         04-3625550

        
(State or other jurisdiction

of incorporation or organization)  
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)
Triton Tower Two

700 S Renton Village Place, Seventh Floor
Renton ,  Washington 98057

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) 

( 425 )  462-1094
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code) 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: 
 

Title of each class  Trading Symbol(s)  Name of each exchange on which registered

        
         Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value

         

        
         RLGT

        

 
        

         NYSE American
        

Securities registered under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act: 
None 

 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐  No ☒ 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ☐  No ☒
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the 
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 
90 days.  Yes ☒ No ☐ 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).  Yes ☒ No ☐ 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging 
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the 
Exchange Act. 
 

Large accelerated filer  ☐  

        
         Accelerated filer
         ☒

    

Non-accelerated filer  ☐  Smaller reporting company  

        
         
☒
        

 

Emerging growth company  

        
         ☐
        

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised 
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over 
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit 
report.  ☒
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect 
the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements.  ☐
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of 
the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐



 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes  ☐ No ☒ 
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant based on the closing share price of the registrant’s 
common stock on December 31, 2023 was approximately $
    
     237
     million. 
As of September 3, 2024, 
    
     46,699,484
     shares of the registrant’s common stock were outstanding. 

Documents Incorporated by Reference:
Portions of the registrant’s proxy statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated herein by reference in Part III of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K. Such proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the registrant’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.



 

i

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

PART I
   

Forward-Looking Statements  1

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS  2

ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS  10

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  24

ITEM 1C.  CYBERSECURITY  24

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES  26

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  26

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  26
 

PART II
   

ITEM 5.
 

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  27

ITEM 6.  [RESERVED]  28

ITEM 7.
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS  29

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK  38

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA  39

ITEM 9.
 

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE  66

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  66

ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION  68

ITEM 9C.  DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS  68
 

PART III
   

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  69

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  69

ITEM 12.
 

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS, AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  69

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  69

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES  69
  

PART IV
   

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  70

ITEM 16.  FORM 10-K SUMMARY  74
Signatures  75
   

 



 

1

Table of Contents

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning set forth in United States securities laws and regulations – that is, statements 
related to future, not past, events. In this context, forward-looking statements often address our expected future business, financial performance and 
financial condition, and often contain words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimates,” “expect,” “future,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “see,” “seek,” “strategy,” 
or “will” or the negative thereof or any variation thereon or similar terminology or expressions. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees and 
are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or 
achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. We have developed our forward-looking statements based on management’s beliefs and assumptions, which in turn rely upon 
information available to them at the time such statements were made. Such forward-looking statements reflect our current perspectives on our business, 
future performance, existing trends and information as of the date of this report. These include, but are not limited to, our beliefs about future revenue and 
expense levels, growth rates, prospects related to our strategic initiatives and business strategies, along with express or implied assumptions about, 
among other things: our continued relationships with our strategic operating partners; the performance of our historic business, as well as the businesses 
we have recently acquired, at levels consistent with recent trends and reflective of the synergies we believe will be available to us as a result of such 
acquisitions; our ability to successfully integrate our recently acquired businesses; our ability to locate suitable acquisition opportunities and secure the 
financing necessary to complete such acquisitions; transportation costs remaining in-line with recent levels and expected trends; our ability to mitigate, to 
the best extent possible, our dependence on current management and certain larger strategic operating partners; our compliance with financial and other 
covenants under our indebtedness; the absence of any adverse laws or governmental regulations affecting the transportation industry in general, and our 
operations in particular; our ability to continue to respond to macroeconomic factors that have recently had a negative effect on worldwide freight 
markets; the impact of any health pandemic or environmental event on our operations and financial results; continued disruptions in the global supply 
chain; higher inflationary pressures particularly surrounding the costs of fuel, labor, and other components of our operations; potential adverse legal, 
reputational and financial effects on the Company resulting from the cybersecurity incident that we reported in March 2024 or future cyber incidents and 
the effectiveness of the Company’s business continuity plans in response to cyber incidents; the commercial, reputational and regulatory risks to our 
business that may arise as a consequence of our inability to remediate during fiscal year 2024 a material weakness in our internal controls over financial 
reporting, and the further risks that may arise should we be unable to remediate that material weakness during fiscal year 2025; and such other factors 
that may be identified from time to time in our U.S Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings and other public announcements including those 
set forth under the caption “Risk Factors” in Part 1 Item 1A of this report. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or 
persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the foregoing. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-
looking statements, as they speak only as of the date made. We disclaim any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

Our Company 

Radiant Logistics, Inc., and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company,” “we” or “us”), operates as a leading third-party logistics company, providing 
technology-enabled global transportation and value-added logistics solutions primarily in the United States and Canada. We service a large, broad and 
diversified account base across a range of industries and geographies, which is supported by an extensive network of operating locations across North 
America as well as an integrated international service partner network located in other key markets around the globe. The Company provides these 
services through a multi-brand network, which includes over 100 operating locations. Included in these operating locations are a number of independent 
agents, who are also referred to as “strategic operating partners,” that operate exclusively on the Company's behalf, and approximately 30 Company-
owned offices. As the operator of a third-party logistics business, the Company has a vast carrier network of asset-based transportation companies, 
including motor carriers, railroads, airlines and ocean lines in its carrier network. We believe shippers value our services because we are able to 
objectively arrange the most efficient and cost-effective means, type and provider of transportation service without undue influence caused by the 
ownership of transportation assets. In addition, our minimal investment in physical assets affords us the opportunity for a higher return on invested capital 
and net cash flows than our asset-based competitors.

Through our operating locations across North America, we offer domestic, international air and ocean freight forwarding services and freight brokerage 
services, including truckload services, less than truckload (“LTL”) services, and intermodal services, which is the movement of freight in trailers or 
containers by combination of truck and rail. Our primary transportation services involve arranging shipments, on behalf of our customers, of materials, 
products, equipment, and other goods that are generally larger than shipments handled by integrated carriers of primarily small parcels, such as FedEx, 
DHL, and UPS, including arranging and monitoring all aspects of material flow activity utilizing advanced information technology systems. We also 
provide other value-added logistics services including materials management and distribution services (collectively, “materials management and 
distribution” or “MM&D” services), customs house brokerage (“CHB”) services and global trade management (“GTM”) services to complement our core 
transportation service offering. 

The Company expects to grow its business organically and by completing acquisitions of other companies with complementary geographical and logistics 
service offerings. The Company’s organic growth strategy will continue to focus on strengthening existing and expanding new customer relationships 
leveraging the benefit of the Company’s technology platform, while continuing its efforts on the organic build-out of the Company’s network of strategic 
operating partner locations. In addition, as the Company continues to grow and scale its business, the Company believes that it is creating density in its 
trade lanes, which creates opportunities for the Company to more efficiently source and manage its transportation capacity. 

In addition to its focus on organic growth, the Company will continue to search for third-party acquisition candidates that bring critical mass from a 
geographic and purchasing power standpoint, along with providing complementary service offerings to the current platform. As well, the Company seeks 
to focus on acquisitive growth through the acquisition of certain of its strategic operating partners. As the Company continues to grow and scale its 
business, it also remains focused on leveraging its back-office infrastructure and technology systems to drive productivity improvement across the 
organization.

Competitive Strengths 

As a non-asset-based third-party logistics provider, we believe that we are well-positioned to provide cost-effective and efficient solutions to address the 
demand in the marketplace for transportation and logistics services. We believe that the most important competitive factors in our industry are quality of 
service, including reliability, responsiveness, expertise and convenience, scope of operations, geographic coverage, information technology and price. 
We believe our primary competitive advantages are as follows:

Non-asset-based business model

As a non-asset-based logistics provider, we own only a minimal amount of equipment. By not owning the transportation equipment used to transport 
freight, we are able to minimize our fixed operating costs and leverage our network of locations to offer competitive pricing and flexible solutions to our 
customers. Moreover, our balanced product offering provides us with revenue streams from multiple sources and enables us to retain customers even as 
they shift across various modes of transportation. We believe our low capital intensity model allows us to provide low-cost solutions to our customers, 
operate our business with strong cash flow characteristics, and retain significant flexibility in responding to changing industries and economic conditions. 
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Offer significant advantages to our strategic operating partners

Our current network is predominantly represented by independent agents, who operate exclusively on our behalf, who we also refer to as our “strategic 
operating partners,” who rely on us for operating authority, technology, sales and marketing support, access to working capital, our carrier and 
international partner networks, and collective purchasing power. Through this collaboration, our strategic operating partners have the ability to focus on 
the operational and sales support aspects of their business without diverting costs or expertise to the structural aspect of their operations, thus, providing 
our strategic operating partners with the regional, national and global brand recognition that they would not otherwise be able to achieve acting alone. 

Lower-risk operation of network of strategic operating partners

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue pursuant to agreements with our strategic operating partners operating under our various brands. These 
arrangements afford us with a relatively low risk growth model as each strategic operating partner is responsible for its own sales and costs of 
operations. Under shared economic arrangements, we are responsible to provide to our strategic operating partners centralized back-office infrastructure, 
transportation and accounting systems, billing and collection services. 

Diverse customer base

We service a large, broad, and diversified account base consisting of consumer goods, food and beverage, electronics and high-tech, aviation and 
automotive, military and government, and manufacturing and retail customers. For the annual period up to the date of this report, no single customer and 
no strategic operating partner represented more than 10% of our consolidated revenue, thus, reducing concentration risks associated with any particular 
industry, geographic or customer concentration.

Information technology resources

A primary component of our business strategy is the continued development of advanced information systems to provide accurate and timely information 
to our management, strategic operating partners and customers. We believe that the ability to provide accurate real-time information on the status of 
shipments has and will become increasingly important in our industry. Our customer delivery tools enable connectivity with our customers’ and trading 
partners’ systems, which leads to more accurate and up-to-date information on the status of shipments. Our centralized transportation management 
system (rating, routing, tender and financial settlement process) drives significant efficiency across our network. We also have access to a proprietary 
global trade management platform that will provide purchase order and vendor management tools that unlock SKU-level visibility from the manufacturing 
floor in Asia through final delivery in the U.S. We believe this will allow us to further differentiate ourselves in the marketplace and provide additional 
support for both current and prospective customers.

Global network of transportation providers

We provide worldwide supply chain services, which include international air and ocean services that complement our domestic service offerings. Our 
offerings include heavyweight and small package air services, providing same day (next flight out) air charters, next day a.m./p.m., second day a.m./p.m. 
as well as time-definite surface transport moves. Our non-asset-based business model allows us to use commercial passenger and cargo flights, thus 
enabling us to have thousands of daily flight options to choose from, and pickup and delivery network options that provides us with zip code to zip code 
coverage throughout North America. 

Sourcing and managing transportation

As we continue to grow and scale the business, we expect to continue to develop density in our trade lanes, which creates opportunities for us to more 
efficiently source and manage our transportation capacity. Through acquisitions, our network also has access to truck brokerage and intermodal 
capabilities. We believe the benefit of our relative purchasing power along with our service line expansion will serve as a competitive differentiator in the 
marketplace to help us secure new customers and attract additional strategic operating partners to our network.

Value-added services

In addition to our core transportation service offerings, we also provide value-added supply chain services including MM&D, CHB, and GTM services. We 
believe that our value-added services allow us to leverage our transportation services to generate additional revenue and provide additional convenience 
to our customers. 
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Industry Overview

The logistics industry is highly fragmented with thousands of companies of various sizes competing in the domestic and international markets. As 
business requirements for efficient and cost-effective logistics services have increased, so has the importance and complexity of effectively managing 
freight transportation. Businesses increasingly strive to minimize inventory levels, perform manufacturing and assembly operations in the lowest cost 
locations, and distribute their products in numerous global markets. As a result, companies are increasingly looking to third-party logistics providers to 
help them execute their supply chain strategies. 

Shippers typically manage their supply chains using some combination of asset and non-asset-based service providers. We operate principally as a non-
asset-based third-party logistics provider focused on freight forwarding, truck brokerage and intermodal transportation services, along with associated 
value-added services. According to Statista, the market for third-party logistics services in the United States and Canada is estimated at approximately 
$319.2 billion annually. 

Because non-asset-based companies select from various transportation options in routing customer shipments, they are often able to serve customers 
less expensively and with greater flexibility than their asset-based competitors, who are typically focused on maximizing the utilization of their own captive 
fleets of trucks, aircraft and ships rather than the specific needs of the customer. 

We believe there are several factors that are increasing demand for global logistics solutions. These factors include: 

• outsourcing of non-core activities;

• globalization of trade;

• increased need for time-definite delivery;

• consolidation of global logistics providers; and

• increasing influence of e-business and the internet.

Our Growth Strategy 

Our objective is to provide customers with comprehensive multi-modal transportation and logistics solutions offered by us through our Radiant®, 
Airgroup®, Adcom®, DBA™, Service by Air™, Navegate® and Centrade brands. Since inception of our business in 2006, we have executed a strategy to 
expand operations through a combination of organic growth and the strategic acquisition of non-asset-based transportation and logistics providers 
meeting our acquisition criteria. We have successfully completed 27 acquisitions since our initial acquisition of Airgroup in January of 2006, including:

• Automotive Services Group, expanding our services into the automotive industry, in 2007; 

• Adcom Express, Inc., (“Adcom”) adding domestic operating partner locations, in 2008; 

• DBA Distribution Services, Inc., (“DBA”) adding two Company-owned locations and operating partner locations, in 2011; 

• ISLA International Ltd., adding a Company-owned location in Laredo, Texas, providing us with bilingual expertise in both north and south bound 
cross-border transportation and logistics services, in 2011; 

• Brunswicks Logistics, Inc., adding a Company-owned location near the JFK airport in New York, in 2012;

• Marvir Logistics, Inc., adding a Company-owned location in Los Angeles, California, from the conversion of a former operating partner since 
2006, in 2012;

• International Freight Systems of Oregon, Inc., adding a Company-owned location in Portland, Oregon, from the conversion of a former operating 
partner since 2007, in 2012;

• On Time Express, Inc., adding Company-owned locations in Phoenix, Arizona, Dallas, Texas and Atlanta, Georgia, to provide additional line-haul 
and time critical logistics capabilities, in 2013;

• Phoenix Cartage and Air Freight, LLC, adding a Company-owned location in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in 2014;

• Trans-NET, Inc., expanding Company-owned operations in Seattle, Washington, in 2014;

• Don Cameron and Associates, Inc., adding a Company-owned location in Mendota Heights, Minnesota, in 2014;

• Wheels Group Inc. (“Radiant Canada”), one of the largest third-party logistics providers in Canada, offering truck brokerage services and 
intermodal service offering throughout the United States and Canada along with value-added warehouse and distribution service offerings in 
support of U.S. shippers looking to access the Canadian markets, in 2015;
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• Highways and Skyways, Inc., adding a Company-owned location near the Cincinnati airport from the conversion of a former operating partner in 
2015;

• Service by Air, Inc. (“SBA”), adding Company-owned locations and strategic operating partner locations across North America, in 2015;

• Copper Logistics, Incorporated, expanding Company-owned operations in Mendota Heights, Minnesota, in 2015;

• Lomas Logistics (“Lomas”), a division of L.V. Lomas Limited, a Canada based third-party logistics and distribution services provider operating in 
Ontario and British Columbia, in 2017;

• Dedicated Logistics Technologies, Inc., expanding existing Company-owned operations in Newark, New Jersey and Los Angeles, California, 
from the conversion of a former operating partner, in 2017;

• Sandifer-Valley Transportation and Logistics, Ltd., adding a Company-owned location in Keller, Texas, in 2017;

• Friedway Enterprises, Inc. and CIC2, Inc., adding Company-owned locations in Alexandria, Virginia and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, from the 
conversion of former operating partners, in 2020;

• Navegate, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Navegate”), adding Company-owned operations in Mendota Heights, Minnesota and Shanghai, China, 
providing international technology-enabled supply chain management and third-party transportation and logistics services including its technology 
platform, in 2021;

• Cascade Enterprises of Minnesota, Inc., expanding Company-owned operations in Mendota Heights, Minnesota, from the conversion of a former 
operating partner since 2007, in 2022;

• Daleray Corporation, adding a Company-owned location in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, from the conversion of a former operating partner since 
2014, in 2023;

• Select Logistics, Inc. and Select Cartage Inc., adding a Company-owned location in Miami, Florida, from the conversion of a former operating 
partner, in 2024;

• Viking Worldwide, Inc., a Minnesota based company with operations in both Minneapolis, Minnesota and Houston, Texas, from the conversion of 
a former operating partner, in 2024;

• Cascade Transportation, Inc., adding a Company-owned location in Seattle, Washington, in 2024;

• D.V.A. & Associates, Inc., adding a Company-owned location in Portland, Oregon, in 2024; and

• Foundation Logistics & Services, LLC, adding a Company-owned location near Houston, Texas, providing specialized logistics services for 
companies involved in the exploration, drilling, and production of oil and gas, in 2024.

We expect to grow our business organically and by completing acquisitions of other companies with complementary geographical and logistics service 
offerings. This includes the acquisition of third-parties, as well as the acquisition of strategic operating partners. We will continue to make enhancements 
to our back-office infrastructure, transportation management, global trade management and accounting systems to support this growth. Our organic 
growth strategy will continue to focus on strengthening existing and expanding new customer relationships, while continuing our efforts on the organic 
build-out of our network of strategic operating partner locations. In addition, we will also be working to drive further productivity improvements enabled 
through our value-added truck brokerage and customs house brokerage service capabilities.

Our acquisition strategy has been designed to take advantage of shifting market dynamics. The third-party logistics industry continues to grow as an 
increasing number of businesses outsource their logistics functions to more cost-effectively manage and extract value from their supply chains. The 
industry is positioned for further consolidation as it remains highly fragmented, and as customers are demanding the types of sophisticated and broad 
reaching service offerings that can more effectively be handled by larger more diverse organizations. We believe the highly fragmented composition of 
the marketplace, the industry participants’ need for capital, and their owners’ desire for liquidity has and will continue to produce a large number of 
attractive acquisition candidates. For the most part, our target acquisition candidates are generally smaller than those identified as acquisition targets of 
larger public companies and have limited ability to conduct their own public offerings or obtain financing that will provide them with capital for liquidity or 
rapid growth. We believe that many of these “smaller” companies are receptive to our acquisition program as a vehicle for liquidation or growth. We intend 
to be opportunistic in executing our acquisition strategy with a goal of expanding both our domestic and international capabilities.

While our acquisition strategy has often focused on the acquisition of third-party businesses operating within the logistics industry, we have frequently 
purchased the businesses of our strategic operating partners. These acquisitions offer certain other advantages, from risk mitigation (since we are 
already intimately aware of the financial metrics of our operating partners), to enhancing the growth of our agency network, motivated in part by the 
unique advantage we offer to our strategic operating partners through a possible exit transaction.
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Our Operating Strategy 

Leverage the People, Process and Technology Available through a Central Platform. A key element of our operating strategy is to maximize our 
operational efficiencies by integrating general and administrative functions into our back-office operations and reducing or eliminating redundant functions 
and facilities at acquired companies. This is designed to enable us to quickly realize potential savings and synergies, efficiently control and monitor 
operations of acquired companies, and allow acquired companies to focus on growing their sales and operations. 

Develop and Maintain Strong Customer Relationships. We seek to develop and maintain strong interactive customer relationships by anticipating and 
focusing on our customers’ needs. We emphasize a relationship-oriented approach to business, rather than the transaction or assignment-oriented 
approach used by many of our competitors. To develop close customer relationships, we and our network of operating partners regularly meet with both 
existing and prospective customers to help design solutions for, and identify the resources needed to execute, their supply chain strategies. We believe 
that this relationship-oriented approach results in greater customer satisfaction and reduced business development expense. 

Operations 

Through our operating locations across North America, we offer domestic and international air and ocean freight forwarding services and freight 
brokerage services including truckload services, LTL services, and intermodal services, which is the movement of freight in trailers or containers by 
combination of truck and rail. As a third-party logistics provider, our primary business operations involve arranging the shipment, on behalf of our 
customers, of materials, products, equipment and other goods that are generally larger than shipments handled by integrated carriers of primarily small 
parcels, such as FedEx, DHL and UPS, including arranging and monitoring all aspects of material flow activity utilizing advanced information technology 
systems. We also provide other value-added supply chain services, including MM&D, CHB, and GTM, to complement our core transportation service 
offering. 

As a non-asset-based provider, we generally do not own the transportation equipment used to transport freight. We generally expect to neither own nor 
operate any material transportation assets and, consequently, arrange for transportation of our customers’ shipments via trucking companies, commercial 
airlines, air cargo carriers, railroads, ocean carriers and other non-asset-based third-party providers. We select the carrier for a shipment based on route, 
departure time, available cargo capacity and cost. We may charter cargo aircraft and/or ocean vessels from time to time depending upon seasonality, 
freight volumes and other factors. We generate our gross margin on the difference between what we charge to our customers for the services provided to 
them, and what we pay to the transportation providers to transport freight. 

We are organized functionally in two geographic operating segments: U.S. and Canada. Our transportation services for both the U.S. and Canada 
segments can be broadly placed into the categories of freight forwarding and freight brokerage services:

Freight forwarding. As a freight forwarder, we operate as a non-asset-based carrier providing domestic and international air and ocean freight forwarding 
services. Our freight forwarding operations involve obtaining shipment or material orders from customers, creating and delivering a wide range of logistics 
solutions to meet customers' specific requirements for transportation and related services, and arranging and monitoring all aspects of material flow 
activity utilizing advanced information technology systems. We arrange for transportation of our customers’ shipments via trucking companies, 
commercial airlines, air cargo carriers, ocean carriers and other asset-based and non-asset-based third-party providers. We select the carrier for a 
shipment based on route, departure time, available cargo capacity and cost. We charter cargo aircraft from time to time depending upon seasonality, 
freight volumes and other factors. 

Freight brokerage. We also provide significant bi-modal brokerage capabilities providing truckload, LTL and intermodal services throughout the United 
States and Canada, which is managed through our centralized service centers in Chicago, Illinois and Toronto, Ontario. We offer temperature-controlled, 
dry van, intermodal drayage, and flatbed services and specialize in the transport of food and beverage, consumer packaged goods and frozen food and 
refrigerated products.

As a truck broker, we match the customers’ needs with carriers’ capacity to provide the most effective combination of service and price. We have 
contracts with a substantial number of carriers allowing us to meet the varied needs of our customers. As part of the truck brokerage services, we 
negotiate rates, track shipments in-transit and handle claims for freight loss and damage on behalf of our customers. For our LTL service, we employ a 
point-to-point model that we believe serves as a competitive advantage over the traditional hub and spoke LTL model in terms of faster transit times, 
lower incidence of damage, and reduced fuel consumption.

As an intermodal services company, we arrange for the movement of our customers’ freight in containers, trailers and rail boxcars, typically over long 
distances of at least 750 miles. We contract with railroads to provide transportation for the long-haul portion of the shipment and with local trucking 
companies, known as “drayage companies,” for pickup and delivery. As part of our intermodal services, we negotiate rail and drayage rates, electronically 
track shipments in-transit, consolidate billing and handle claims for freight loss or damage on behalf of our customers.

To complement our core transportation service offerings, we also provide a number of value-added services, including MM&D, CHB, and GTM solutions. 
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Information Services 

The continued enhancement of our information systems and ultimate migration of acquired companies and additional strategic operating partners to a 
common set of customer-facing and back-office applications is a key component of our growth strategy. We believe that the ability to provide accurate 
real-time information on the status of shipments as well as enhanced reporting and visibility tools has become increasingly important and that our efforts 
in this area will result in competitive service advantages. We are also able to offer customers purchase order and vendor management tools that unlock 
SKU-level visibility from the manufacturing floor in Asia through final delivery here in the U.S through our proprietary global trade management platform 
which we believe this will allow us to further differentiate ourselves in the marketplace. In addition, we believe that centralizing our operations into a single 
transportation management system (rating, routing, tender and financial settlement processes) will continue to drive significant productivity improvement 
across our network. 

In our forwarding operations, we use a third-party and proprietary transportation management system (Cargowise, SBA Review) and are migrating 
operations to SAP TM, which are integrated to our third-party accounting system (SAP ECC). These systems combine to form the foundation of our 
supply-chain technologies, which provides us with a common set of back-office operating, accounting and customer facing applications. In our brokerage 
operations, we utilize the TEDS system for transportation management and Megatrans and Revenova for intermodal services, and Profit Tools for 
drayage services. In our warehousing operations, we use Microsoft’s Navision and are migrating to Highjump, which uses SAP for order management 
services. These systems are connected to Epicor and JD Edwards for accounting and financial reporting. We continue to make gradual progress in 
migrating these various operating and financial reporting systems to a singular SAP-based platform. We are taking a phased approach to these 
migrations and currently we continue to transition our freight forwarding services to our SAP-based transportation management system. Future phases 
will include the transition of our legacy brokerage transportation management and financial reporting systems to SAP ECC.

Sales and Marketing 

We principally market our services through our network of Company-owned and strategic operating partner locations across North America. Each office is 
staffed with operational employees to provide support for the sales team, develop frequent contact with the customer’s traffic department, and perform 
customer service. Our current network is predominantly represented by strategic operating partners that rely on us for operating authority, technology, 
sales and marketing support, access to working capital, our carrier and international partners networks, and collective purchasing power. Through this 
collaboration, our strategic operating partners have the ability to focus on the operational and sales support aspects of the business without diverting 
costs or expertise to the structural aspect of their operations, providing our partners with the regional, national and global brand recognition that they 
would not otherwise be able to achieve by solely serving their local market. We have no customers or strategic operating partners that separately account 
for more than 10% of our consolidated revenue, although we do have a number of significant customers and strategic operating partner locations with 
volume and stature, the loss of one or more of which could negatively impact our ability to retain and service our customers. 

Competition and Business Conditions 

The logistics business is directly impacted by the volume of domestic and international trade. The volume of such trade is influenced by many factors, 
including economic and political conditions in the United States and abroad, major work stoppages, currency fluctuations, acts of war, terrorism and other 
armed conflicts, United States and international laws relating to tariffs, trade restrictions, foreign investments, interest rates, inflation, and taxation. 

The global transportation and logistics services industry is intensively competitive and is expected to remain so for the foreseeable future. We compete 
against asset-based and other non-asset-based third-party logistics companies, consultants, information technology vendors and shippers’ transportation 
departments. This competition is based primarily on rates, quality of service (such as damage-free shipments, on-time delivery and consistent transit 
times), reliable pickup and delivery and scope of operations. Certain of our competitors have substantially greater financial resources than we do. 
However, we believe the incremental service offerings enabled through our acquisition strategy will serve as a catalyst for margin expansion in our 
existing business and a competitive differentiator in the marketplace to help us secure new customers and attract additional strategic operating partners 
to our network.

Regulation 

Interstate and international transportation of freight is highly regulated. Failure to comply with applicable state and federal regulations, or to maintain 
required permits or licenses, can result in substantial fines or revocation of operating permits or authorities imposed on both transportation intermediaries 
and their shipper customers. We cannot give assurance as to the degree or cost of future regulations on our business. Some of the regulations affecting 
our current and prospective operations are described below. 
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Air freight forwarding operations are subject to regulation, as an indirect air cargo carrier, under the Federal Aviation Act as enforced by the Federal 
Aviation Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation, and the Transportation Security Administration of the Department of Homeland 
Security. While air freight forwarders are exempted from most of the Federal Aviation Act’s requirements by the Economic Aviation Regulations, the 
industry is subject to ongoing regulatory and legislative developments that can impact the economics of the industry by requiring changes to operating 
practices or influencing the demand for, and the costs of, providing services to customers. 

Surface freight forwarding operations are subject to various state and federal statutes and are regulated by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation and, to a very limited extent, the Surface Transportation Board. These federal agencies have 
broad investigatory and regulatory powers, including the power to issue a certificate of authority or license to engage in the business, to approve specified 
mergers, consolidations and acquisitions, and to regulate the delivery of some types of domestic shipments and operations within particular geographic 
areas. 

The Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration also has the authority to regulate interstate motor carrier operations, including the regulation of certain 
rates, charges and accounting systems, to require periodic financial reporting, and to regulate insurance, driver qualifications, operation of motor vehicles, 
parts and accessories for motor vehicle equipment, hours of service of drivers, inspection, repair, maintenance standards and other safety related 
matters. The federal laws governing interstate motor carriers have both direct and indirect application to the Company. The breadth and scope of the 
federal regulations may affect our operations and the motor carriers that are used in the provisioning of the transportation services. In certain locations, 
state or local permits or registrations may also be required to provide or obtain intrastate motor carrier services. 

The Federal Maritime Commission (“FMC”) regulates and licenses ocean forwarding operations. Non-vessel operating common carriers are subject to 
FMC regulation, under the FMC tariff filing and surety bond requirements, and under the Shipping Act of 1984, particularly those terms proscribing 
rebating practices. 

United States customs brokerage operations are subject to the licensing requirements of the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection of the Department 
of Homeland Security. Likewise, any customs brokerage operations must also be licensed in and subject to the regulations of countries into which freight 
is imported. 

Environmental, Social, and Governance Initiatives

We seek to maintain best-in-class level of corporate governance on behalf of our stakeholders, including our associates, customers, consumers, 
communities, and shareholders. We also recognize the importance of environmental and social factors related to how we operate our business. We are 
continuing to enhance our Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) efforts and accelerate programs to manage our impact on climate change and 
reduce Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions. We also recognize our responsibility to act as a force for good in our communities and deliver value across 
our broad set of stakeholders.

The Board of Directors has oversight of ESG-related matters, including sustainability risks and opportunities. Our ESG Steering Committee leads the 
execution of our strategy through an ESG Task Force comprised of a cross-functional team representing our operations, products, and services. In 2022, 
we completed our first materiality assessment to identify relevant ESG issues impacting our business and stakeholders; this assessment guided the 
implementation of our strategic plan. Over the past year, our ESG Steering Committee led the successful completion of our inaugural sustainability report 
communicating progress on these material topics. Our ESG Task Force will further seek opportunities to educate our organization on standards and best 
practices in the logistics industry, as well as chart our future success in environmental, social and governance related endeavors. Our goal is to create 
value across our full set of stakeholders and deliver long-term returns to shareholders.

In our 2023 Annual Report, we identified climate change as a financially-material topic and highlighted investments in external climate experts to map and 
measure our GHG emissions. Our 2024 Sustainability Report includes the results of this initiative and provides a baseline for our future Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 climate targets. As a non-asset-based provider of global transportation and logistics solutions, the majority of our climate impact is in our value 
chain including asset-based carriers utilized to transport goods for our customers. We are actively focused on measuring Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions 
and improving our overall understanding of climate risks and opportunities. Our ongoing strategic initiatives include (1) reporting an annual GHG 
emissions inventory including those within our value chain, (2) establishing GHG reduction targets aligned with industry standards, and (3) engaging with 
our suppliers, customers, and partners. Additionally, we will align our annual performance disclosure in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards’ (“IFRS”) International Sustainability Standards Board (“ISSB”) and the IFRS industry-based disclosure requirements for the Air 
Freight and Logistics sector.

We are committed to being a socially responsible employer, foster an environment of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (“DEI”), and to be a good corporate 
citizen. In 2023 we launched a long-term partnership with the American Heart Association, and have continued to seek partnerships with other local 
organizations.
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Human Capital

Overview

We are committed to fostering a positive and engaging culture of DEI. Our goal as a company is to create and maintain a high-performance environment 
where all people throughout our workforce can thrive. We believe that an equitable and inclusive environment with diverse teams is crucial to our efforts 
to attract and retain key talent and foster a work culture that reflects our core values. 

Our Associates

As of June 30, 2024, we have 931 employees, of which 909 are full time. None of these employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We 
have experienced no work stoppages and consider our relations with our employees to be good.

Available Information

We maintain a website at www.radiantdelivers.com. We are not including the information contained on our website as a part of, nor incorporating it by 
reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We post on our website, free of charge, documents that we file with or furnish to the SEC, including our 
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and proxy statements, as soon as reasonably practicable 
after we electronically file such material with, or furnish such material to, the SEC. These reports are also available free of charge on the SEC website at 
www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

RISKS PARTICULAR TO OUR BUSINESS 

You should carefully consider the risk factors set forth below as well as the other information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K before investing in our common stock. Any of the following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition or results of operations. In such a case, you may lose all or part of your investment. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. 
Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or those we currently view to be immaterial may also materially adversely affect our business, 
financial condition or results of operations. The future trading price of shares of our common stock will be affected by the performance of our business 
relative to, among other things, competition, market conditions and general economic and industry conditions. 

Risks Related to our Business 

We need to maintain and expand our existing strategic operating partner network to increase revenues.

We sell our services through Company-owned locations operating under the Radiant brands and through a network of independently owned strategic 
operating partners throughout North America operating under the Airgroup, Adcom, DBA, and Service by Air brands. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, approximately 50% and 48% of our consolidated adjusted gross profit (this is a non-GAAP measure, see further discussion and 
reconciliation to a GAAP measure in Item 7) was derived through our strategic operating partners. We believe our strategic operating partners will remain 
a critical component to our success for the foreseeable future. Although the terms of our strategic operating partner agreements vary widely, they 
generally cover the manner and amount of payments, the services to be performed, the length of the contract, and provide us with certain protections 
such as strategic operating partner-funded reserves against potential bad debts, indemnification obligations, and in certain instances include a personal 
guaranty of the independent owner(s) of the strategic operating partners. Certain of our strategic operating partner agreements are for defined terms, 
while others are subject to “evergreen” terms, or contain automatic renewal provisions or are at-will on a month-to-month basis. Regardless of stated 
term, in most situations the agreements can be terminated by the strategic operating partner with prior notice. As certain agreements expire, there can 
be no assurance that we will be able to enter into new agreements that provide for the same terms and economics as those previously agreed upon, if at 
all. Thus, we are subject to the risk of strategic operating partner terminations and the failure or refusal of certain of our strategic operating partners to 
renew their existing agreements. This risk is often accentuated upon the acquisition of a new agency-based network. We have a number of customers 
and strategic operating partner locations with significant volume and stature; however, no single customer or strategic operating partner location 
represents more than 10% of our consolidated revenue. We cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain and expand our existing strategic operating 
partner relationships or enter into new strategic operating partner relationships, or that new or renewed strategic operating partner relationships will be 
available on commercially reasonable terms. If we are unable to maintain and expand our existing strategic operating partner relationships, renew 
existing strategic operating partner relationships, or enter into new strategic operating partner relationships, we may lose customers, customer 
introductions and co-marketing benefits, and our operating results may be negatively impacted. We may also be restricted from growing in certain 
territories or with certain customers, except through our strategic operating partners.

If our strategic operating partners fail to maintain adequate reserves against unpaid customer invoices, or if we are unable to offset against 
commissions earned and payable by us to our strategic operating partners for unpaid customer invoices, our results of operations and 
financial condition may be adversely affected.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue pursuant to agreements with strategic operating partners operating under our various brands. Under these 
agreements, each individual strategic operating partner is responsible for some or all of the collection of amounts due from customers being serviced by 
such strategic operating partner. Certain of our strategic operating partners are required to maintain a security deposit with us to be used to fund those 
customer accounts ultimately not collected by us. We charge each of the strategic operating partners for any accounts receivable aged beyond 90 days. 
If the strategic operating partner’s deposit with us has been depleted, an amount will be owed to us by our strategic operating partner. Based on legacy 
contracts assumed upon acquisition, some strategic operating partners are not required to maintain a security deposit, however, they are still responsible 
for deficits and their strategic operating partner agreements provide that we may withhold all or a portion of future commissions payable to the strategic 
operating partner in satisfaction of any deficit. As of June 30, 2024, approximately $1.2 million was owed to us by our strategic operating partners. To the 
extent any of these strategic operating partners cease operations or are otherwise unable to replenish these deficit accounts, we would be at risk of loss 
for any such amount. We include such amounts in the allowance for credit losses when it is probable the amounts owed will not be collected. 
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Failure to comply with obligations as an “indirect air carrier” could result in penalties and fines and limit our ability to ship freight.

We are regulated, among other things, as “indirect air carriers” by the Transportation Security Administration of the Department of Homeland Security. 
These agencies provide requirements, guidance and, in some cases, administer licensing requirements and processes applicable to the freight 
forwarding industry. We monitor our compliance and the compliance of our subsidiaries with such agency requirements. We rely on our strategic 
operating partners to monitor their own compliance, except when we are notified of a violation, when we may become involved. Failure to comply with 
these requirements, policies and procedures could result in penalties and fines. To date, a limited number of our strategic operating partners have been 
out of compliance with the “indirect air carrier” regulations, resulting in fines to us, which we attempt to collect from the strategic operating partners. 
There is no assurance that additional violations will not take place, which could result in penalties or fines or, in the extreme case, limits on our ability to 
ship freight.

Our business relies upon our ability to develop, implement, maintain, upgrade, enhance, protect and integrate information technology 
systems. 

We rely heavily on our information technology systems to efficiently run our business, and they are a key component of our growth strategy. To keep pace 
with changing technologies and customer demands, we must correctly interpret and address market trends and enhance the features and functionality of 
our technology platform in response to these trends that may lead to significant ongoing software development or licensing costs. We may be unable to 
accurately determine the needs of our customers and strategic operating partners and the trends in the transportation services industry, or to design or 
license and implement the appropriate features and functionality of our technology platform in a timely and cost-effective manner, which could result in 
decreased demand for our services and a corresponding decrease in our revenues.

Further, we must maintain and enhance the reliability and speed of our information technology systems to remain competitive and effectively handle 
higher volumes of freight through our network and the various service modes we offer. If our information technology systems are unable to manage 
additional volume for our operations as our business grows, or if such systems are not suited to manage the various service modes we offer or 
businesses we acquire, our service levels and operating efficiency could decline. We expect customers and strategic operating partners to continue to 
demand more sophisticated, fully integrated information systems from their supply chain services providers. If we fail to hire and retain qualified 
personnel to implement, protect and maintain our information technology systems or if we fail to upgrade our systems to meet our customers’ and 
strategic operating partners’ demands, our business and results of operations could be seriously harmed. This could result in a loss of customers or a 
decline in the volume of freight we receive from customers. 

In addition, acquired companies will need to be integrated with our information technology systems, which may cause additional training or licensing cost, 
along with potential delays and disruption. In such event, our revenue, financial results and ability to operate profitably could be negatively impacted. The 
challenges associated with integration of our acquisitions may increase these risks.

Our business relies upon our ability to develop and maintain information technology systems that can protect against cybersecurity and other 
similar risks. 

We have been and may in the future be subject to cybersecurity attacks and other intentional hacking. For example, as previously disclosed, on 
December 8, 2021, we detected a ransomware incident impacting certain of our operational and information technology systems. On or about March 14, 
2024, through our information technology systems monitoring tools, we detected what was determined to be the initial stages of a cybersecurity incident 
related to our Canadian operations. Even though in both instances, we recovered our systems and returned our operations to full functionality, the 
incident did result in a modest loss of revenue as well as certain incremental costs. Any failure to design or maintain our information technology systems 
so that they can prevent, or at least identify and address such cybersecurity risks could result in corruption or loss of our data, service interruptions, 
operational difficulties, loss of revenues or market share, liability to customers or others for any potential loss of Personal Identifiable Information (“PII 
Data”), diversion of resources, injury to our reputation and increased service and maintenance costs. Addressing such issues could prove to be 
impossible or very costly and responding to resulting claims or liability could similarly involve substantial cost. Additionally, the insurance coverage we 
have in place may not apply to particular loss or it may not be sufficient to cover all liabilities to which we may be subject. 

Our management information and financial reporting systems are spread across diverse platforms and geographies. 

The growth of our business through acquisitions has resulted in our reliance on the accounting, business information, and other computer systems of 
these acquired entities to capture and transmit information concerning customer orders, carrier payment, payroll, and other critical business data. We 
continue to make progress towards migrating our various legacy operating and accounting systems to a singular SAP-based system. As long as an 
acquired business remains on another information technology system, we face additional manual calculations, training costs, delays, and an increased 
possibility of inaccuracies in the data we use to manage our business and report our financial results. Any delay in compiling, assessing, and reporting 
information could adversely impact our business, our ability to timely 
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react to changes in volumes, prices, or other trends, or to take actions to comply with financial covenants, all of which could negatively impact our stock 
price.

We depend on third-party carriers to transport our customers’ cargo.

We rely on commercial airfreight carriers and air charter operators, ocean freight carriers, trucking companies, major U.S. railroads, other transportation 
companies, draymen and longshoremen for the movement of our customers’ cargo. Consequently, our ability to provide services for our customers could 
be adversely impacted by, among other things: shortages in available cargo capacity; changes by carriers and transportation companies in policies and 
practices such as scheduling, pricing, payment terms and frequency of service, increases in the cost of fuel, taxes and labor, changes in the financial 
stability or operating capabilities of carriers, and other factors not within our control. Reductions in airfreight or ocean freight capacity could negatively 
impact our yields. Material interruptions in service or stoppages in transportation, whether caused by supply chain irregularities, strike, work stoppage, 
lock-out, slowdown, other supply chain issues or otherwise, could adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, any determination that our third-party carriers have violated laws and regulations could seriously damage our reputation and brands, resulting 
in diminished revenue and profit and increased operating costs.

Our profitability depends on our ability to effectively manage our cost structure as we grow the business.

We have increased, and intend to further increase, our revenue through organic growth, adding strategic operating partners, and acquisitions. We believe 
that certain of our costs, such as those related to information technology, physical locations, senior management, and sales and general operations, and 
excluding non-cash amortization, should grow more slowly than our adjusted gross profit, which would lead to improved cash flow margins over time. 
Historically, our cash flow margins have fluctuated, and have not always improved as we have grown. To the extent we fail to manage our costs, 
including purchased transportation, strategic operating partner commissions, personnel expenses, and sales and general expenses, our profitability may 
not improve or may decrease. This could adversely impact our business, results of operation, financial condition, and the trading price of our common 
stock.

Economic recessions and other factors that reduce freight volumes could have a material adverse impact on our business.

The transportation industry historically has experienced cyclical fluctuations in financial results due to economic recessions, downturns in business cycles 
of our customers, interest rate fluctuations, inflation pressures, and other economic factors beyond our control. Deterioration in the economic environment 
subjects our business to various risks that may have a material impact on our operating results and cause us to not reach our long-term growth goals, and 
which may include the following: 

• a reduction in overall freight volumes in the marketplace reduces our opportunities for growth. In addition, if a downturn in our customers’ 
business cycles causes a reduction in the volume of freight shipped by those customers, our operating results could be adversely affected;

• some of our customers may face economic difficulties and may not be able to pay us, and some may go out of business. In addition, some 
customers may not pay us as quickly as they have in the past, causing our working capital needs to increase;

• a significant number of our transportation providers may go out of business and we may be unable to secure sufficient equipment or other 
transportation services to meet our commitments to our customers; and

• we may not be able to appropriately adjust our expenses to changing market demands. In order to maintain high variability in our business 
model, it is necessary to adjust staffing levels to changing market demands. In periods of rapid change, it is more difficult to match our staffing level 
to our business needs. In addition, we have other primarily variable expenses that are fixed for a period of time, and we may not be able to 
adequately adjust them in a period of rapid change in market demand.

Health crises may adversely affect our business.

The extent to which a health pandemic impacts us will depend on numerous evolving factors and future developments that we are not able to predict, 
including the duration and scope of the pandemic; governmental, business, and individuals’ actions in response to the pandemic; and the impact on 
economic activity including the possibility of recession or financial market instability. These factors may adversely impact consumers, business, and 
government spending as well as customers' ability to pay for our services on an ongoing basis. This uncertainty also affects management’s accounting 
estimates and assumptions, which could result in greater variability in a variety of areas that depend on these estimates and assumptions, including 
receivables and forward-looking guidance.
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Our business is subject to seasonal trends.

Historically, our operating results have been subject to seasonal trends when measured on a quarterly basis. Our first and third fiscal quarters are 
traditionally weaker compared with our second and fourth fiscal quarters. As a result, our quarterly operating results are likely to continue to fluctuate. This 
trend is dependent on numerous factors, including the markets in which we operate, holiday seasons, climate, economic conditions, inflationary pressure, 
and numerous other factors. A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from customers in industries whose shipping patterns are tied closely to 
consumer demand, which can sometimes be difficult to predict or are based on just-in-time production schedules. Therefore, our revenue is, to a large 
degree, affected by factors that are outside of our control. There can be no assurance that our historic operating patterns will continue in future periods 
as we cannot influence or forecast many of these factors.

Comparisons of our operating results from period to period are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indicator of 
future performance.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and likely will continue to fluctuate in the future because of a variety of factors, many of which are 
beyond our control including inflationary pressures and supply chain disruptions. A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from customers in 
industries whose shipping patterns are tied closely to economic trends, such as inflation and supply chain irregularities during the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2024, and consumer demand that can be difficult to predict or are based on just-in-time production schedules. Because our quarterly revenues and 
operating results vary significantly, comparisons of our results from period to period are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an 
indicator of future performance. Additionally, the timing of acquisitions, as well as the revenue and expenses of the acquired operations, the transaction 
expenses, amortization of intangible assets, and interest expense associated with acquisitions can make our operating results from period to period 
difficult to compare. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our historical operating patterns will continue in future periods or that comparisons to 
prior periods will be meaningful.

Higher carrier prices may result in decreased adjusted gross profit.

Carriers can be expected to charge higher prices if market conditions warrant, including increased costs of fuel, labor shortages, increased shipping times 
due to supply chain disruptions in order to cover higher operating expenses such as increased shipping times, labor rates, and rising gas prices. Our 
adjusted gross profit and income from operations may decrease if we are unable to increase our pricing to our customers. Increased demand for 
truckload services and pending changes in regulations may reduce available capacity and increase carrier pricing.

We face intense competition in the freight forwarding, freight brokerage, logistics and supply chain management industry.

The freight forwarding, freight brokerage, logistics and supply chain management industry is intensely competitive and is expected to remain so for the 
foreseeable future. We face competition from a number of companies, including many that have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing 
resources. Customers increasingly are turning to competitive bidding processes, in which they solicit bids from a number of competitors, including 
competitors that are larger than us. Increased competition may lead to revenue reductions, reduced profit margins, or a loss of market share, any one of 
which could harm our business. There are many factors that could impair our profitability, including the following:

• competition with other transportation services companies, some of which have a broader coverage network, a wider range of services, more fully 
developed information technology systems and greater capital resources than we do;

• reduction by our competitors of their rates to gain business, especially during times of declining growth rates in the economy, which reductions 
may limit our ability to maintain or increase rates, maintain our operating margins or maintain significant growth in our business;

• shift in the business of shippers to asset-based trucking companies that also offer brokerage services in order to secure access to those 
companies’ trucking capacity, particularly in times of tight industry-wide capacity;

• solicitation by shippers of bids from multiple transportation providers for their shipping needs and the resulting depression of freight rates or loss 
of business to competitors; and

• establishment by our competitors of cooperative relationships to increase their ability to address shipper needs.
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Our industry is consolidating and if we cannot gain sufficient market presence, we may not be able to compete successfully against larger 
companies in our industry.

There currently is a trend within our industry towards consolidation of the niche players into larger companies that are attempting to increase global 
operations through the acquisition of regional and local freight forwarders, brokers, and other freight logistics providers. If we cannot gain sufficient 
market presence or otherwise establish a successful strategy in our industry, we may not be able to compete successfully against larger companies in 
our industry.

If we are not able to limit our liability for customers’ claims for loss or damage to their goods through contract terms and limit our exposure 
through the purchase of insurance, we could be required to pay large amounts to our customers as compensation for their claims and our 
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In our freight forwarding operations, we have liability under law to our customers for loss or damage to their goods. We attempt to limit our exposure 
through release limits, indemnification by the air, ocean, and ground carriers that transport freight, and insurance. Moreover, because a freight forwarder 
relationship to an airline or ocean carrier is that of a shipper to a carrier, the airline or ocean carrier generally assumes the same responsibility to us as we 
assume to our customers. When we act in the capacity of an authorized agent for an air or ocean carrier, the carrier, rather than us, assumes liability for 
the safe delivery of the customer’s cargo to its ultimate destination, unless due to our own errors and omissions. However, these efforts may prove 
unsuccessful, and we may be liable for loss and damage to the goods. 

In addition to legal liability, from time to time customers exert economic pressure when the underlying carrier fails to cover the costs of loss or damage. 
We have, from time to time, made payments to our customers for claims related to our services and may make such payments in the future. Should we 
experience an increase in the number or size of such claims or an increase in liability pursuant to claims or unfavorable resolutions of claims, our results 
could be adversely affected.

There can be no assurance that our insurance coverage will provide us with adequate coverage for such claims or that the maximum amounts for which 
we are liable in connection with our services will not change in the future or exceed our insurance levels. As with every insurance policy, there are limits, 
exclusions and deductibles that apply, and we could be subject to claims for which insurance coverage may be inadequate or even disputed and such 
claims could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, continued increases in the cost of insurance costs impact our 
profitability.

We may be subject to claims arising from transportation of freight by the carriers with which we contract.

We use the services of thousands of transportation companies in connection with our transportation operations. From time to time, the drivers employed 
and engaged by the carriers we contract with are involved in accidents, which may result in death or serious personal injuries. The resulting types and/or 
amounts of damages may be excluded from or exceed the amount of insurance coverage maintained by the contracted carrier. Although these drivers 
are not our employees and all of these drivers are employees, owner-operators, or independent contractors working for carriers, from time to time, claims 
may be asserted against us for their actions, or for our actions in retaining them. Claims against us may exceed the amount of our insurance coverage or 
may not be covered by insurance at all. A material increase in the frequency or severity of accidents, liability claims or workers’ compensation claims, or 
unfavorable resolutions of claims could materially and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, significant increases in insurance costs or the 
inability to purchase insurance as a result of these claims could reduce our profitability. Our involvement in the transportation of certain goods, including 
but not limited to hazardous materials, could also increase our exposure in the event one of our contracted carriers is involved in an accident resulting in 
injuries or contamination.

We are subject to various claims and lawsuits that could result in significant expenditures.

Our business exposes us to claims and litigation related to damage to cargo, labor and employment practices (including wage-and-hour, employment 
classification of independent contractor drivers, sales representatives, brokerage agents and other individuals, and other federal and state claims), 
personal injury, property damage, business practices, environmental liability and other matters. We carry insurance to cover most exposures, subject to 
specific coverage exceptions, aggregate limits, and self-insured retentions that we negotiate from time to time. However, not all claims are covered, and 
there can be no assurance that our coverage limits will be adequate to cover all amounts in dispute. To the extent we experience claims that are 
uninsured, exceed our coverage limits, or involve significant aggregate use of our self-insured retention amounts, the expenses could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, particularly in the quarter in which the amounts are accrued. In 
addition, in the future, we may be subject to higher insurance premiums or increase our self-insured retention amounts, which could increase our overall 
costs or the volatility of claims expense.
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Our failure to comply with, or the costs of complying with, government regulation could negatively affect our results of operation.

Our business is subject to evolving, complex and increasing regulation by national and international sources. Regulatory changes could affect the 
economics of our industry by requiring changes in operating practices or influencing the demand for, and the costs of providing, services to customers. 
Future regulation and our failure to comply with any applicable regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we are unable to maintain our brand images and corporate reputation, our business may suffer.

Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain the image of the Radiant, Airgroup, Adcom, DBA, Service by Air, and Navegate brands and our 
reputation for providing excellent service to our customers. Service quality issues, actual or perceived, even when false or unfounded, could tarnish the 
image of our brand and may cause customers to use other freight-forwarding companies. Adverse publicity (whether or not justified) relating to activities 
by our employees, contractors, suppliers, agents or others with whom we do business could tarnish our reputation and reduce the value of our brand. 
Damage to our reputation and loss of brand equity could reduce demand for our services and thus have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
position and results of operations, and could require additional resources to rebuild our reputation and restore the value of our brands.

Issues related to the intellectual property rights on which our business depends, whether related to our failure to enforce our own rights or 
infringement claims brought by others, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We use both internally developed and purchased technology in conducting our business. Whether internally developed or purchased, it is possible that 
the user of these technologies could be claimed to infringe upon or violate the intellectual property rights of third-parties. In the event that a claim is made 
against us by a third-party for the infringement of intellectual property rights, any settlement or adverse judgment against us either in the form of 
increased costs of licensing or a cease and desist order in using the technology could have an adverse effect on us and our results of operations.

We also rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including copyrights, trademarks, domain names, trade secrets, intellectual property licenses 
and other contractual rights, to establish and protect our intellectual property and technology. Any of our owned or licensed intellectual property rights 
could be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed or misappropriated; our trade secrets and other confidential information could be disclosed in an 
unauthorized manner to third-parties or we may fail to secure the rights to intellectual property developed by our employees, contractors and others. 
Given our international operations, we seek to register our trademarks and other intellectual property domestically and internationally. The laws of certain 
foreign countries may not protect trademarks to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. Efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may 
be time consuming and costly, distract management’s attention and resources and ultimately be unsuccessful. Moreover, our failure to develop and 
properly manage new intellectual property could adversely affect our market positions and business opportunities.

Our failure to obtain, maintain and enforce our intellectual property rights could therefore have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We may not successfully manage our growth.

We intend to grow rapidly and substantially, including by expanding our internal resources, by making acquisitions and entering into new markets. We 
may experience difficulties and higher-than-expected expenses in executing this strategy as a result of unfamiliarity with new markets and change in 
revenue and business models.

Our growth will place a significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources. We will need to continually improve existing 
procedures and controls as well as implement new transaction processing, operational and financial systems, and procedures and controls to expand, 
train and manage our employee base. Our working capital needs will increase substantially as our operations grow. Failure to manage growth effectively, 
or obtain necessary working capital, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, stock price and financial 
condition.

Our credit facility contains financial covenants that may limit current availability and impose ongoing operational limitations and risk of 
compliance.

We currently maintain (i) a USD$200 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) with Bank of America, N.A. and BMO Capital Markets 
Corp. as joint book runners and joint lead arrangers, Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and Letter of Credit Issuer, Bank of 
Montreal as syndication agent, KeyBank National Association and MUFG Union Bank, N.A. as co-documentation agents and Bank of America, N.A., 
Bank of Montreal, KeyBank National Association, MUFG Union Bank, N.A. and Washington Federal Bank, National Association as lenders (such named 
lenders are collectively referred to herein as 
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“Lenders”), pursuant to a Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2022. Repayment of the foregoing credit facility is secured by our assets and the assets 
of our subsidiaries, including, without limitation, all of the capital stock of our subsidiaries.

The Revolving Credit Facility includes a $75 million accordion feature to support future acquisition opportunities. For general borrowings under the 
Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is subject to the maximum consolidated leverage ratio of 3.00 and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio 
of 3.00. Additional minimum availability requirements and financial covenants apply in the event the Company seeks to use advances under the 
Revolving Credit Facility to pursue acquisitions or repurchase its common stock.

Our compliance with the financial covenants of our credit facility is particularly important given the materiality of such facility to our day-to-day operations 
and overall acquisition strategy. If we fail to comply with these covenants and are unable to secure a waiver or other relief, our financial condition would 
be materially weakened and our ability to fund day-to-day operations would be materially and adversely affected. Accordingly, we employ EBITDA and 
adjusted EBITDA as management tools to measure our historical financial performance and as a benchmark for future financial flexibility.

We may operate with a significant amount of indebtedness, which is secured by substantially all of our assets and subject to variable interest 
rates and restrictive covenants.

Although we presently have no indebtedness outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility, or otherwise, we may in the future incur substantial 
indebtedness, if needed to support our operations, to support our growth strategy, or for whatever other purpose is deemed necessary or appropriate at 
the time. If incurred, substantial indebtedness could have adverse consequences, such as:

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness with our lenders, which could 
reduce the availability of our cash flow to fund future operating capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

• expose us to the risk of increased interest rates, as a substantial portion of our borrowings are at variable rates of interest;

• require us to sell assets to reduce indebtedness or influence our decisions about whether to do so;

• increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;

• restrict us from making strategic acquisitions, buying assets or pursuing business opportunities; and

• limit, along with the financial and other restrictive covenants in our indebtedness, among other things, our ability to borrow additional funds.

In addition, violating covenants in these agreements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
Consequences if the violations are not cured or waived could include substantially increasing our cost of borrowing, restricting our future operations, 
termination of our lenders’ commitments to supply us with further funds, cross defaults to other obligations, or acceleration of our obligations. If some or 
all of our obligations are accelerated, we may not be able to fully repay them.

Dependence on key personnel.

For the foreseeable future, our success will depend largely on the continued services of our Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Bohn H. 
Crain, as well as certain of our other key executives and executives of our acquired businesses because of their collective industry knowledge, marketing 
skills and relationships with vendors, customers and strategic operating partners. Our ability to appropriately staff and retain employees is important to 
our variable cost model. Should any of these individuals leave us, we could have difficulty replacing them with qualified individuals and it could have a 
material adverse effect on our future results of operations.

Our results of operations could vary as a result of the methods, estimates, and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies.

The methods, estimates, and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on our results of operations (see 
“Critical Accounting Estimates” in Part II, Item 7 of this report). Such methods, estimates, and judgments are, by their nature, subject to substantial risks, 
uncertainties, and assumptions, and factors may arise over time that lead us to change our methods, estimates, and judgments. Changes in those 
methods, estimates, and judgments could significantly affect our results of operations.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, anti-terrorism measures or war may affect our operations and our profitability.

As a result of the potential for terrorist attacks, federal, state and municipal authorities have implemented and continue to follow various security 
measures, including, among others, checkpoints and travel restrictions on large trucks. Such measures may reduce the productivity of our independent 
contractors and transportation providers or increase the costs associated with their operations, which we could be forced to bear. For example, security 
measures imposed at bridges, tunnels, border crossings and other points on key trucking routes may cause delays and increase the non-driving time of 
our independent contractors and transportation providers, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. We also have higher costs 
due to mandated security screening of air cargo traveling on passenger airlines and ocean freight. War, risk of war, or a terrorist attack also may have an 
adverse effect on the economy. A decline 
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in economic activity could adversely affect our revenues or restrict our future growth. Instability in the financial markets as a result of terrorism or war also 
could impact our ability to raise capital. In addition, the insurance premiums charged for some or all of the coverage currently maintained by us could 
increase dramatically or such coverage could be unavailable in the future.

We intend to continue growing our international operations and will become increasingly subject to variations in the international trade 
market.

We provide services to customers engaged in international commerce and intend to grow our international business in the coming years. For the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, international services accounted for 40% and 41% of our adjusted gross profit, respectively. International services 
is defined as any shipment with an initiation or destination point outside of the United States. All factors that affect international trade have the potential to 
expand or contract our international business and impact our operating results. For example, international trade is influenced by, among other things:

• currency exchange rates and currency control regulations; 

• interest rate fluctuations;

• changes in governmental policies, such as taxation, quota restrictions, tariffs, other forms of trade barriers and/or restrictions and trade accords;

• changes in and application of international and domestic customs, trade and security regulations;

• wars, strikes, civil unrest, acts of terrorism, and other conflicts, such as the conflict that has led to the imposition of economic sanctions by the 
United States and the European Union against Russia;

• natural disasters and pandemics;

• changes in consumer attitudes regarding goods made in countries other than their own;

• changes in availability of credit;

• economic conditions in other countries and regions;

• changes in supply chain design including those resulting from near shoring, widening and deepening of canals, and port congestion or 
disruption;

• changes in the price and readily available quantities of oil and other petroleum-related products; and

• increased global concerns regarding environmental sustainability.

If any of the foregoing factors have a negative effect on the international trade market, we could suffer a decrease in our international business, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

In connection with our international business, we are subject to certain foreign regulatory requirements, and any failure to comply with these 
requirements could be detrimental to our business.

We provide services in parts of the world where common business practices could constitute violations of the anti-corruption laws, rules, regulations and 
decrees of the United States, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and of all other countries in which we conduct 
business; as well as trade control laws, or laws, regulations and Executive Orders imposing embargoes and sanctions; and anti-boycott laws and 
regulations. Compliance with these laws, rules, regulations and decrees is dependent on our employees, subcontractors, consultants, agents, third-party 
brokers and customers, whose individual actions could violate these laws, rules, regulations and decrees. Failure to comply could result in substantial 
penalties, damages to our reputation and restrictions on our ability to conduct business. In addition, any investigation or litigation related to such violations 
may require significant management time and could cause us to incur extensive legal and related costs, all of which may have a material adverse effect 
on our results of operations and operating cash flows.

International operations expose us to currency exchange risk, and we cannot predict the effect of future exchange rate fluctuations on our 
business and operating results.

We generate a significant portion of revenues from our international operations, including a substantial amount in Canada. For the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, international services accounted for 40% and 41% of our adjusted gross profit, respectively. Our international operations are 
sensitive to currency exchange risks. We have currency exposure arising from both sales and purchases denominated in foreign currencies, as well as 
intercompany transactions. Significant changes in exchange rates between foreign currencies in which we transact business and the U.S. dollar may 
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. 
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Historically, we have not entered into any hedging activities, and, to the extent that we continue not to do so in the future, we may be vulnerable to the 
effects of currency exchange rate fluctuations. 

In addition, our international operations also expose us to currency fluctuations as we translate the financial statements of our foreign operations to the 
U.S. dollar. There can be no guarantee that the effect of currency fluctuations will not be material in the future.

We identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to recording and processing of revenue transactions. 
Ineffective internal controls could impact our business and operating results as well as our public reporting and stock price.

We have grown rapidly and face additional challenges of disparate systems and geographically dispersed management. Our internal controls over 
financial reporting and disclosure may be strained at times due to acquisitions, cyber incidents, and other corporate development activities.

Our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human 
error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable and accurate financial 
statements and to effectively prevent fraud. As further described in Part II Item 9A “Controls and Procedures” of this Annual Report, management has 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of June 30, 2024 because of a material weakness in internal control over 
financial reporting related to our controls with respect to the recording and processing of revenue as currently designed lack the level of precision 
necessary to ensure the completeness and accuracy of revenue. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis. We are currently working on the remediation of the material weakness. For a more detailed description of the material 
weakness and our remediation plan, please see Part II Item 9A “Controls and Procedures” of this Annual Report.

We cannot be certain that the measures we have taken to date, and are continuing to implement, will be sufficient to remediate the material weakness or 
that we will be able to prevent future significant deficiencies or material weakness. Any remediation efforts additionally may require us to incur 
unanticipated costs for various professional fees and services. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, including any failure to 
implement required new or improved controls, or if we experience difficulties in their implementation, our business and operating results could be harmed, 
and we could fail to meet our financial reporting obligations. Material inaccuracies in our financial statements would decrease the reliability of our financial 
reporting, which could cause investors to lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and adversely affect our business 
and reduce our stock price.

The motor carriers we contract with are subject to increasingly restrictive laws protecting the environment, including those relating to climate 
change, which could directly or indirectly have a material adverse effect on our business.

Future and existing environmental regulatory requirements could adversely affect operations and increase operating expenses, which in turn could 
increase our purchased transportation costs. We are generally not exposed to rising emissions costs through carbon taxes, however, if we were unable to 
pass such costs along to our customers, our business could be materially and adversely affected. Even without any new legislation or regulation, 
increased public concern regarding GHG emitted by transportation carriers could harm the reputations of companies operating in the transportation 
logistics industries and shift consumer demand toward more locally sourced products and away from our services.

We may be adversely affected by the physical effects of climate change as well as legal, regulatory, or market responses to climate change 
concerns.

Risks associated with climate change are subject to increasing regulatory and market focus. Physical risks from climate change may lead to an increase 
in the frequency, severity, or duration of certain adverse weather conditions and natural disasters such as hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, wildfires, 
droughts, extreme temperatures, or flooding, each of which could cause more significant business interruptions, increased costs, increased liabilities, and 
decreased revenue than what we have experienced in the past from such events. In addition, increased public and political concern over climate change 
could result in new legal or regulatory requirements designed to mitigate the effects of climate change and GHG emissions such as carbon dioxide, a by-
product of burning fossil fuels, which could include the adoption of more stringent environmental laws and regulations, or stricter enforcement of existing 
laws and regulations. There is also a focus from regulators and our customers on sustainability issues. Effective January 1, 2026, the State of California 
passed two new laws requiring annual reporting of GHG emissions and biennial climate risk assessments. Additionally, although temporarily stayed by 
court action, the SEC finalized climate disclosure rules which would be effective for fiscal year 2028. Both rules are the first U.S. climate disclosure 
mandates providing investors and the public decision-useful information on the companies they use and invest in.
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Emerging customer requirements may include more fuel-efficient transportation and renewable energy use, autonomous transportation modes, or 
increased transparency to carbon emissions in their supply chains. Costs associated with future climate change concerns, environmental laws and 
regulations, and sustainability requirements could have a material adverse effect on our operations and operating results. As a non-asset-based freight 
forwarder, we do not face rising investment costs and risks that asset-based carriers will bear to decarbonize their vehicles, aircraft and vessels. 

Risks Related to our Acquisition Strategy

There is a scarcity of and competition for acquisition opportunities.

There are a limited number of operating companies available for acquisition that we deem to be desirable targets. In addition, there is a very high level of 
competition among companies seeking to acquire these operating companies. We are and will continue to be a very minor participant in the business of 
seeking acquisitions of these types of companies. A large number of established and well-financed entities are active in acquiring interests in companies 
that we may find to be desirable acquisition candidates. Many of these entities have significantly greater financial resources, technical expertise, and 
managerial capabilities than us. Consequently, we will be at a competitive disadvantage in negotiating and executing possible acquisitions of these 
businesses. Even if we are able to successfully compete with these entities, this competition may affect the terms of completed transactions and, as a 
result, we may pay more or receive less favorable terms than we expected for potential acquisitions. We may not be able to identify operating companies 
that complement our strategy, and even if we identify a company that complements our strategy, we may be unable to complete an acquisition of such a 
company for many reasons, including:

• failure to agree on the terms necessary for a transaction, such as the purchase price; 

• incompatibility between our operational strategies or management philosophies with those of the potential acquiree;

• competition from other acquirers of operating companies; 

• lack of sufficient capital to acquire a profitable logistics company;

• unwillingness of a potential acquiree to agree to subordinate any future payment of earn-outs or promissory notes to the payments due to our 
lenders; and

• unwillingness of a potential acquiree to work with our management.

Risks related to acquisition financing.

Based upon our existing cash resources and availability under our Revolving Credit Facility, we have a finite amount of financial resources available to 
us, and our ability to make additional acquisitions without securing additional financing from outside sources is limited. In order to continue to pursue our 
acquisition strategy, we may be required to obtain additional financing. We may obtain such financing through a combination of traditional debt financing 
or the placement of debt and equity securities. We may finance some portion of our future acquisitions by either issuing equity or by using shares of our 
common stock for all or a portion of the purchase price for such businesses. In the event that our common stock does not attain or maintain a sufficient 
market value, or potential acquisition candidates are otherwise unwilling to accept our common stock as part of the purchase price for the sale of their 
businesses, we may be required to use more of our cash resources, if available, in order to maintain our acquisition program. If we do not have sufficient 
cash resources, we will not be able to complete acquisitions and our growth could be limited unless we are able to obtain additional capital through debt 
or equity financing. The terms of our credit facility may require that we obtain the consent of our lenders prior to securing additional debt financing. There 
could be circumstances in which our ability to obtain additional debt financing could be constrained if we are unable to secure such consent.

Our credit facility places certain limits on the acquisitions we may make.

Under the terms of our credit facility, we may be required to obtain the consent of each of our lenders prior to making any additional acquisitions. 
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We are permitted to make additional acquisitions without the consent of the lenders only if certain conditions are satisfied. These conditions include the 
following: (i) no default shall have occurred or would result from such acquisition, (ii) the property acquired is used or useful in the same or a similar line 
of business, (iii) in the case of an acquisition of the equity interests, the board of directors of the target business shall have duly approved such 
Acquisition, (iv) we shall be in compliance with the financial covenants after giving effect to such acquisition and the consolidated leverage ratio shall be 
less than 3.25 to 1.00 for acquisitions valued above $25 million and 2.75 to 1.00 for any other acquisitions, (v) the representations and warranties made 
by us in each loan document shall be true and correct, (vi) if such transaction involves the purchase of an interest in a partnership between us as a 
general partner and entities unaffiliated with the borrower as the other partners, such transaction shall be effected by having such equity interest acquired 
by a corporate holding company directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Company newly formed for the sole purpose of effecting such transaction, and 
(vii) immediately after giving effect to such acquisition, there shall be at least $25 million of availability under the Revolving Credit Facility.

In the event we are not able to satisfy the conditions of our credit facility in connection with a proposed acquisition, we must either forego the acquisition, 
obtain the consent of the lenders, or retire the credit facility. This may prevent us from completing acquisitions that we determine are desirable from a 
business perspective and limit or slow our ability to achieve the critical mass we need to achieve our strategic objectives.

To the extent we make any material acquisitions, our earnings will be adversely affected by non-cash charges relating to the amortization of 
intangible assets, which may cause our stock price to decline.

Under applicable accounting standards, purchasers are required to allocate the total consideration paid in a business combination to the identified 
acquired assets and liabilities based on their fair values at the time of acquisition. The excess of the consideration paid to acquire a business over the fair 
value of the identifiable tangible assets acquired must be allocated among identifiable intangible assets including goodwill. The amount allocated to 
goodwill is not subject to amortization. However, it is tested at least annually for impairment. The amount allocated to identifiable intangible assets, such 
as customer relationships and the like, is amortized over the life of these intangible assets. We expect that this will subject us to periodic charges against 
our earnings to the extent of the amortization incurred for that period. Because our business strategy focuses, in part, on growth through acquisitions, our 
future earnings will be subject to greater non-cash amortization charges than a company whose earnings are derived solely from organic growth. As a 
result, we will experience an increase in non-cash charges related to the amortization of intangible assets acquired in our acquisitions. Our financial 
statements will show that our intangible assets are diminishing in value, even if the acquired businesses are increasing (or not diminishing) in value. 
Because of this discrepancy, we believe our EBITDA, a measure of financial performance that does not conform to GAAP, provides a meaningful 
measure of our financial performance. However, the investment community generally measures a public company’s performance by its net income. 
Further, the financial covenants of our credit facility adjust EBITDA to exclude costs related to share-based compensation and other non-cash charges. 
Thus, we believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA provide a meaningful measure of our financial performance. If the investment community elects to 
place more emphasis on net income, the future price of our common stock could be adversely affected.

We are not obligated to follow any particular criteria or standards for identifying acquisition candidates.

Other than as required under the credit facility, we are not obligated to follow any particular operating, financial, geographic or other criteria in evaluating 
candidates for potential acquisitions or business combinations. We will determine the purchase price and other terms and conditions of acquisitions. Our 
stockholders will not have the opportunity to evaluate the relevant economic, financial and other information that our management team will use and 
consider in deciding whether or not to enter into a particular transaction.

We may be required to incur a significant amount of indebtedness in order to successfully implement our acquisition strategy.

Subject to the restrictions contained under our current credit facility, we may be required to incur a significant amount of indebtedness in order to 
complete future acquisitions. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flow from the operations of acquired businesses to make scheduled payments 
of principal and interest on the indebtedness, then we will be required to use our capital for such payments. This will restrict our ability to make additional 
acquisitions. We may also be forced to sell an acquired business in order to satisfy indebtedness. We cannot be certain that we will be able to operate 
profitably once we incur this indebtedness or that we will be able to generate a sufficient amount of proceeds from the ultimate disposition of such 
acquired businesses to repay the indebtedness incurred to make these acquisitions.

We may experience difficulties in integrating the operations, personnel and assets of acquired businesses that may disrupt our business, 
dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our operating results.

A core component of our business plan is to acquire businesses and assets in the transportation and logistics industry. There can be no assurance that 
we will be able to identify, acquire or profitably manage businesses or successfully integrate acquired businesses into the Company without substantial 
costs, delays or other operational or financial problems. Such acquisitions also involve numerous operational risks, including:

• difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, services and personnel; 

• the diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;



 

21

Table of Contents

• the risk of entering new markets;

• the potential loss of existing or acquired strategic operating partners following an acquisition;

• the potential loss of key employees following an acquisition and the associated risk of competitive efforts from such departed personnel;

• possible legal disputes with the acquired company following an acquisition; and

• the inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition or investment costs.

As a result, if we fail to properly evaluate and execute any acquisitions or investments, our business and prospects may be seriously harmed.

In certain acquisitions, we may recognize non-cash gains or losses on changes in fair value of contingent consideration. We include contingent 
consideration based on future financial performance as a portion of the purchase price of certain acquisitions. To the extent that an acquired operation 
underperforms relative to anticipated earnings levels, we are able to set-off certain levels of the future unpaid purchase price for such acquired 
operations. This will result in the recognition of a non-cash gain on the change in fair value of contingent consideration. In the alternative, to the extent an 
acquired operation outperforms anticipated earnings levels, we will recognize a non-cash expense on the change in fair value of contingent 
consideration. These non-cash gains and expenses may have a material impact on our financial results, and the impact could be opposite to the 
underlying results of the acquired operation.

Not every acquisition is structured utilizing contingent consideration. If an acquisition is structured without contingent consideration, we would be unable 
to reduce the purchase price if it underperforms relative to anticipated earnings levels.

Claims against us or other liabilities we incur relating to any acquisition or business combination may necessitate our seeking claims against 
the seller for which the seller may not indemnify us or that may exceed the seller’s indemnification obligations.

There may be liabilities we assume in any acquisition or business combination that we did not discover or underestimated in the course of performing our 
due diligence investigation. A seller will normally have indemnification obligations to us under an acquisition or merger agreement, but these obligations 
will be subject to financial limitations, such as general deductibles and a cap, as well as time limitations. There can be no assurance that our right to 
indemnification from any seller will be enforceable, collectible or sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully offset the amount of any undiscovered or 
underestimated liabilities. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations 
or financial condition. 

We may face competition from parties who sell us their businesses and from professionals who cease working for us.

In connection with our acquisitions, we generally obtain non-solicitation agreements from the professionals we hire, as well as non-competition 
agreements from senior managers and professionals. The agreements prohibit such individuals from competing with us during the term of their 
employment and for a fixed period afterwards and seeking to solicit our employees or clients. In some cases, but not all, we may obtain non-competition 
or non-solicitation agreements from parties who sell us their business or assets. Certain activities may be carved out of or otherwise may not be 
prohibited by these arrangements. We cannot assure that one or more of the parties from whom we acquire assets or a business or who do not join us or 
leave our employment will not compete with us or solicit our employees or clients in the future. Even if ultimately resolved in our favor, any litigation 
associated with the non-competition or non-solicitation agreements could be time consuming, costly and distract management’s focus from locating 
suitable acquisition candidates and operating our business. Moreover, non-competition agreements are difficult to enforce in many jurisdictions and states 
and foreign jurisdictions may interpret restrictions on competition narrowly and in favor of employees.

Therefore, certain restrictions on competition or solicitation may be unenforceable. In addition, we may not pursue legal remedies if we determine that 
preserving cooperation and a professional relationship with the former employee or his clients, or other concerns, outweigh the benefits of any possible 
legal recourse or the likelihood of success does not justify the costs of pursuing a legal remedy. Such persons, because they have worked for us or a 
business that we acquire, may be able to compete more effectively with us, or be more successful in soliciting our employees and clients, than unaffiliated 
third-parties.

Risks Related to our Common Stock

The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, and this may make it difficult for you to resell our common stock at times 
or at prices you find attractive.

The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside our control. The current 
market price of our common stock may not be indicative of future market prices. Fluctuations may occur in response to the other risk factors listed in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K and for many other reasons, including:

• actual or anticipated variations in earnings, financial or operating performance or liquidity, including those resulting from the seasonality of our 
business;

• our financial performance or the performance of our competitors and similar companies;
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• the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

• changes in estimates of our performance or recommendations by securities analysts;

• failure to meet securities analysts’ quarterly and annual projections;

• the impact of new federal or state regulations;

• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

• the introduction of new services by us or our competitors;

• the arrival or departure of key personnel;

• acquisitions, strategic alliances or joint ventures involving us or our competitors;

• technological innovations or other trends in our industry;

• news affecting our customers;

• operating and stock performance of other companies deemed to be peers;

• regulatory or labor conditions applicable to us, our industry or the industries we serve;

• market conditions in our industry, the industries we serve, the financial markets and the economy as a whole;

• changes in our capital structure;

• our ability to remain current in our SEC filings;

• our ability to remediate our material weakness in internal controls over financial reporting; and

• sales of our common stock by us or members of our management team.

In addition, the stock market historically has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations are often unrelated to the operating 
performance of a particular company. These broad market fluctuations may cause declines in the market price of our common stock. 

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may make it difficult for you to resell shares of our common stock when you want or at attractive prices. 
In addition, when the market price of a company’s common stock drops significantly, stockholders often institute securities class action lawsuits against 
the Company. A lawsuit against us could cause us to incur substantial costs, including settlement costs or awards for legal damages, and could divert the 
time and attention of our management and other resources.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law may make a contested takeover more difficult.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (“DGCL”) could deter a change in 
our management or render more difficult an attempt to obtain control of us, even if such a proposal is favored by a majority of our stockholders. For 
example, we are subject to the provisions of the DGCL that prohibit a public Delaware corporation from engaging in a broad range of business 
combinations with a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns 15% or more of such corporation’s outstanding voting shares (an 
“interested stockholder”) for three years after the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed 
manner. Our certificate of incorporation provides that directors may only be removed for cause by the affirmative vote of 75% of our outstanding shares 
and that amendments to our bylaws require the affirmative vote of holders of two-thirds of our outstanding shares. Our certificate of incorporation also 
includes undesignated preferred stock, which may enable our board of directors to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a tender 
offer, proxy contest, merger or otherwise. Finally, our bylaws include an advance notice procedure for stockholders to nominate directors or submit 
proposals at a stockholders meeting.

Our Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer controls a large portion of our common stock and has substantial control over us, which 
could limit other stockholders’ ability to influence the outcome of key transactions, including changes of control.

Under applicable SEC rules, our Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Bohn H. Crain, beneficially owns approximately 20% of our outstanding 
common stock as of June 30, 2024. Accordingly, Mr. Crain can exert substantial influence over our management and affairs and matters requiring 
stockholder approval, including the election of directors and the approval of significant corporate transactions, such as mergers, consolidations or the sale 
of substantially all of our assets. Consequently, this concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, 
including a merger, consolidation, or other business combination involving us, or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or 
otherwise attempting to obtain control, even if that change of control would benefit our other stockholders. Further, this concentration of share ownership 
may adversely affect the trading price for our common stock because investors may perceive disadvantages in owning stock in companies with 
concentrated stockholders. 
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Trading in our common stock has been limited.

Although our common stock is traded on the NYSE American, it is traded not as frequently as compared to the volume of trading activity associated with 
larger companies whose shares trade on the larger national exchanges. Because of this limited liquidity, stockholders may be unable to sell their shares 
at the prices or volumes they desire. The trading price of our shares may from time to time fluctuate widely. The trading price may be affected by a 
number of factors including events described in the risk factors set forth in this report as well as our operating results, financial condition, 
announcements, general conditions in the industry and the financial markets, and other events or factors. In recent years, broad stock market indices, in 
general, and smaller capitalization companies, in particular, have experienced substantial price fluctuations. In a volatile market, we may experience wide 
fluctuations in the market price of our common stock. These fluctuations may have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.

The influx of additional shares of our common stock onto the market may create downward pressure on the trading price of our common 
stock.

We have completed many acquisitions that often include the issuance of additional shares pursuant to the purchase agreements. In addition, we may 
issue additional shares in connection with such acquisitions upon the achievement of certain earn-out thresholds or in connection with future acquisitions 
as part of the purchase consideration. The availability of additional shares for sale to the public under Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “Securities Act”) and sale of such shares in public markets could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. Such an adverse 
effect on the market price would make it more difficult for us to sell our equity securities in the future at prices we deem appropriate or to use our shares 
as currency for future acquisitions, which will make it more difficult to execute our acquisition strategy. 

The issuance of additional shares may result in additional dilution to our existing stockholders.

At any time, we may make private offerings of our securities. We have issued, and may be required to issue, additional shares of common stock or 
common stock equivalents in payment of the purchase price of businesses we have acquired. This will have the effect of further increasing the number of 
shares outstanding. In connection with future acquisitions, we may undertake the issuance of more shares of common stock without notice to our then 
existing stockholders. We may also issue additional shares in order to, among other things, compensate employees or consultants or for other valid 
business reasons in the discretion of our board of directors, which could result in diluting the interests of our existing stockholders.

The exercise or conversion of our outstanding options, or other convertible securities or any derivative securities we issue in the future will result in the 
dilution of the ownership interests of our existing stockholders and may create downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock. We are 
currently authorized to issue 100 million shares of common stock. As of September 3, 2024, we had 46,699,484 outstanding shares of common stock. As 
of September 3, 2024, we may in the future issue up to 2,232,786 additional shares of our common stock upon exercise of outstanding stock options and 
vesting of restricted stock units.

We may issue shares of preferred stock with greater rights than our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms for those 
shares without the approval of our stockholders. Any such preferred stock we may issue in the future could rank ahead of our common stock in many 
ways, including in terms of dividends, liquidation rights, and voting rights.

As we do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock, investors in our shares of common stock will not receive any dividend 
income.

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in 
the foreseeable future. Any dividends that we may pay in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors, and will depend on our future 
earnings, any applicable regulatory considerations, our financial requirements and other similarly unpredictable factors. Our ability to pay dividends on our 
common stock is further limited by the terms of our credit facility. Accordingly, investors seeking dividend income should not purchase our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research about our business, or publish negative reports about our business, our stock price 
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock, to some extent, depends on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about our 
business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our shares or lower their opinion of our 
shares, our share price may decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our business or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could 
lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

On June 4, 2024, we received a comment letter from the staff of the SEC’s Division of Corporation Finance with respect to our Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on March 20, 2024, to advise them as to why we determined to file under Item 1.05 of Form 8-K given the Company’s statement in the Form 8-K 
that, as of the date of the filing, the incident did not have a material impact on the Company’s overall operations and the Company had not yet 
determined the incident is reasonably likely to materially impact the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. We filed a response to the 
SEC’s comment letter on June 18, 2024, in which we indicated that the Form 8-K was filed out of an abundance of caution based on, among others, the 
fluidity of a materiality determination while investigation of the cybersecurity incident was ongoing, and review of similar disclosures from other issuers 
under Item 1.05 of Form 8-K. We are awaiting the SEC's response to our response letter.

As of the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not received confirmation from the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance of 
the SEC that its review process relating to the comment letter has been completed. If we receive additional comments from the staff, we intend to resolve 
such additional comments promptly.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY 

Background

Cybersecurity, data privacy, and data protection are critical to our business. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store certain 
confidential information such as information about our employees, contractors, vendors, suppliers, partners and customers. We understand the 
increasing reliance of our customers, suppliers, and partners on our digital platforms. Our goal is to strengthen our digital infrastructure, ensuring the 
highest levels of customer service while effectively managing risks and adhering to global compliance standards. We have processes in place for 
assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats, and we continually monitor our overall security to assess performance and 
identify areas for improvement.

Risk Management and Strategy

Our processes for assessing, identifying, and managing cybersecurity threats have been integrated into our overall risk management processes. Our 
cybersecurity and risk management program is structured around strategy, execution, management, oversight, and user training, with ongoing 
evaluations to ensure its effectiveness.

Identifying and assessing cybersecurity risks and threats are integral components of our broader enterprise risk management strategy. Our information 
technology leadership, with input from senior management, is responsible for defining our cybersecurity strategy, setting priorities, and driving the 
execution of our cybersecurity initiatives. We maintain a cybersecurity program that is designed to identify, protect from, detect, respond to, and recover 
from cybersecurity threats and risks, and protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our information systems, including the information residing 
on our systems. We utilize the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework (“NIST CSF”) to guide our efforts, aligning with 
industry standards.

We take a risk-based approach to cybersecurity, which begins with the identification and evaluation of cybersecurity risks or threats that could affect our 
operations, finances, legal or regulatory compliance, or reputation. The scope of our evaluation encompasses risks that may be associated with both our 
internally managed IT systems and key business functions and sensitive data operated or managed by third-party service providers. Risk mitigation 
strategies are developed and implemented based on the specific nature of each cybersecurity risk. Our cybersecurity and risk management program is 
developed based on:

• Continuous Development: Ongoing refinement of our risk management processes.

• Partners and Tools: Leveraging global access control and activity monitoring solutions.

• Education and Training: Implementing company-wide policies and proactive user training.

• Continuous Monitoring: Regular surveillance of our environment.

• Access Management: Ensuring only authorized users have access to our network.

24x7 Endpoint Monitoring by NOSC

As part of our commitment to safeguarding our network, we operate a Network Operations and Security Center (“NOSC”) that provides 24x7 monitoring 
of all endpoints across our network. This continuous surveillance allows us to detect and respond to potential threats in real time, helping our systems 
remain secure and operational. The NOSC is a critical component of our cybersecurity infrastructure, enabling proactive risk management and the 
ongoing protection of our digital assets.
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Use of Consultants and Advisors

In addition to our in-house capabilities, we engage various third-party cybersecurity service providers to assess and enhance our cybersecurity practices 
and assist with protection and monitoring of our systems and information. We partner with a third-party provider specializing in endpoint security and 
monitoring. This partnership enhances our overall security posture by providing advanced incident response capabilities. This collaboration ensures that 
any potential threats are quickly identified and managed, adding an extra layer of security to our existing infrastructure.

The execution and measurement of our cybersecurity program are managed by our Information Technology department. This program is integrated into 
our broader governance and internal controls framework. We regularly engage with third-party consultants, auditors, and specialists to enhance our 
program, employing advanced cybersecurity technologies and services to prevent, detect, respond to, and recover from cyber threats and incidents. 
Additionally, our third-party security partner actively monitors and mitigates risks from external sources as part of our overall cybersecurity strategy.

We have processes to evaluate third-party service providers and vendors that have access to sensitive systems and customer data, which may include 
due diligence procedures such as assessments of that service provider’s cybersecurity posture or a recommendation of specific mitigation controls. 
Following an assessment, we determine and prioritize service provider risk based on potential threat impact and likelihood, and such risk determinations 
drive the level of due diligence and ongoing compliance monitoring required for each service provider.

Role of Management

Management has implemented risk management structures, policies and procedures, and is responsible for the day-to-day cybersecurity risk 
management. Our Information Technology department that is led by our Chief Technology Officer is responsible for the day-to-day assessment and 
management of cybersecurity risks. Our Chief Technology Officer has led our IT department since 2013 and has over thirty years of experience 
developing and implementing technology and supply chain services. We have implemented a number of processes which allow the management team to 
be informed about and monitor the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. These processes include, among other 
things, system alerts of potential malicious cyber activity, access to real-time dashboards that monitor and assess our systems, status reports provided on 
a daily, weekly and monthly basis, and regular ongoing communications with service providers regarding potential new attack vectors and vulnerabilities. 
Our Chief Technology Officer and his team shares such information with our management team and reports information about such risks to our Audit and 
Executive Oversight Committee (“AEOC”).

Board Oversight

The Board of Directors, both directly and through the delegation of responsibilities to the AEOC has risk management oversight, which includes the 
proper functioning of our cybersecurity risk management program. In particular, the AEOC assists the Board in its oversight of management’s 
responsibility to assess, manage and mitigate risks associated with our business and operational activities, to administer our various compliance 
programs, in each case including cybersecurity concerns, and to oversee our information technology systems, processes and data. 

The AEOC, which is comprised entirely of independent directors, is responsible for periodically reviewing and assessing with management (i) the 
adequacy of controls and security for our information technology systems, processes and data, and (ii) our contingency plans in the event of a breakdown 
or security breach affecting our information technology systems, it being understood that it is not possible to eliminate all such risks and that we will 
necessarily face a variety of risks with respect to information technology in the conduct of our business. The AEOC is additionally responsible for 
reviewing the cybersecurity disclosures required to be included in our filings with the SEC. 

The AEOC regularly discusses with management, including our Chief Technology Officer, our enterprise risk management process, including our 
cybersecurity exposures, the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures and guidelines and policies to govern our risk 
assessment and risk management processes. The AEOC periodically reports to the Board regarding significant matters identified with respect to the 
foregoing, including, among others, our risk assessment and risk management approach to cybersecurity.

We believe each of the members of the AEOC has relevant work experience related to information security or cybersecurity to allow for the effective 
oversight of cybersecurity risks. In particular, Richard Palmieri has held numerous roles where he provided oversight of technology functions, Kristin Toth 
has significant experience managing e-commerce platforms and businesses, and Michael Gould has held senior roles in the technology consulting 
businesses at Oracle and Hewlett-Packard Company.
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Risks from Material Cybersecurity Threats

Although we have taken steps to prevent and mitigate data security threats, there can be no assurance that our protective measures and those of our 
third-party service providers will prevent or detect security breaches that could have a significant impact on our business, reputation, operating results 
and financial condition.

We have experienced two separate cyber events. First, in December 2021, we experienced a targeted cyber-attack, leading to a global shutdown of our 
connectivity, operational, and accounting systems to protect our infrastructure. Although our operations systems were eventually restored, this event 
caused significant disruption to our operations for approximately two weeks, temporarily impacting our ability to manage freight shipments, customs 
brokerage functions, and distribution activities. Next, in March 2024, our Canadian subsidiary experienced a targeted cybersecurity breach. This attack 
was identified by our end point protection software and our third-party monitoring partner. As per our response process, we initiated a shutdown of our 
Canadian infrastructure and engaged our incident response team. The operations systems were restored and approved to return to service within one 
week. While we continue to learn from these incidents, we do not anticipate further material adverse impacts from them on our business. Following the 
attacks, we enhanced our security program with additional tools and strengthened measures for improved system and network monitoring.

As of the date of this filing, we have not identified any cybersecurity threats that are reasonably anticipated to have a material effect on our business 
strategy, results of operations or financial condition. Maintaining a robust information security system is an ongoing priority for us and we plan to continue 
to identify and evaluate new, emerging risks to data protection and cybersecurity both internally and through our engagement of third-party service 
providers.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

Our principal executive offices are located in Renton, Washington. Our network is comprised of over 100 operating locations, including the following 
Company-owned offices and warehouses operating from the following leased locations:

United States:

● Tempe, Arizona ● Louisville, Kentucky ● Portland, Oregon
● Carson, California ● Taylor, Michigan ● Folcroft, Pennsylvania
● Fort Lauderdale, Florida ● Mendota Heights, Minnesota ● Middletown, Pennsylvania
● Miami, Florida ● Burnsville, Minnesota ● Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
● Addison, Illinois ● Kansas City, Missouri ● Edinburg, Texas
● Woodridge, Illinois ● Edison, New Jersey ● Houston, Texas
● Overland Park, Kansas ● Jamaica, New York ● Laredo, Texas
● Hebron, Kentucky ● Woodbury, New York ● Alexandria, Virginia

Canada:

● Calgary, Alberta ● Bolton, Ontario ● Mississauga, Ontario
● Annacis Island, British Columbia ● Brampton, Ontario ● Toronto, Ontario
● Delta, British Columbia ● Laval, Québec   

Other international locations:

● Shanghai, China ● Cebu City, Philippines ● Mexico City, Mexico

We believe our current offices and warehouses are adequately covered by insurance and are sufficient to support our operations for the foreseeable 
future. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth in Legal Proceedings of Note 15, Commitments and Contingencies in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements 
in Item 8 of this Form 10-K is incorporated by reference. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY 
SECURITIES 

Market Information 

Our common stock trades on the NYSE American under the symbol “RLGT.” 

Holders 

As of September 3, 2024, the number of stockholders of record of our common stock was 67. This figure does not include a greater number of beneficial 
holders of our common stock, whose shares are held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividend Policy 

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. In addition, we and our subsidiaries are subject to certain restrictions on declaring 
dividends under our existing credit facility. We currently do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future on our common 
stock. Any future determination to declare cash dividends on our common stock will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to 
applicable laws and contractual restrictions, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business 
conditions and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None

Purchases of Equity Securities

In December 2023, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock through 
December 31, 2025. Under this repurchase program, the Company purchased the following shares of common stock during the three months ended 
June 30, 2024: 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

Period
Total Number of 

Shares Purchased   
Average Price Paid 

per Share   

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 
as Part of Publicly 

Announced Plans or 
Programs   

Maximum Number of 
Shares that May Yet 
Be Purchased under 

the Plans or 
Programs  

April 1 − 30, 2024  —    —    —    5,000,000  
May 1 − 31, 2024  128,539   $ 5.21    128,539    4,871,461  
June 1 − 30, 2024  65,509    5.30    65,509    4,805,952  
            

Total  194,048   $
5.24

   194,048    4,805,952  
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Comparative Stock Performance

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the Russell 2000 Index and the Dow Jones Transportation 
Average Index, which is a SIC code 4731 line-of-business index, for the last five fiscal years. S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC prepared the line-of-business 
index. The graph assumes $100 is invested in our common stock, the Russell 2000 Index, and the line-of-business index on June 30, 2019. The 
comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to forecast the possible future performance of our common stock. The 
information in the graph below shall be deemed “furnished” and not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the 
liabilities of that section.

 Investment value as of June 30,  
 2019   2020   2021   2022   2023   2024  

Radiant Logistics, Inc. $ 100   $ 64   $ 113   $ 121   $ 109   $ 93  
Dow Jones Transportation Average Index  100    88    142    126    148    147  
Russell 2000 Index  100    92    147    109    121    131  

 

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and result of operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and the related notes and other information included elsewhere in this report.

Overview 

We operate as a leading third-party logistics company, providing technology-enabled global transportation and value-added logistics solutions primarily in 
the United States and Canada. We service a large, broad, and diversified account base consisting of consumer goods, food and beverage, electronics 
and high-tech, aviation and automotive, military and government, and manufacturing and retail customers, which is supported by an extensive network of 
operating locations across North America as well as an integrated international service partner network located in other key markets around the globe. 
The Company provides these services through a multi-brand network, which includes over 100 operating locations. Included in these operating locations 
are a number of independent agents, who are also referred to as “strategic operating partners,” that operate exclusively on the Company's behalf, and 
approximately 30 Company-owned offices. As the operator of a third-party logistics business, the Company has a vast carrier network of asset-based 
transportation companies, including motor carriers, railroads, airlines and ocean lines in its carrier network. We believe shippers value our services 
because we are able to objectively arrange the most efficient and cost-effective means, type and provider of transportation service without undue 
influence caused by the ownership of transportation assets. In addition, our minimal investment in physical assets affords us the opportunity for a higher 
return on invested capital and net cash flows than our asset-based competitors.

Through our operating locations across North America, we offer domestic, international air and ocean freight forwarding services and freight brokerage 
services, including truckload services, LTL services, and intermodal services, which is the movement of freight in trailers or containers by combination of 
truck and rail. Our primary business operations involve arranging the shipment, on behalf of our customers, of materials, products, equipment and other 
goods that are generally larger than shipments handled by integrated carriers of primarily small parcels, such as FedEx, DHL and UPS. Our services 
include arranging and monitoring all aspects of material flow activity utilizing advanced information technology systems. We also provide other value-
added logistics services, including MM&D, CHB and GTM solutions to complement our core transportation service offering. 

The Company expects to grow its business organically and by completing acquisitions of other companies with complementary geographical and logistics 
service offerings. The Company’s organic growth strategy will continue to focus on strengthening existing and expanding new customer relationships 
leveraging the benefit of the Company’s technology platform, while continuing its efforts on the organic build-out of the Company’s network of strategic 
operating partner locations. In addition, as the Company continues to grow and scale its business, the Company believes that it is creating density in its 
trade lanes, which creates opportunities for the Company to more efficiently source and manage its transportation capacity. 

In addition to its focus on organic growth, the Company will continue to search for acquisition candidates that bring critical mass from a geographic and 
purchasing power standpoint, along with providing complementary service offerings to the current platform. As the Company continues to grow and scale 
its business, it also remains focused on leveraging its back-office infrastructure and technology systems to drive productivity improvement across the 
organization.

Impact of Notable External Conditions

The global economic and trade environments remain uncertain, including inflation, geopolitical tensions and changes in consumer behavior could have a 
negative impact on our business and financial results.

Performance Metrics 

Our principal source of income is derived from freight forwarding and freight brokerage services we provide to our customers. As a third-party logistics 
provider, we arrange for the shipment of our customers’ freight from point of origin to point of destination. Generally, we quote our customers a turnkey 
cost for the movement of their freight. Our price quote will often depend upon the customer’s time-definite needs (first day through fifth day delivery), 
special handling needs (heavy equipment, delicate items, environmentally sensitive goods, electronic components, etc.), and the means of transport 
(motor carrier, air, ocean or rail). In turn, we assume the responsibility for arranging and paying for the underlying means of transportation.

Our transportation revenue represents the total dollar value of services we sell to our customers. Our cost of transportation includes direct costs of 
transportation, including motor carrier, air, ocean, and rail services. Our adjusted gross profit, a non-GAAP financial measure, is gross revenue less the 
direct cost of transportation and other services (excluding depreciation and amortization, which are reported separately), and is the primary indicator of 
our ability to source, add value, and resell services provided by third-parties, and is considered by management to be a key performance measure. 
Adjusted gross profit percentage is adjusted gross profit as a percent of our total revenue. In addition, management believes measuring its operating 
costs as a function of adjusted gross profit provides a useful 
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metric, as our ability to control costs as a function of adjusted gross profit directly impacts operating results. We believe that these provide investors with 
meaningful information to understand our results of operations and the ability to analyze financial and business trends on a period-to-period basis.

Our operating results will be affected as acquisitions occur. Since acquisitions are recorded using the acquisition method of accounting for business 
combinations, our financial statements will only include the results of operations and cash flows of acquired companies for periods subsequent to the date 
of acquisition. 

Our GAAP-based net income will be affected by non-cash charges relating to the amortization of customer related intangible assets and other intangible 
assets attributable to completed acquisitions. Under applicable accounting standards, purchasers are required to allocate the total consideration in a 
business combination to the identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the time of acquisition. The excess of the 
consideration paid over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is to be allocated to goodwill, which is tested at least annually for impairment. 
Applicable accounting standards require that we separately account for and value certain identifiable intangible assets based on the unique facts and 
circumstances of each acquisition. As a result of our acquisition strategy, our net income will include material non-cash charges relating to the 
amortization of customer related intangible assets and other intangible assets acquired in our acquisitions. Although these charges may increase as we 
complete more acquisitions, we believe we will be growing the value of our intangible assets (e.g., customer relationships). Thus, we believe that 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, is a useful financial measure for investors because it eliminates the effect of 
these non-cash costs and provides an important metric for our business. 

EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of income and does not include the effects of interest, taxes, and the “non-cash” effects of depreciation and 
amortization on long-term assets. Companies have some discretion as to which elements of depreciation and amortization are excluded in the EBITDA 
calculation. We exclude all depreciation charges related to property, technology, and equipment and all amortization charges (including amortization of 
leasehold improvements). We then further adjust EBITDA to exclude share-based compensation expense, changes in fair value of contingent 
consideration, expenses specifically attributable to acquisitions, cybersecurity incident related costs, changes in fair value of interest rate swap contracts, 
restatement costs, transition and lease termination costs, foreign currency transaction gains and losses, litigation expenses unrelated to our core 
operations, and other non-cash charges. While management considers EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA useful in analyzing our results, it is not intended to 
replace any presentation included in our consolidated financial statements. The Company’s financial covenants with its lenders define an adjusted 
EBITDA as a key component of its covenant calculations. The Company’s ability to grow adjusted EBITDA is closely monitored by management as it’s 
directly tied to financial borrowing capacity and also is a frequent point of discussion with its investors as well as the Company’s earnings calls.

Our operating results are also subject to seasonal trends when measured on a quarterly basis. The impact of seasonality on our business will depend on 
numerous factors, including the markets in which we operate, holiday seasons, consumer demand, and economic conditions. Since our revenue is 
largely derived from customers whose shipments are dependent upon consumer demand and just-in-time production schedules, the timing of our 
revenue is often beyond our control. Factors such as shifting demand for retail goods and/or manufacturing production delays could unexpectedly affect 
the timing of our revenue. As we increase the scale of our operations, seasonal trends in one area of our business may be offset to an extent by opposite 
trends in another area. We cannot accurately predict the timing of these factors, nor can we accurately estimate the impact of any particular factor, and 
thus we can give no assurance any historical seasonal patterns will continue in future periods. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Accounting policies, methods and estimates are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements prepared by management and are based upon 
management’s current judgments. These judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience regarding past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting policies, methods and estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ from management’s current judgments. While there are a 
number of accounting policies, methods and estimates that affect our financial statements, the areas that are particularly significant include revenue 
recognition; the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities and the assessment of the recoverability of long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets; 
and fair value of contingent consideration.
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As a non-asset-based carrier, we do not generally own transportation assets. We do, however, own certain trailers and refrigerated trailers that we use in 
our business. We generate the majority of our transportation revenues by purchasing transportation services from direct (asset-based) carriers and 
reselling those services to our customers. We recognize revenue and the corresponding related costs in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised 
goods or services to our customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods and services. Our 
performance obligation is satisfied over time and recognized upon the transfer of control of the services over the requisite transit period as customers’ 
goods move from point of origin to point of destination. We determine the period to recognize revenue and the corresponding related costs based upon 
the actual departure date and delivery date, if available, or estimated delivery date if delivery has not occurred as of the reporting date. Certain shipments 
may require us to estimate revenue, in which case the average revenue per shipment, per mode of transportation is used. Determination of the estimated 
revenue, transit period and the percentage of completion of the shipment as of the reporting date requires management to make judgments that affect the 
timing and amount of revenue recognition. Macroeconomic conditions impacting the supply chain such as port delays, the labor force, as well as 
inflationary pressures can impact the actual results compared to our estimates. Revenue from CHB services is recognized upon completion of the 
service. 

We perform an annual impairment test for goodwill as of April 1 of each year or more frequently if facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. We first have the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair 
value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying amount, or to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a quantitative assessment. As of April 1, 
2024, we elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a quantitative assessment where we determined the fair value of each reporting unit 
and compared the fair value to the reporting unit’s carrying amount.

Definite-lived intangible assets consist of customer related intangible assets, trade names and trademarks, licenses, developed technology, and non-
compete agreements arising from the Company’s acquisitions and are amortized using the straight-line method over periods of up to 15 years.

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be 
recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows over the remaining useful life of a long-lived asset is less than its carrying 
amount, the asset is considered to be impaired. Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the 
fair value of the asset. When fair values are not available, we estimate fair value using the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate 
commensurate with the risks associated with the recovery of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value 
less costs to sell. 

The Company has contingent obligations to transfer cash payments and/or equity shares to former shareholders of acquired operations in conjunction 
with certain acquisitions if specified operating results and financial objectives are met over their stated earn-out period. The Company uses projected 
future financial results based on recent and historical data to value the anticipated future earn-out payments. To calculate fair value, the future earn-out 
payments were then discounted using Level 3 inputs.

Results of Operations

Fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, compared to fiscal year ended June 30, 2023

The following table summarizes revenues, cost of transportation and other services, and adjusted gross profit by reportable operating 
segments for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

 Year Ended June 30, 2024   Year Ended June 30, 2023  

(In thousands)
United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations   Total   

United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations   Total  

Revenues                        

Transportation $ 670,169   $ 83,320   $ (241 )  $ 753,248   $ 923,039   $ 110,225   $ (385 )  $ 1,032,879  
Value-added services  13,786    35,436    —    49,222    14,458    38,149    —    52,607  

  683,955    118,756    (241 )   802,470    937,497    148,374    (385 )   1,085,486  
Cost of transportation and other 
services                        
Transportation  481,492    63,090    (241 )   544,341    692,578    86,471    (385 )   778,664  

Value-added services  5,924    15,682    —    21,606    5,545    17,437    —    22,982  
  487,416    78,772    (241 )   565,947    698,123    103,908    (385 )   801,646  
Adjusted gross profit                        
Transportation  188,677    20,230    —    208,907    230,461    23,754    —    254,215  
Value-added services  7,862    19,754    —    27,616    8,913    20,712    —    29,625  

 $ 196,539   $ 39,984   $ —   $ 236,523   $ 239,374   $ 44,466   $ —   $ 283,840  
Adjusted gross profit percentage                        
Transportation  28.2 %   24.3 %  N/A    27.7 %   25.0 %   21.6 % N/A    24.6 %
Value-added services  57.0 %   55.7 %  N/A    56.1 %   61.6 %   54.3 % N/A    56.3 %

(1) Adjusted gross profit is revenues less the cost of transportation and other services.

(1)
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Transportation revenue was $753.2 million and $1,032.9 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease of $279.7 
million, or 27.1%, is primarily attributable to a significant decrease in international and ocean rates, lower volumes for all transportation modes, and an 
overall decrease in charter business as compared to the comparable prior year period. Adjusted transportation gross profit was $208.9 million and $254.2 
million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Adjusted transportation gross profit percentage increased from 24.6% to 27.7%, 
primarily due to a higher mix of domestic shipments, which have higher gross profit margin characteristics than ocean and charter shipments.

Value-added services revenue was $49.2 million and $52.6 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Adjusted value-
added services gross profit was $27.6 million and $29.6 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Adjusted value-added 
services gross profit percentage was relatively flat, decreasing slightly from 56.3% to 56.1%.

The following table provides a reconciliation for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 of adjusted gross profit to gross profit, the 
most directly comparable GAAP measure:

(In thousands) Year Ended June 30,  
Reconciliation of adjusted gross profit to GAAP gross profit 2024   2023  
Revenues $ 802,470   $ 1,085,486  
Cost of transportation and other services (exclusive of depreciation and
    amortization, shown separately below)  (565,947 )   (801,646 )
Depreciation and amortization  (13,055 )   (13,621 )
GAAP gross profit $ 223,468   $ 270,219  
Depreciation and amortization  13,055    13,621  
Adjusted gross profit $ 236,523   $ 283,840  
      
GAAP gross profit percentage  27.8%  24.9%
Adjusted gross profit percentage  29.5%  26.1%
 

The following table compares consolidated statements of comprehensive income data by reportable operating segments for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

 Year Ended June 30, 2024   Year Ended June 30, 2023  

(In thousands)
United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations   Total   

United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations   Total  

Adjusted gross profit $ 196,539   $ 39,984   $ —   $ 236,523   $ 239,374   $ 44,466   $ —   $ 283,840  
                        

Operating expenses:                        
Operating partner commissions  92,668    —    —    92,668    115,605    —    —    115,605  
Personnel costs  52,957    19,270    5,985    78,212    55,624    17,953    5,935    79,512  
Selling, general and administrative
    expenses  

23,526
   8,222    6,952    

38,700
   

22,553
   8,474    7,521    

38,548
 

Depreciation and amortization  3,670    3,948    10,477    18,095    4,072    3,335    15,293    22,700  
Change in fair value of contingent
    consideration  —    —    (450 )   (450 )   —    —    (646 )   (646 )

                        
Total operating expenses  172,821    31,440    22,964    227,225    197,854    29,762    28,103    255,719  
                        
Income (loss) from operations  23,718    8,544    (22,964 )   9,298    41,520    14,704    (28,103 )   28,121  
Other income (expense)  148    194    80    422    599    332    (1,506 )   (575 )
                        

Income (loss) before income taxes  23,866    8,738    (22,884 )   9,720    42,119    15,036    (29,609 )   27,546  
Income tax expense  —    —    (1,523 )   (1,523 )   —    —    (6,305 )   (6,305 )
                        
Net income (loss)  23,866    8,738    (24,407 )   8,197    42,119    15,036    (35,914 )   21,241  
Less: net income attributable to non-
    controlling interest  (512 )   —    —    (512 )   (646 )   —    —    (646 )
                        
Net income (loss) attributable to 
    Radiant Logistics, Inc. $ 23,354   $ 8,738   $ (24,407 )  $ 7,685   $ 41,473   $ 15,036   $ (35,914 )  $ 20,595  

 

 Year Ended June 30, 2024   Year Ended June 30, 2023  
Operating expenses as a percent of
    adjusted gross profit :

United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations  Total   

United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations  Total  

Operating partner commissions  47.1 %   0.0 %  N/A   39.2 %   48.3 %   0.0 % N/A   40.7 %
Personnel costs  26.9 %   48.2 %  N/A   33.1 %   23.2 %   40.4 % N/A   28.0 %
Selling, general and administrative
    expenses  12.0 %   20.6 %  N/A   16.4 %   9.4 %   19.1 % N/A   13.6 %
Depreciation and amortization  1.9 %   9.9 %  N/A   7.7 %   1.7 %   7.5 % N/A   8.0 %

 

 (1)

(1)
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(1) Adjusted gross profit is revenues less the cost of transportation and other services.

Operating partner commissions decreased $22.9 million, or 19.8%, to $92.7 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. The decrease in 
commissions is primarily due to a reduction of adjusted gross profit generated from our strategic operating partners, lower freight volumes, and the 
conversions of strategic operating partners to Company-owned locations who earned commissions in the comparable prior year period. As a percentage 
of adjusted gross profit, operating partner commissions decreased 155 basis points to 39.2% from 40.7% for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, as a result of a lower percentage of gross margin generated from strategic operating partners.

Personnel costs decreased $1.3 million, or 1.6%, to $78.2 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. The decrease is primarily due to lower 
headcount in certain locations, decreases in sales commissions and bonuses, partially offset by the increase in headcount from acquisitions of strategic 
operating partners and a new brokerage location. As a percentage of adjusted gross profit, personnel costs increased 505 basis points to 33.1% from 
28.0% for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses increased $0.2 million, or 0.4%, to $38.7 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. As a 
percentage of adjusted gross profit, SG&A increased 278 basis points to 16.4% from 13.6% for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively.

Depreciation and amortization costs decreased $4.6 million, or 20.3%, to $18.1 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. The decrease is 
attributable to the accelerated amortization of intangible assets in the comparable prior year period resulting from the rebranding of certain trade names. 
As a percentage of adjusted gross profit, depreciation and amortization decreased 35 basis points to 7.7% from 8.0% for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Change in fair value of contingent consideration was a gain of $0.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, compared to a gain of $0.6 million for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The change in each fiscal year is principally attributable to a change in management’s estimates of future earn-out 
payments through the remainder of the respective earn-out periods. 

Net other income (expense) increased $1.0 million, or 173.4%, from an expense of $0.6 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 to income of $0.4 
million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

Our change in net income is driven by decreased adjusted gross profit, increased operating expenses, and decreased income taxes compared to the 
prior fiscal year.

Our future financial results may be impacted by amortization of intangible assets resulting from acquisitions as well as gains or losses from changes in 
fair value of contingent consideration that are difficult to predict.

The following table provides a reconciliation for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 of adjusted EBITDA to net income, the most 
directly comparable GAAP measure:

 Year Ended June 30, 2024   Year Ended June 30, 2023  

(In thousands)
United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations   Total   

United
States   Canada   

Corporate/
Eliminations   Total  

Net income (loss) attributable to 
    Radiant Logistics, Inc. $ 23,354   $ 8,738   $ (24,407 )  $ 7,685   $ 41,473   $ 15,036   $ (35,914 )  $ 20,595  
                        

Income tax expense  —    —    1,523    1,523    —    —    6,305    6,305  
Depreciation and amortization  4,127    3,948    10,477    18,552    4,529    3,335    15,293    23,157  
Net interest expense  —    —    (1,277 )   (1,277 )   —    —    1,889    1,889  

                        
EBITDA  27,481    12,686    (13,684 )   26,483    46,002    18,371    (12,427 )   51,946  
                        

Share-based compensation  1,268    266    1,077    2,611    1,091    224    1,188    2,503  
Change in fair value of contingent
    consideration  —    —    (450 )   (450 )   —    —    (646 )   (646 )

Acquisition related costs  —    —    526    526    —    —    185    185  
Cybersecurity event  —    —    266    266    —    —    6    6  
Litigation costs  —    —    594    594    —    —    1,208    1,208  
Transition, lease termination, and 
    other costs  —    76    —    76    30    —    —    30  
Change in fair value of interest 
    rate swap contracts  —    —    1,197    1,197    —    —    (383 )   (383 )
Restatement costs  —    —    —    —    —    —    1,544    1,544  
Foreign currency transaction gain  (66 )   (77 )   —    (143 )   (429 )   (326 )   —    (755 )

                        

Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,683   $ 12,951   $ (10,474 )  $ 31,160   $ 46,694   $ 18,269   $ (9,325 )  $ 55,638  
Adjusted EBITDA as a % of 
    adjusted gross profit  14.6 %   32.4 %  N/A    13.2 %   19.5 %   41.1 %  N/A    19.6 %

 

(1)

 (2)
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(1) Depreciation and amortization for the purposes of calculating adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, includes depreciation expense recognized on 
certain computer software as a service.

(2) Adjusted gross profit is revenues less the cost of transportation and other services.

Adjusted EBITDA decreased $24.4 million, or 44.0% to $31.2 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Generally, our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated from operating activities and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, as described 
below. These sources also fund a portion of our capital expenditures and contractual contingent consideration obligations. Our level of cash and financing 
capabilities along with cash flows from operations have historically been sufficient to meet our operating and capital needs. As of June 30, 2024, we have 
$24.9 million in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents on hand to serve as adequate working capital.

Fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 compared to fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $17.3 million and $97.9 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The cash 
provided primarily consisted of net income adjusted for depreciation and amortization and changes in accounts receivable, contract assets, accounts 
payable, income taxes, and accrued expenses and other liabilities.

Net cash used for investing activities was $15.2 million and $10.7 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Cash paid for 
acquisitions were $6.8 million and $3.3 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Cash paid for purchases of property, 
technology, and equipment were $8.6 million and $7.6 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Net cash used for financing activities was $10.2 million and $80.2 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Net 
repayments of the Revolving Credit Facility were $62.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Payments of debt issuance costs were $0.1 
million and $0.9 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Repayments of notes payable and finance lease liabilities were 
$4.8 million and $5.0 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Repurchases of common stock were $4.1 million and $11.1 
million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Payments of contingent consideration as a financing activity was $0.3 million for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. Distributions to non-controlling interest were $0.6 million for each of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
Proceeds from exercises of stock options were less than $0.1 million and $0.3 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
Payments of employee tax withholdings related to restricted stock units and stock options were $0.4 million and $0.5 million for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Working Capital

We believe that our current working capital, anticipated cash flow from operations, and access to financing through the Revolving Credit Facility are 
adequate for funding existing operations for the next twelve months.

Acquisitions 

We have not made any material acquisitions in the last two fiscal years.

Technology 

A primary component of our business strategy is to provide robust and advanced technology offerings to our customers, while providing advanced 
technology to our operations, strategic operating partners and management. To accomplish this, we have historically continuously developed and 
enhanced our technology platform to align with current and future business requirements, and we expect to continue to do so in the foreseeable future. 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, we capitalized approximately $1.0 million on technology enhancements and software systems in order to 
increase our operating efficiency and improve technology offerings. We expect to spend between $2.0 million and $3.0 million during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2025 in order to continue enhancing our technology platform, which we expect will include elements focused on customer facing, vendor 
facing, and user facing tools and systems that will be integrated into our existing platform and support our continued growth. 

Revolving Credit Facility
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The Company entered into a $200 million syndicated, revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) pursuant to a Credit Agreement dated as of 
August 5, 2022, and amended as of September 27, 2023. The Revolving Credit Facility is segregated into two tranches, a $150 million tranche that may 
be loaned in U.S. Dollars and a $50 million tranche that may be loaned in either U.S. Dollars or Canadian Dollars. The Revolving Credit Facility includes 
a $75 million accordion feature to support future acquisition opportunities. The Revolving Credit Facility was entered into with Bank of America, N.A. and 
BMO Capital Markets Corp. as joint book runners and joint lead arrangers, Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and Letter of 
Credit Issuer, Bank of Montreal as syndication agent, KeyBank National Association and MUFG Union Bank, N.A. as co-documentation agents and Bank 
of America, N.A., Bank of Montreal, KeyBank National Association, MUFG Union Bank, N.A. and Washington Federal Bank, National Association as 
lenders (such named lenders are collectively referred to herein as “Lenders”). 

The Revolving Credit Facility has a term of five years and is collateralized by a first-priority security interest in the accounts receivable and other assets of 
the Company and the guarantors on a parity basis with the security interest held by Fiera Private Debt Fund IV LP and Fiera Private Debt Fund V LP 
described below. Borrowings in U.S. Dollars accrue interest (at the Company’s option) at a) the Lenders’ base rate plus 0.50% to 1.50%; b) Term 
Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 1.40% to 2.40%; or c) Term SOFR Daily Floating Rate plus 1.40% to 2.40%. Borrowings in Canadian 
Dollars accrue interest (at the Company’s option) at a) Term Canadian Overnight Repo Rate Average (“CORRA”) plus 0.29547% to 0.32138% depending 
on the term, plus 1.40% to 2.40%; or b) Daily Simple CORRA plus 0.29547% plus 1.40% to 2.40%. Rates are adjusted based on the Company’s 
consolidated net leverage ratio. The Company’s U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries are guarantors of the Revolving Credit Facility.

For borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is subject to the maximum consolidated net leverage ratio of 3.00 and minimum 
consolidated interest coverage ratio of 3.00. Additional minimum availability requirements and financial covenants apply in the event the Company seeks 
to use advances under the Revolving Credit Facility to pursue acquisitions or repurchase its common stock. 

As of June 30, 2024, there were no borrowings outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility. 

Senior Secured Loan

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Radiant Canada, Radiant Canada obtained a CAD$29 million senior secured Canadian term loan from 
Fiera Private Debt Fund IV LP (“FPD IV” formerly, Integrated Private Debt Fund IV LP) pursuant to a CAD$29,000,000 Credit Facilities Loan Agreement. 
In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Lomas, Radiant Canada obtained a CAD$10 million senior secured Canadian term loan from Fiera 
Private Debt Fund V LP (formerly, Integrated Private Debt Fund V LP) pursuant to a CAD$10,000,000 Credit Facilities Loan Agreement. As of June 30, 
2024, both term loans have been repaid in full. 

For additional information regarding our indebtedness, see Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 

As of June 30, 2024, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partners, such as entities often referred to as structured 
finance or special purpose entities, which had been established for the purpose of facilitating off‑balance sheet arrangements or other contractually 
narrow or limited purposes. As such, we are not materially exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in 
such relationships. 

Recent Accounting Guidance 

The recent accounting guidance is discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this report.

Climate Change Effects 

We recognize the importance of addressing climate-related risks and opportunities to ensure our business is resilient and sustainable for the future. In 
2024, we completed a GHG emissions inventory for Scope 1 and Scope 2 sources. Our inventory was prepared in accordance with the GHG Protocol 
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard and aligns with the ISSB for climate-related disclosures. We are actively collecting data to expand our 
inventory and include upstream and downstream Scope 3 GHG emissions sources. Our comprehensive data set will inform future governance, strategy, 
risk management, and metrics and targets.

To test the resilience of our strategy, we will develop scenario analysis in alignment with the ISSB to stress test and improve our resiliency. As part of this 
effort, we actively engage with leaders across the Company to identify and discuss material climate-related risks and opportunities. Climate-related risks 
identified through this scenario analysis exercise will be incorporated into our Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) Framework.
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Throughout our risk assessment process, we also evaluate potential climate-related revenue opportunities that we are seeking to capture. These include 
helping customers manage increased complexity from carbon taxes and emissions reporting requirements; meeting the demand for decarbonized 
logistics services including intermodal and other eco-friendly transportation and logistics solutions.

We include below our preliminary climate disclosures based on our business model and assessment of materiality. We define materiality based on ISSB 
standards with a focus on financially-material topics. Our GHG emissions inventory will be available online at www.radiantdelivers.com.

As we continue our ESG journey, we have begun to map and link a range of environmental, social, and governance topics to the relevant voluntary 
disclosure frameworks, including ISSB (which now includes Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (“SASB”) and the Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”). By evaluating our non-asset-based business model against this voluntary framework, we are seeking to best align and 
progress in the area of climate, while also evaluating avenues for improvement in the areas of social initiatives and governance. 
 

Category Governance: Disclose the organization’s governance around climate-related risks and opportunities

Describe the Board’s oversight of 
climate-related risks and opportunities.

Risk management is a strategic priority within the Company and responsibility for managing risk rests with 
management while the Committees and the Board provide oversight. We are committed to our responsibility 
to sustainability and climate-related matters and have undertaken to integrate this core value into our 
corporate governance. As part of this process, the Board of Directors has made ESG risks and opportunities 
a regular agenda item in quarterly meetings. An independent board member has been responsible for 
sustainability/ESG and has been spearheading this discussion since 2022.

Describe management’s role in 
assessing and managing climate-
related risks and opportunities.

With the independent board member providing oversight, the ESG Steering Committee has been meeting to 
establish learning pathways for the organization, data collection processes and metrics, as well as a cadence 
of risk and opportunity assessment that engages with all leaders of senior management. The ESG Steering 
Committee is headed by our Vice President of Marketing and Communications, who serves as the 
management liaison and updates the CEO and Board of Directors on all ESG-related activities.

We have further engaged the expertise of key members within the organization with the development of an 
ESG Task Force, which meets monthly to ensure our climate-related initiatives continue to align seamlessly 
with our business strategy and overarching corporate goals.

Category Strategy: Disclose the actual and potential impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organization’s 
businesses, strategy and financial planning 

Describe the climate-related risks and 
opportunities the organization has 
identified over the short, medium, and 
long term.

We began our initial assessment of climate-related risks and opportunities in 2022 and have continued to 
evaluate these throughout 2024. This process will continue as we identify and formalize those short, medium, 
and long-term risks and opportunities, with the understanding that this is a changing model that must account 
for a dynamic market.

We believe our operations model is uniquely positioned to be both flexible and agile in making both these 
assessments and adjustments. We will continue to engage with our customers and vendors to ensure we are 
aware of developments in climate-related risks and opportunities and other sustainability measures. In doing 
so, we will look to manage policy change, technology updates, and market shifts, in addition to the physical 
risks of climate-related events or the fallout from such an event, as well as the ongoing reputational risks 
associated with the transportation industry.

We will also continue to develop relationships with vendors and partners who share the core value that we 
are all responsible for climate-related challenges. As such, we will continue to align with partners who 
likewise seek to develop robust environmental initiatives within their own organization.

We see our core commitment to our customers as a climate-related, emerging opportunity on multiple fronts:
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       •
       
        Helping customers manage increased complexity from carbon taxes and emissions reporting 
requirements;
       
      

      

       •
       
        Meeting the shifting demand for decarbonized logistics services including intermodal and other 
eco-friendly transportation and logistics solutions; and
       
      

      

       •
       
        Supporting government agencies, NGOs and other partners.
       
      

Describe the impact of climate-related 
risks and opportunities on the 
organization’s businesses, strategy, 
and financial planning.

We do not anticipate risks associated with climate change to be material, due to our non-asset- based 
business model. However, we have flexibility that will enable us to adjust and respond accordingly where and 
when appropriate.

We also seek to capture increased opportunities by further developing services that simplify the supply chains 
of our customers, support best practices in terms of partnerships with like-minded organizations, and 
enhance learning opportunities via climate-conscious industry groups and associations.

Describe the resilience of the 
organization’s strategy, taking into 
consideration different climate-related 
scenarios, including a 2°C or lower 
scenario.

We are developing our ERM Framework to include the identification, assessment and response to climate-
related events. We will be developing scenario analysis to stress test and improve our resiliency.

Category Risk Management: Disclose the processes used by the organization to identify, assess and manage climate-related risks

Describe the organization’s processes 
for identifying and assessing climate-
related risks.

Climate-related risks are being identified and assessed by our ESG Steering Committee and will be 
considered with the Company’s ERM Framework.

Describe the organization’s processes 
for managing climate-related risks.

Climate-related risks are reviewed and discussed initially via our ESG Steering Committee and moving 
forward in conjunction with our ESG Task Force. While discussed at the committee level, these risks will still 
be considered in conjunction with our ERM Framework at the Board level and with our overall Business 
Continuity Plan in mind. 

Describe how processes for 
identifying, assessing and managing 
climate-related risks are integrated into 
the organization’s overall risk 
management.

Regarding day-to-day continuity, the ESG Steering Committee will have oversight for data acquisition, 
measurement and evaluation. The ESG Task Force will begin to monitor and discuss industry developments 
and change in climate-related areas, to ensure we have the most up to date information and developments at 
the field level. Finally, and as regards to overall risk in climate-related areas, the ESG Steering Committee 
will continue to report on at least a quarterly basis to both the CEO and the Board of Directors in these areas.

Category Metrics & Targets: Disclose the metrics and targets used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks and opportunities
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Describe the organization’s processes 
for identifying and assessing climate-
related risks and disclose Scope 1, 
Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3 
GHG emissions, and the related risks.

While we are predominately a non-asset-based business, we recognize the impact that offices, warehouses 
and certain business lines contribute to the overall global carbon footprint (Scope 1 and 2 emissions). 
Likewise, we believe we have the responsibility to make positive choices in our own service providers who 
ultimately contribute to our own footprint (Scope 3 emissions). In 2024, we completed the data collection and 
GHG measurement process for our own Company-owned locations and published results of our GHG 
emissions inventory. Our future efforts are focused on expanding our analysis and understanding of Scope 3 
emissions to ultimately build a complete picture of our GHG emissions, whilst making meaningful reduction 
targets for our emissions throughout.

In the meantime, we have long been committed to sustainability programs. Many of these are well established 
across our organization and include: 

       •
       
        U.S. Environmental Protection Agency SmartWay partnership;
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       •
       
        Technology Recycling Program;
       
      

       •
       
        Public Transport Incentive Program for corporate employees;
       
      

       •
       
        Power-Saving Automatic lights roll-out to reduce electricity consumption;
       
      

       •
       
        Reduce, Re-use: water bottle filling stations to encourage multi-use containers, as well as the roll-
out of compostable cutlery and plates at Company-owned locations, where available;
       
      

       •
       
        Recycle: paper recycling program at our corporate headquarter; and
       
      

       •
       
        Remote hybrid working options to reduce emissions from commuting.
       
      

Describe the targets used by the 
organization to manage climate-
related risks and opportunities and 
performance against targets.

We are currently expanding our data collection and measurement to include upstream and downstream 
activities to provide a comprehensive understanding of our climate-related risks and opportunities. We intend 
to establish formal climate action targets to measure our performance against aligned with industry best 
practice and global sustainability goals.

 ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of business. These risks are primarily related to foreign exchange risk. We have currency exposure 
arising from both sales and purchases denominated in foreign currencies, as well as intercompany transactions. Significant changes in exchange rates 
between foreign currencies in which we transact business and the U.S. dollar may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. 
Historically, we have not entered into any hedging activities, and, to the extent that we continue not to do so in the future, we may be vulnerable to the 
effects of currency exchange rate fluctuations. A portion of our business is conducted in Canada. If foreign exchange rates were 1.0% higher or lower, our 
net income would have changed by approximately $0.08 million.

We are also subject to risks related to an increase in interest rates. For every $1.0 million outstanding on our Revolving Credit Facility, we will incur 
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approximately $0.05 million of interest expense. For every 1.0% increase in interest rates, our interest expense per $1.0 million in borrowings will 
increase by approximately $0.01 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Radiant Logistics, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Radiant Logistics, Inc. (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the related 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively 
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2024, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Company as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness identified 
below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
June 30, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting included in Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and 
an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with 
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits 
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinions.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following 
material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment in Item 9A:

The Company does not have effective internal controls over the recording and processing of revenues. Specifically, the controls as currently 
designed are not sufficient to prevent or detect a material misstatement in revenues as the design of the controls lack the level of precision 
necessary to ensure the completeness and accuracy of revenues.

We considered the material weakness in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and our opinion on such consolidated financial statements was not affected.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated 
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not 
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters 
below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Period End Revenue Recognition

As of June 30, 2024, the Company’s contract assets and unbilled accounts receivable were $7.6 million and $22.9 million, respectively. As described in 
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, contract assets represent estimated amounts for which the Company has the right to consideration for 
transportation services related to the completed portion of in-transit shipments at period end, but for which it has not yet completed the performance 
obligations. Upon completion of the performance obligations, which can vary in duration based upon the mode of transportation, the balance is included 
in accounts receivable.

The Company’s transportation transactions provide for the arrangement of the movement of freight to a customer’s destination. The Company recognizes 
revenue for the performance obligation that is satisfied over time upon the transfer of control of the services over the requisite transit period as the 
customer’s goods move from point of origin to point of destination. Recognizing revenue at period end for customer shipments and their related costs 
requires management to make significant judgments that affect the amounts and timing of revenue recognized, including the estimation of transit period 
by mode, average revenue per shipment, per mode of transportation and percentage of completion of shipments in transit. Macroeconomic conditions 
impacting the supply chain can impact the actual results compared to the Company’s estimates.

We identified the auditing of contract assets and unbilled accounts receivable related to period end revenue recognition as a critical audit matter. Auditing 
the estimate of the amount of revenue recognized at period end for partially completed and completed shipments involved significant audit effort, as well 
as especially challenging and subjective auditor judgment when performing audit procedures and evaluating the results of those procedures. The 
following are the most relevant procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter

• Evaluating the Company’s process used in developing the estimate for the amount of revenue recognized at the period end by: 

o Evaluating the methodology used by management.

o Testing the accuracy and completeness of the data utilized by management.

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions used for transit period by mode and average revenue per shipment, per mode of 
transportation.
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o Testing the mathematical accuracy of management’s calculations.

Goodwill Impairment

As described in Notes 2 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $93.0 million as of June 30, 
2024. The Company performs an annual impairment test for goodwill as of April 1 of each year, or more frequently if facts or circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company first has the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more-
likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting is less than the carrying amount, or to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a quantitative 
assessment. As of April 1, 2024, the Company elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a quantitative assessment where the Company 
determined the fair value of each reporting unit and compared the fair value to the reporting unit’s carrying amount. The Company estimates the fair 
value of each reporting unit based on a combination of an income approach, that utilizes discounted cash flows specific to each reporting unit, and a 
market approach, that considers guideline public company market multiples. 

We identified the goodwill impairment tests performed during the period as a critical audit matter. The determination of the fair value of the Company’s 
reporting unit requires management to make significant assumptions that are subject to estimation uncertainty. The performance of audit procedures 
related to management’s estimates for the annual impairment test required extensive audit effort, including the use of personnel with specialized skill and 
knowledge pertaining to valuation techniques. The key assumptions utilized by management in the determination of the fair value under the income 
approach include projected future cash flows and discount rates for each of the Company’s reporting units. The key assumptions utilized by management 
in the determination of the fair value under the market approach include the multiples of current and future earnings based on a selection of guideline 
public companies.

• The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

o Testing the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls.

o Evaluating the valuation methods used by management to estimate the fair value of each reporting unit.

o Evaluating the reasonableness of significant assumptions used in determining the projected future cash flows.

o Testing the accuracy and completeness of the data used by management in the estimate.

o Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skill of valuation techniques to assist in: (i) evaluating the methodologies used by 
management to determine the fair value of each reporting unit; (ii) assessing reasonableness of current and future earnings multiples based 
on a selection of guideline public companies; (iii) evaluating the reasonableness of certain significant assumptions used in the income and 
market approaches; and (iv) testing the mathematical accuracy of the Company’s calculations.

 
/s/  Moss Adams LLP
 
Seattle, Washington
September 12, 2024
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 June 30,  
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2024   2023  
ASSETS      
Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents
$

        
         24,874

  $

        
         32,456

 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $
        
         2,103
         and $
        
         2,776
        , respectively  

        
         118,016

   

        
         126,725

 

Contract assets

 

        
         7,615

   

        
         6,180

 

Income tax receivable

 

        
         3,133

   —  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

 

        
         10,567

   

        
         15,211

 

Total current assets

 

        
         164,205

   

        
         180,572

 
      

Property, technology, and equipment, net

 

        
         25,558

   

        
         25,389

 
      

Goodwill

 

        
         93,043

   

        
         89,203

 

Intangible assets, net

 

        
         34,943

   

        
         36,641

 

Operating lease right-of-use assets

 

        
         49,850

   

        
         56,773

 

Deposits and other assets

 

        
         3,586

   

        
         5,163

 

Total other long-term assets

 

        
         181,422

   

        
         187,780

 

Total assets

$

        
         371,185

  $

        
         393,741

 
      
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      
Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable

$

        
         73,558

  $

        
         84,561

 

Operating partner commissions payable

 

        
         13,291

   

        
         18,360

 

Accrued expenses

 

        
         8,948

   

        
         8,739

 



Income tax payable

 

        
         —

   

        
         369

 

Current portion of notes payable

 

        
         —

   

        
         4,107

 

Current portion of operating lease liabilities

 

        
         11,629

   

        
         11,273

 

Current portion of finance lease liabilities

 

        
         643

   

        
         620

 

Current portion of contingent consideration

 

        
         455

   

        
         3,886

 

Other current liabilities

 

        
         1,927

   

        
         258

 

Total current liabilities

 

        
         110,451

   

        
         132,173

 
      

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion

 

        
         45,026

   

        
         52,120

 

Finance lease liabilities, net of current portion

 

        
         677

   

        
         1,121

 

Contingent consideration, net of current portion

 

        
         4,710

   

        
         287

 

Deferred tax liabilities

 

        
         812

   

        
         2,944

 

Total long-term liabilities

 

        
         51,225

   

        
         56,472

 

Total liabilities

 

        
         161,676

   

        
         188,645

 
      

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)      
      

Equity:      
Common stock, $
        
         
          0.001
         
         par value, 
        
         
          100,000,000
         
         shares authorized; 
        
         51,844,249
         and 
  
        
         51,603,386
         shares issued, and 
        
         46,808,943
         and 
        
         47,294,529
         shares outstanding,
  respectively  

        
         33

   

        
         33
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Additional paid-in capital

 

        
         110,763

   

        
         108,516

 
Treasury stock, at cost, 
        
         5,035,306
         and 
        
         4,308,857
         shares, respectively  

(
        

         31,166
)   

(
        

         27,067
)

Retained earnings

 

        
         133,278

   

        
         125,593

 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

 

(
        

         3,546
)   

(
        

         2,205
)

Total Radiant Logistics, Inc. stockholders’ equity

 

        
         209,362

   

        
         204,870

 

Non-controlling interest

 

        
         147

   

        
         226

 

Total equity

 

        
         209,509

   

        
         205,096

 

Total liabilities and equity

$

        
         371,185

  $

        
         393,741

 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

 Year Ended June 30,  
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2024   2023  

Revenues

$

        
         802,470

  $

        
         1,085,486

 
      
Operating expenses:      

Cost of transportation and other services

 

        
         565,947

   

        
         801,646

 

Operating partner commissions

 

        
         92,668

   

        
         115,605

 

Personnel costs

 

        
         78,212

   

        
         79,512

 

Selling, general and administrative expenses

 

        
         38,700

   

        
         38,548

 

Depreciation and amortization

 

        
         18,095

   

        
         22,700

 

Change in fair value of contingent consideration

 

(
        

         450
)   

(
        

         646
)

Total operating expenses

 

        
         793,172

   

        
         1,057,365

 
      

Income from operations

 

        
         9,298

   

        
         28,121

 
      
Other income (expense):      

Interest income

 

        
         2,333

   

        
         1,384

 

Interest expense

 

(
        

         1,056
)   

(
        

         3,273
)

Foreign currency transaction gain

 

        
         143

   

        
         755

 

Change in fair value of interest rate swap contracts

 

(
        

         1,197
)   

        
         383

 

Other

 

        
         199

   

        
         176

 

Total other income (expense)

 

        
         422

   

(
        

         575
)

      

Income before income taxes

 

        
         9,720

   

        
         27,546
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Income tax expense

 

(
        

         1,523
)   

(
        

         6,305
)

      

Net income

 

        
         8,197

   

        
         21,241

 

Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interest

 

(
        

         512
)   

(
        

         646
)

      

Net income attributable to Radiant Logistics, Inc.

$

        
         7,685

  $

        
         20,595

 
      
Other comprehensive income:      

Foreign currency translation loss

 

(
        

         1,341
)   

(
        

         1,409
)

Comprehensive income

$

        
         6,856

  $

        
         19,832

 
      

Income per share:      

Basic

$

        
         0.16

  $

        
         0.43

 

Diluted

$

        
         0.16

  $

        
         0.42

 
      
Weighted average common shares outstanding:      

Basic

 

        
         47,047,754

   

        
         48,188,663

 

Diluted

 

        
         48,822,017

   

        
         49,551,388

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

 
 RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

 Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   Treasury   Retained   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehens
ive   

Total 
Radiant

Logistics, 
Inc.

Stockholders
’   

Non-
Controlling   Total  

(In thousands, except share and per share data) Shares   Amount   Capital   Stock   Earnings   Loss   Equity   Interest   Equity  

Balance as of June 30, 2022, as restated  

        

48,740,93
5

  $

        
         33

  $

        

106,146
  $

(
        

16,004
)  $

        

104,998
  $

(
        

         796
)  $

        

194,377
  $

        
         180

  $

        

194,557
 

Repurchase of common stock  

(
        

1,784,249
)   —    —    

(
        

11,063
)   —    —    

(
        

11,063
)   —    

(
        

11,063
)

Issuance of common stock upon vesting of 
    restricted stock units, net of taxes withheld 
    and paid  

        

181,495
      

(
        

         471
)   —    —    —    

(
        

         471
)   —    

(
        

         471
)

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of 
stock 
    options, net of taxes withheld and paid  

        

156,348
   —    

        
         338

   —    —    —    

        
         338

   —    

        
         338

 

Distribution to non-controlling interest  —    —    —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

         600
)   

(
        

         600
)

Share-based compensation  —    —    

        

2,503
   —    —    —    

        

2,503
   —    

        

2,503
 

Net income  —    —    —    —    

        

20,595
   —    

        

20,595
   

        
         646

   

        

21,241
 

Other comprehensive income  —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

1,409
)   

(
        

1,409
)   —    

(
        

1,409
)

                           

Balance as of June 30, 2023  

        

47,294,52
9

  $

        
         33

  $

        

108,516
  $

(
        

27,067
)  $

        

125,593
  $

(
        

2,205
)  $

        

204,870
  $

        
         226

  $

        

205,096
 

Repurchase of common stock  

(
        

726,449
)   —    —    

(
        

4,099
)   —    —    

(
        

4,099
)   —    

(
        

4,099
)

Issuance of common stock upon vesting of 
    restricted stock awards, net of taxes 
withheld 
    and paid  

        

155,848
      

(
        

         363
)   —    —    —    

(
        

         363
)   —    

(
        

         363
)

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of 
stock 
    options, net of taxes withheld and paid  

        

85,015
   —    

(
        

         1
)   —    —    —    

(
        

         1
)   —    

(
        

         1
)

Distribution to non-controlling interest  —    —    —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

         591
)   

(
        

         591
)
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Share-based compensation  —    —    

        

2,611
   —    —    —    

        

2,611
   —    

        

2,611
 

Net income  —    —    —    —    

        

7,685
   —    

        

7,685
   

        
         512

   

        

8,197
 

Other comprehensive loss  —    —    —    —    —    

(
        

1,341
)   

(
        

1,341
)   —    

(
        

1,341
)

Balance as of June 30, 2024  

        

46,808,94
3

  $

        
         33

  $

        

110,763

  $

(
        

31,166

)  $

        

133,278

  $

(
        

3,546

)  $

        

209,362

  $

        
         147

  $

        

209,509

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

 Year Ended June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:      

Net income

$

        
         8,197

  $

        
         21,241

 
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES      

Share-based compensation

 

        
         2,611

   

        
         2,503

 

Amortization of intangible assets

 

        
         10,461

   

        
         15,290

 

Depreciation and amortization of property, technology, and equipment

 

        
         7,634

   

        
         7,410

 

Deferred income tax benefit

 

(
        

         2,135
)   

(
        

         3,493
)

Amortization of debt issuance costs

 

        
         484

   

        
         510

 

Change in fair value of contingent consideration

 

(
        

         450
)   

(
        

         646
)

Change in fair value of interest rate swap contracts

 

        
         1,197

   

(
        

         383
)

Other

 

(
        

         305
)   

        
         589

 
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:      

Accounts receivable

 

        
         9,435

   

        
         97,804

 

Contract assets

 

(
        

         1,454
)   

        
         16,122

 

Income taxes

 

(
        

         3,517
)   

(
        

         3,661
)

Prepaid expenses, deposits, and other assets

 

        
         4,120

   

        
         2,311

 

Operating lease right-of-use assets

 

        
         11,270

   

        
         10,938

 

Accounts payable

 

(
        

         10,790
)   

(
        

         53,910
)

Operating partner commissions payable

 

(
        

         5,168
)   

(
        

         371
)

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

 

        
         77

   

(
        

         2,732
)

Operating lease liabilities

 

(
        

         10,939
)   

(
        

         9,127
)



Payments of contingent consideration

 

(
        

         3,473
)   

(
        

         2,500
)

Net cash provided by operating activities

 

        
         17,255

   

        
         97,895

 
      
      

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:      

Payments to acquire businesses

 

(
        

         6,812
)   

(
        

         3,250
)

Purchases of property, technology, and equipment

 

(
        

         8,595
)   

(
        

         7,565
)

Proceeds from sale of property, technology, and equipment

 

        
         246

   

        
         103

 

Net cash used for investing activities

 

(
        

         15,161
)   

(
        

         10,712
)

      
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      

Proceeds from revolving credit facility

 

        
         —

   

        
         67,500

 

Repayments of revolving credit facility

 

        
         —

   

(
        

         130,025
)

Payments of debt issuance costs

 

(
        

         119
)   

(
        

         904
)

Repayments of notes payable and finance lease liabilities

 

(
        

         4,759
)   

(
        

         4,982
)

Repurchases of common stock

 

(
        

         4,099
)   

(
        

         11,063
)

Payment of contingent consideration

 

(
        

         250
)   

        
         —

 

Distributions to non-controlling interest

 

(
        

         591
)   

(
        

         600
)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

 

        
         7

   

        
         343

 

Payments of employee tax withholdings related to restricted stock units and stock options

 

(
        

         371
)   

(
        

         476
)

Net cash used for financing activities

 

(
        

         10,182
)   

(
        

         80,207
)

      

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

 

(
        

         100
)   

        
         1,019

 
      

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH

 

(
        

         8,188
)   

        
         7,995

 

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR  

        
         33,062

   

        
         25,067
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CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH, END OF YEAR

$

        
         24,874

  $

        
         33,062

 
      
RECONCILIATION OF CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH:      

Cash and cash equivalents

$

        
         24,874

  $

        
         32,456

 

Restricted cash

 

        
         —

   

        
         606

 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

        
         24,874

  $

        
         33,062

 
      
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:      

Income taxes paid

$

        
         6,979

  $

        
         13,637

 

Interest paid

$

        
         506

  $

        
         2,887

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Radiant Logistics, Inc., and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”), operates as a leading third-party logistics company, providing technology-
enabled global transportation and value-added logistics solutions primarily in the United States and Canada. The Company services a large, broad and 
diversified account base across a range of industries and geographies, which is supported by an extensive network of operating locations across North 
America as well as an integrated international service partner network located in other key markets around the globe. The Company provides these 
services through a multi-brand network, which includes over 
      
       100
       operating locations. Included in these operating locations are a number of independent agents, who are also referred to as “strategic operating 
partners,” that operate exclusively on the Company's behalf, and approximately 
      
       30
       Company-owned offices. As the operator of a third-party logistics business, the Company has a vast carrier network of asset-based transportation 
companies, including motor carriers, railroads, airlines and ocean lines in its carrier network.

Through its operating locations across North America, the Company offers domestic and international air and ocean freight forwarding services and 
freight brokerage services, including truckload services, less than truckload services, and intermodal services, which is the movement of freight in trailers 
or containers by combination of truck and rail. The Company’s primary transportation services involve arranging shipments, on behalf of its customers, of 
materials, products, equipment, and other goods that are generally larger than shipments handled by integrated carriers of primarily small parcels, such 
as FedEx, DHL and UPS, including arranging and monitoring all aspects of material flow activity utilizing advanced information technology systems. The 
Company also provides other value-added logistics services including materials management and distribution services (collectively, “materials 
management and distribution” or “MM&D” services), and customs house brokerage (“CHB”) services to complement its core transportation service 
offering.

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Radiant Logistics, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries as well as a variable interest 
entity, Radiant Logistics Partners, LLC (“RLP”), which is 
        
         60
        % owned by Radiant Capital Partners, LLC (“RCP,” see Note 11), an entity owned by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. All significant 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. 

Non-controlling interest in the consolidated balance sheets represents RCP’s proportionate share of equity in RLP. Net income (loss) of non-wholly-
owned consolidated subsidiaries or variable interest entities is allocated to the Company and the holder(s) of the non-controlling interest in proportion to 
their percentage ownership interests.

b) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
reporting periods. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods may be based upon amounts that 
could differ from these estimates.

c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that may, at times, exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any 
losses in such accounts. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

d) Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents  five months of interest payments on the Company’s senior secured loan held by the lender that are required to be set aside. 
Restricted cash of $
        
         606
         is included in deposits and other assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2023. There is 
        
         no
         restricted cash as of June 30, 2024 as the senior secured loan has been repaid in full. The Company combines unrestricted and restricted cash for 
presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 
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e) Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable, which includes billed and unbilled amounts, are stated net of the allowance for expected credit losses and represents the net 
amount expected to be collected. The Company measures the expected credit losses on a collective (pool) basis based on the levels of delinquency (i.e., 
aging analysis) and applying an expected loss percentage rate to each pool when similar risk characteristics exist. The Company determines the 
allowance for expected credit losses by computing an expected loss percentage rate to each pool based upon its historical write-off experience, adjusted 
as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. When specific customers are identified as no longer sharing the 
same risk profile as their current pool, they are removed from the pool and evaluated separately. Amounts for shipments delivered but unbilled as of June 
30, 2024 and 2023 were $
        
         22,908
         and $
        
         22,515
        , respectively.

Through a contractual arrangement, the Company records trade accounts receivable from revenue generated from independently owned strategic 
operating partners operating under various Company brands. Under these contracts, each strategic operating partner is responsible for some or all of the 
collection of its customer accounts receivable. To facilitate this arrangement, certain strategic operating partners are required to maintain a deposit with 
the Company for these receivables. The Company charges the respective strategic operating partner’s deposit account for any accounts receivable aged 
beyond 90 days along with any other amounts owed to the Company by strategic operating partners. If a deficit balance occurs in the strategic operating 
partners’ deposit account, these amounts are included as accounts receivable in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements. For those 
strategic operating partners not required to maintain a deposit, the Company may withhold all or a portion of future commissions payable to the strategic 
operating partner to satisfy any deficit balance. The Company expects to replenish any deficit balance through the future business operations of these 
strategic operating partners, or as these amounts are ultimately collected from these customers. However, to the extent any of these strategic operating 
partners were to cease operations or otherwise be unable to replenish these deficit amounts, the Company would be at risk of loss for any such amounts. 
Due to the nature and specific risk characteristics of these accounts, the Company evaluates these accounts separately in determining an allowance for 
expected credit losses.

The activity in the allowance for expected credit losses is as follows:

(In thousands)   

Balance as of June 30, 2023 $

              
               2,776

 

Write-offs  

(
              

               621
)

Recoveries  

              
               345  

Provision for expected credit losses  

(
              

               368
)

Foreign currency translation  

(
              

               29
)

   

Balance as of June 30, 2024 $

              
               2,103

 

f) Property, Technology, and Equipment

Property, technology, and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Upon retirement or other disposition of these assets, the cost and related 
accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is reflected in other income (expense). 
Expenditures for maintenance, repairs and renewals of minor items are expensed as incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized. 

g) Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess acquisition cost of an acquired entity over the estimated fair values assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is reviewed for impairment as of April 1 of each year or more frequently if facts or circumstances 
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The Company has determined that there are 
        
         two
         reporting units for the purpose of the goodwill impairment test. An entity first has the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine 
whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or to bypass the qualitative assessment and 
perform a quantitative assessment. The qualitative assessment evaluates various factors, such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market 
conditions, cost factors, recent events, and financial trends that may impact the fair value of the reporting unit. If it is determined that the estimated fair 
value of the reporting unit is more-likely-than-not less than its carrying amount, including goodwill, a quantitative assessment is required. Otherwise, no 
further analysis is required. As of April 1, 2024, the Company elected to bypass the qualitative assessment and perform a quantitative assessment.
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If a quantitative assessment is performed, a reporting unit’s fair value is compared to its carrying amount. A reporting unit’s fair value is determined 
based upon consideration of various valuation methodologies, including the income approach, which utilizes projected future cash flows discounted at 
rates commensurate with the risks involved and the market approach, which utilizes multiples of current and future earnings based on a selection of 
guideline public companies. If the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying 
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amount, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss 
recognized cannot exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, management believes no impairment exists.

h) Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets, such as property, technology, and equipment, and definite-lived intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If circumstances require a long-lived asset or asset group 
to be tested for possible impairment, the Company compares the undiscounted expected future cash flows to be generated by that asset or asset group 
to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, an 
impairment charge is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the asset or asset group exceeds the fair value. Fair values of long-lived assets are 
determined through various techniques, such as applying probability weighted, expected present value calculations to the estimated future cash flows 
using assumptions a market participant would utilize or through the use of a third-party independent appraiser or valuation specialist.

Definite-lived intangible assets consist of customer related intangible assets, trade names and trademarks, licenses, developed technology, and non-
compete agreements arising from the Company’s acquisitions. Customer related intangible assets and trademarks and trade names are amortized using 
the straight-line method over periods of up to  15 years , licenses are amortized using the straight-line method over  ten years , developed technology is 
amortized using the straight-line method over  five years , and non-compete agreements are amortized using the straight-line method over periods of up 
to  five years .

i) Business Combinations 

The Company accounts for business acquisitions using the acquisition method. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, 
including identifiable intangible assets, are recorded based upon their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price 
over the estimated fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Acquisition expenses are expensed as 
incurred. While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition 
date, the estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. 

The fair values of intangible assets are generally estimated using a discounted cash flow approach with Level 3 inputs. The estimate of fair value of an 
intangible asset is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows (excess earnings) attributable solely to the intangible asset over its 
remaining useful life. To estimate fair value, the Company generally uses risk-adjusted cash flows discounted at rates considered appropriate given the 
inherent risks associated with each type of asset. The Company believes the level and timing of cash flows appropriately reflects market participant 
assumptions. 

For acquisitions that involve contingent consideration, the Company records a liability equal to the fair value of the contingent consideration obligation as 
of the acquisition date. The Company determines the acquisition date fair value of the contingent consideration based on the likelihood of paying the 
additional consideration. The fair value is generally estimated using projected future operating results and the corresponding future earn-out payments 
that can be earned upon the achievement of specified operating results and financial objectives by acquired companies using Level 3 inputs discounted 
to present value. These liabilities are measured quarterly at fair value, and any change in the fair value of the contingent consideration liability is 
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed with the corresponding adjustment to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of 
assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recognized in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income.

j) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to its customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods and services. The Company’s revenues are primarily from transportation 
services, which include providing for the arrangement of freight, both domestically and internationally, through modes of transportation, such as air 
freight, ocean freight, truckload, less than truckload, and intermodal. The Company generates its transportation services revenue by purchasing 
transportation from carriers and reselling those services to its customers.
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In general, each shipment transaction or service order constitutes a separate contract with the customer. A performance obligation is created once a 
customer agreement with an agreed upon transaction price exists. The transaction price is typically fixed and not contingent upon the occurrence or non-
occurrence of any other event. The transaction price is generally due 30 to 45 days from the date of invoice. The Company’s transportation transactions 
provide for the arrangement of the movement of freight to a customer’s agreed upon destination. The transportation services, including certain ancillary 
services, such as loading/unloading, freight insurance and customs clearance, that are provided to the customer represent a single performance 
obligation as the ancillary services are not distinct in the context of the contract and therefore combined with the performance obligation for transportation 
services. This performance obligation is satisfied over time and recognized in revenue upon the transfer of control of the services over the requisite 
transit period as the customer’s goods move from point of origin to point of destination. The Company determines the period to recognize revenue based 
upon the actual departure date and delivery date, if available, or estimated delivery date if delivery has not occurred as of the reporting date. Certain 
shipments may require the Company to estimate revenue, in which case the average revenue per shipment, per mode of transportation is used. 
Determination of the estimated revenue, transit period and the percentage of completion of the shipment as of the reporting date requires management to 
make judgments that affect the timing and amount of revenue recognition. The Company has determined that revenue recognition over the transit period 
provides a reasonable estimate of the transfer of services to its customers as it depicts the pattern of the Company’s performance under the contracts 
with its customers. The timing of revenue recognition, billings, cash collections, and allowance for expected credit losses results in billed and unbilled 
receivables. The Company receives the unconditional right to bill when shipments are delivered to their destination. The Company has elected to  not
disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the period as the 
Company’s contract with its transportation customers have an expected duration of one year or less. The corresponding direct costs of revenue, which 
primarily includes purchased transportation costs and commissions, have been expensed ratably as the goods are transferred to the customer.

The Company also provides MM&D services for its customers under contracts generally ranging from a few months to five years and include renewal 
provisions. These MM&D service contracts provide for inventory management, order fulfillment and warehousing of the customer’s product and 
arrangement of transportation of the customer’s product. The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied over time as the customers 
simultaneously receive and consume the services provided by the Company as it performs. Revenue is recognized in the amount for which the Company 
has the right to invoice the customer, as this amount corresponds directly with the value provided to the customer for the Company’s performance 
completed to date. The transaction price is based on the consideration specified in the contract with the customer and contains fixed and variable 
consideration. In general, the fixed consideration component of a contract represents reimbursement for facility and equipment costs incurred to satisfy 
the performance obligation and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. The variable consideration component is comprised of 
cost reimbursement per unit pricing for time and pricing for materials used and is determined based on cost plus a mark-up for hours of services provided 
and materials used and is recognized over time based on the level of activity volume. 

Other services include primarily CHB services sold separately as a single performance obligation. The Company recognizes revenue from this 
performance obligation at a point in time, which is the completion of the services. Duties and taxes collected from the customer and paid to the customs 
agent on behalf of the customers are excluded from revenue.

The Company uses independent contractors and third-party carriers in the performance of its transportation services. The Company evaluates who 
controls the transportation services to determine whether its performance obligation is to transfer services to the customer or to arrange for services to be 
provided by another party. The Company determined it acts as the principal for its transportation services performance obligation since it is in control of 
establishing the prices for the specified services, managing all aspects of the shipments process and assuming the risk of loss for delivery and collection. 
Such transportation services revenue is presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Contract Assets

Contract assets represent estimated amounts for which the Company has the right to consideration for transportation services related to the completed 
portion of in-transit shipments at period end, but for which it has not yet completed the performance obligations. Upon completion of the performance 
obligations, which can vary in duration based upon the mode of transportation, the balance is included in accounts receivable.

Operating Partner and Other Commissions

The Company enters into contractual arrangements with strategic operating partners that operate, on behalf of the Company, an office in a specific 
location that engages primarily in arranging, domestic and international, transportation services. In return, the strategic operating partner is compensated 
through the payment of sales commissions, which are based on individual shipments. The Company accrues the strategic operating partners’ 
commission obligation ratably as the goods are transferred to the customer.

The Company records employee sales commissions related to transportation services as an expense when incurred since the amortization period of 
such costs is less than one year.
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k) Defined Contribution Savings Plan

The Company has an employee savings plan under which the Company provides safe harbor matching contributions. For the fiscal years ended June 
30, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s contributions under the plan were $
        
         1,886
         and $
        
         1,917
        , respectively. 

l) Income Taxes 

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and 
deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more-likely-
than-not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes 
in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. 

The Company records a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain income tax positions taken or expected to be taken in an income 
tax return. Interest and penalties, if any, are recorded as a component of interest expense or other expense, respectively. Currently, the Company does 
not have any accruals for uncertain tax positions. 

m) Share-Based Compensation 

The Company grants restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, and stock options to certain directors, officers, and employees. The fair value of 
restricted stock awards is the market price of the Company’s common stock as of the grant date, and the fair value of each stock option grant is 
estimated as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Determining the fair value of stock option awards at the grant date requires 
judgment about, among other things, stock volatility, the expected life of the award, and other inputs.

Share-based compensation is recorded over the requisite service period, generally defined as the vesting period. The Company records share-based 
compensation for service-based restricted stock awards and stock options on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award. 
Certain restricted stock units also have performance-based conditions (“PSUs”) and will vest upon achievement of pre-established individual and 
Company performance goals as measured after a  three-year period. Expense for PSUs is recognized over the service period when it is probable the 
performance goal will be achieved and based on the most probable outcome of performance conditions as of the reporting date. The Company accounts 
for forfeitures as they occur. The Company issues new shares of common stock to satisfy exercises and vesting of awards granted under its stock plans. 
Share-based compensation expense is reflected in personnel costs in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

n) Basic and Diluted Income per Share Allocable to Common Stockholders

Basic income per common share is computed by dividing net income allocable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding. Diluted income per common share is computed by dividing net income allocable to common stockholders by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding, plus the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding after giving effect to all potential 
dilutive securities, such as restricted stock units and stock options.

o) Foreign Currency

For the Company’s foreign subsidiaries that prepare financial statements in currencies other than U.S. dollars, the local currency is the functional 
currency. All assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates and all revenue and expenses are translated at the weighted average rates 
for the period. Translation adjustments are recorded in foreign currency translation in other comprehensive income. 

Gains and losses on transactions of monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are recognized within other income (expense) on the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income.

p) Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Assets and obligations related to operating leases are included in operating lease 
right-of-use (“ROU”) assets; current portion of operating lease liabilities; and operating lease liabilities, net of current portion in the consolidated balance 
sheets. Assets and obligations related to finance leases are included in property, technology, and equipment, net; current portion of finance lease 
liabilities; and finance lease liabilities, net of current portion in the consolidated balance sheets.
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ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising 
from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over 
the lease term. As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at 
commencement date is used in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company uses the implicit rate when readily determinable. Lease 
terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease, which the Company has generally not included in its calculation of ROU assets or lease 
liabilities as it is not reasonably certain that the option will be exercised in the normal course of business.

For the Company’s lease agreements containing fixed payments for both lease and non-lease components, the Company accounts for the components 
as a single lease component, as permitted. For leases with an initial term of twelve months or less, the Company elected the exemption from recording 
ROU assets and lease liabilities for all leases that qualify, and records rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Expenses for these 
short-term leases for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 are insignificant.

Certain leases include variable payments, which may vary based upon changes in facts or circumstances after the start of the lease. Variable payments, 
to the extent they are not considered fixed, are expensed as incurred. Variable lease costs for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 are 
insignificant.

For finance leases, interest expense on the lease liability is recognized using the effective interest method and amortization of the ROU asset is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

q) Derivatives

Derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities and measured at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a 
derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation. 

For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, gains and losses are initially reported as a component of other comprehensive income and 
subsequently recognized in earnings with the corresponding hedged item. Gains and losses representing hedge components excluded from the 
assessment of effectiveness are recognized in earnings. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company does 
        
         
          no
         
        t have any derivatives designated as hedges.

For derivative instruments that are not designated as hedges, gains and losses from changes in fair value of interest rate swap contracts are recognized 
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

r) Treasury Stock

The Company accounts for treasury stock under the cost method, and repurchases are reflected as a reduction of stockholders’ equity at cost (see Note 
10). As of June 30, 2024, there have been 
        
         no
         reissuances of treasury stock.

s)  Reclassification of Previously Issued Financial Statements

Certain amounts in the prior period have been reclassified in the consolidated financial statements to conform to the current year presentation. There 
has been no impact on previously reported net income or stockholders’ equity from such reclassification.

t) Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit 
Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (and issued subsequent ASUs on ASC 326), which changes estimates for 
credit losses related to financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loan receivables, trade receivables and other contracts, such as off-balance 
sheet credit exposure, specifically, loan commitments and standby letters of credit, financial guarantees, and other similar instruments. The guidance 
replaced the current incurred loss accounting model with an expected loss model, which is referred to as the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) 
model. The CECL model requires the measurement of the lifetime expected credit losses on financial assets held as of the reporting date based on 
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The standard requires a cumulative effect adjustment to retained 
earnings to the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Company, as a smaller reporting company as of the relevant measuring 
period, qualified for an extension of the adoption of ASU 2016-13 to July 1, 2023.

The Company  adopted ASU 2016-13 on  July 1, 2023 for all financial assets measured at amortized cost, consisting primarily of trade accounts 
receivable, which are short-term and for which the Company has  no t historically experienced significant credit losses. Based on the immaterial effect of 
ASU 2016-13 on the financial statements, a cumulative effect adjustment was not considered necessary.
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t) Recently Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09”), which 
requires greater disaggregation of information in a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as disaggregation of income taxes paid by 
jurisdiction. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The guidance should be applied on a prospective basis with 
the option to apply the standard retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2023-09 on its 
income tax disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-
07”), which requires more disaggregated expense information about a public entity’s reportable segments if the significant segment expenses are 
regularly provided to the chief operating decision-maker and included in each reported measure of segment profit or loss. Additionally, ASU 2023-07 
allows public entities to disclose more than one measure of segment profit or loss used by the chief operating decision-maker. This ASU 2023-07 does 
not change the definition of a segment, the method of determining segments, or the criteria for aggregating operating segments into reportable 
segments. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024. The ASU should be adopted retrospectively as of the beginning of the earliest period presented. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2023-07 on its segment reporting disclosures.

NOTE 3 – REVENUE

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was 
      
       
        no
       
       customer whose revenue represented 
      
       
        10
       
      % or more of consolidated revenues.  A summary of the Company’s gross revenues disaggregated by major service lines and geographic markets 
(reportable segments), and timing of revenue recognition are as follows:
 

 Year Ended June 30, 2024  

(In thousands) United States   Canada   
Corporate/ 

Eliminations   Total  
Major service lines:            

Transportation services $

            

670,169
 

 

$

            
             83,320

 

 

$

(
            

             241
)  $

            

753,248
 

Value-added services 

             
             13,786                

             35,436                
             —  

 

             
             49,222  

Total $

            

683,955
 

 

$

            

118,756
 

 

$

(
            

             241
)  $

            

802,470
 

            
Timing of revenue recognition:            

Services transferred over time $

            

677,862
  $

            

118,678
  $

(
            

             241
)  $

            

796,299
 

Services transferred at a point in time

             
             6,093                

             78                
             —  

 

             
             6,171  

Total $

            

683,955
 

 

$

            

118,756
 

 

$

(
            

             241
)  $

            

802,470
 

 

 Year Ended June 30, 2023  

(In thousands) United States   Canada   
Corporate/ 

Eliminations   Total  
Major service lines:            

Transportation services $

            

923,039
 

 

$

            

110,225
 

 

$

(
            

             385
)  $

            

1,032,879
 

(1)
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Value-added services 

             
             14,458                

             38,149                
             —  

 

             
             52,607  

Total $

            

937,497
 

 

$

            

148,374
 

 

$

(
            

             385
)  $

            

1,085,486

 
            

Timing of revenue recognition:            

Services transferred over time $

            

931,235
  $

            

148,293
  $

(
            

             385
)  $

            

1,079,143
 

Services transferred at a point in time

             
             6,262                

             81                
             —  

 

             
             6,343  

Total $

            

937,497
 

 

$

            

148,374
 

 

$

(
            

             385
)  $

            

1,085,486
 

 
(1) Value-added services include MM&D, CHB, GTM and other services.

(1)
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NOTE 4 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The computations of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted income per share are as follows: 

 Year Ended June 30,  
(In thousands, except share data) 2024   2023  
Numerator:      

Net income attributable to Radiant Logistics, Inc. $

            
             7,685

  $

            
             20,595

 
      
Denominator:      

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic  

            
             47,047,754

   

            
             48,188,663

 

Dilutive effect of share-based awards  

            
             1,774,263

   

            
             1,362,725

 
      

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted  

            
             48,822,017

   

            
             49,551,388

 
      

Potentially dilutive common shares excluded  

            
             120,000

   

            
             107,500

 
 

NOTE 5 – LEASES

The Company has finance leases for equipment, and operating leases for office space, warehouse space, and other equipment with lease terms expiring 
at various dates through  December 2033 .

The Company has a lease commitment that has been executed but not yet commenced. The undiscounted future lease payments total $
      
       21,174
       and are excluded from the tables below.

The components of lease expense are as follows:

 Year Ended June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  

Operating lease cost $

            
             14,357

  $

            
             13,818

 
      
Finance leases:      

Amortization of leased assets  

            
             575

   

            
             706

 

Interest on lease liabilities  

            
             67

   

            
             70

 
      

Total finance lease cost $

            
             642

  $

            
             776

 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases are as follows:

 Year Ended June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:      

Operating cash flows paid for operating leases $

            
             11,096

  $

            
             12,007
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Operating cash flows paid for interest portion of finance leases  

            
             67

   

            
             70

 

Financing cash flows paid for principal portion of finance leases  

            
             612

   

            
             577

 
      

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:      

Operating leases $

            
             6,277

  $

            
             27,264

 

Finance leases  

            
             449

   

            
             523
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases are as follows:

 June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
Operating leases:      

Operating lease right-of-use assets $

            
             49,850

  $

            
             56,773

 
      

Current portion of operating lease liabilities  

            
             11,629

   

            
             11,273

 

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  

            
             45,026

   

            
             52,120

 
      

Total operating lease liabilities $

            
             56,655

  $

            
             63,393

 
      
Finance leases:      

Property, technology, and equipment, net $

            
             1,236

  $

            
             1,878

 
      

Current portion of finance lease liabilities  

            
             643

   

            
             620

 

Finance lease liabilities, net of current portion  

            
             677

   

            
             1,121

 
      

Total finance lease liabilities $

            
             1,320

  $

            
             1,741

 
      
Weighted average remaining lease term:      

Operating leases

            
             5.7

             years   

            
             6.2

             years  

Finance leases

            
             3.3

             years   

            
             3.2

             years  
      
Weighted average discount rate:      

Operating leases  

            
             5.52

%  

            
             5.29

%

Finance leases  

            
             5.62

%  

            
             4.93

%

As of June 30, 2024, maturities of lease liabilities for each of the next five fiscal years ending June 30 and thereafter are as follows:

(In thousands) Operating   Finance  

2025 $

            
             14,383

  $

            
             699

 

2026  

            
             13,223

   

            
             342
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2027  

            
             11,818

   

            
             116

 

2028  

            
             7,605

   

            
             102

 

2029  

            
             4,765

   

            
             91

 

Thereafter  

            
             15,357

   

            
             111

 
      

Total lease payments  

            
             67,151

   

            
             1,461

 
      

Less imputed interest  

(
            

             10,496
)   

(
            

             141
)

      

Total lease liabilities $

            
             56,655

  $

            
             1,320
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NOTE 6 – PROPERTY, TECHNOLOGY, AND EQUIPMENT 

   June 30,  
(In thousands) Useful Life  2024   2023  

Computer software

            
             3
             − 

            
             5

             years  $

            

28,165
  $

            

26,964
 

Office and warehouse equipment

            
             3
             − 

            
             15

             years   

            

16,275
   

            

14,179
 

Leasehold improvements   

            

11,170

   

            
             9,083

 

Trailers and related equipment

            
             3
             − 

            
             15

             years   

            
             6,946

   

            
             7,015

 

Computer equipment

            
             3
             − 

            
             5

             years   

            
             5,240

   

            
             4,529

 

Furniture and fixtures

            
             3
             − 

            
             15

             years   

            
             1,836

   

            
             1,743

 
        

Property, technology, and equipment    

            

69,632
   

            

63,513
 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization    

(
            

44,074
)   

(
            

38,124
)

        

Property, technology, and equipment, net   $

            

25,558
  $

            

25,389
 

(1) The cost is amortized over the shorter of the lease term or useful life.

Depreciation and amortization expenses related to property, technology, and equipment were $
      
       7,634
       and $
      
       7,410
       for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

NOTE 7 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

(In thousands)     

(1)
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Balance as of June 30, 2022   $

            
             88,199

 

Acquisition    

            
             1,598

 

Foreign currency translation loss    

(
            

             594
)

     

Balance as of June 30, 2023   $

            
             89,203

 

Acquisitions    

            
             4,481

 

Foreign currency translation loss    

(
            

             641
)

     

Balance as of June 30, 2024   $

            
             93,043

 

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following:

 June 30, 2024  

(In thousands)

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Customer related

            
             8.5

             years  $

            
             125,552

  $

(
            

             95,383
)  $

            
             30,169

 

Trade names and trademarks

            
             6.6

             years   

            
             15,382

   

(
            

             12,857
)   

            
             2,525

 

Developed technology

            
             2.4

             years   

            
             4,091

   

(
            

             2,114
)   

            
             1,977

 

Licenses

            
             2.7

             years   

            
             760

   

(
            

             551
)   

            
             209

 

Covenants not to compete

            
             0.6

             years   

            
             1,433

   

(
            

             1,370
)   

            
             63

 
           

   $

            
             147,218

  $

(
            

112,275
)  $

            
             34,943
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 June 30, 2023  

(In thousands)

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Customer related

            
             7.5

             years  $

            

117,645
  $

(
            

             87,175
)  $

            
             30,470

 

Trade names and trademarks

            
             7.6

             years   

            
             15,547

   

(
            

             12,637
)   

            
             2,910

 

Developed technology

            
             3.4

             years   

            
             4,091

   

(
            

             1,295
)   

            
             2,796

 

Licenses

            
             3.7

             years   

            
             785

   

(
            

             490
)   

            
             295

 

Covenants not to compete

            
             1.6

             years   

            
             1,433

   

(
            

             1,263
)   

            
             170

 
           

   $

            

139,501
  $

(
            

102,860
)  $

            
             36,641

 

Amortization expense amounted to $
      
       10,461
       and $
      
       15,290
       for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Certain acquired trade names have been rebranded in connection with the 
Company’s long-term growth strategy for consistency across the business and to better serve its customers. The Company will gradually phase out 
certain trade names and will predominantly use Radiant to refer to the Company. The rebranding resulted in the reduction of the related useful lives of 
certain trade names and accelerated amortization expense from June 2022 to December 2022. 

Future amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years ending June 30 are as follows:

(In thousands)     

2025   $

            
             9,015

 

2026    

            
             4,334

 

2027    

            
             3,759

 

2028    

            
             3,139

 

2029    

            
             2,556

 
 

NOTE 8 – NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable consist of the following: 

 June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  

Senior secured loans $

            
             —

  $

            
             4,204
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Unamortized debt issuance costs  

            
             —

   

(
            

             97
)

      

Total notes payable  

            
             —

   

            
             4,107

 

Less: current portion  

            
             —

   

(
            

             4,107
)

      

Total notes payable, net of current portion $

            
             —

  $

            
             —

 

Revolving Credit Facility 

The Company entered into a $
      
       200,000
       syndicated, revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) pursuant to a Credit Agreement dated as of August 5, 2022, and amended as of 
September 27, 2023. The Revolving Credit Facility is segregated into two tranches, a $
      
       150,000
       tranche that may be loaned in U.S. Dollars and a $
      
       50,000
       tranche that may be loaned in either U.S. Dollars or Canadian Dollars. The Revolving Credit Facility includes a $
      
       75,000
       accordion feature to support future acquisition opportunities. The Revolving Credit Facility was entered into with Bank of America, N.A. and BMO 
Capital Markets Corp. as joint book runners and joint lead arrangers, Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and Letter of 
Credit Issuer, Bank of Montreal as syndication agent, KeyBank National Association and MUFG Union Bank, N.A. as co-documentation agents and Bank 
of America, N.A., Bank of Montreal, KeyBank National Association, MUFG Union Bank, N.A. and Washington Federal Bank, National Association as 
lenders (such named lenders are collectively referred to herein as “Lenders”).
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The Revolving Credit Facility has a term of  five years and is collateralized by a first-priority security interest in the accounts receivable and other assets 
of the Company and its guarantors on a parity basis with the security interest held by Fiera Private Debt Fund IV LP and Fiera Private Debt Fund V LP 
described below.  Borrowings in U.S. Dollars accrue interest (at the Company’s option) at a) the Lenders’ base rate plus  
        
         0.50
         % to  
        
         1.50
         %; b) Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus  
        
         1.40
         % to  
        
         2.40
         %; or c) Term SOFR Daily Floating Rate plus  
        
         1.40
         % to  
        
         2.40
         %. Borrowings in Canadian Dollars accrue interest (at the Company’s option) at a) Term Canadian Overnight Repo Rate Average (“CORRA”) plus 

        
         0.29547
         % to  
        
         0.32138
         % depending on the term, plus  
        
         1.40
         % to  
        
         2.40
         %; or b) Daily Simple CORRA plus  
        
         0.29547
         % plus  
        
         1.40
         % to  
        
         2.40
         %. Rates are adjusted based on the Company’s consolidated net leverage ratio. The Company’s U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries are guarantors of 
the Revolving Credit Facility. As of June 30, 2024, the one-month SOFR rate was 
      
       5.34
      %.

For borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is subject to the maximum consolidated net leverage ratio of 
      
       3.00
       and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of 
      
       3.00
      . Additional minimum availability requirements and financial covenants apply in the event the Company seeks to use advances under the Revolving 
Credit Facility to pursue acquisitions or repurchase its common stock.

As of June 30, 2024, there were 
      
       no
       borrowings outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility. As of June 30, 2024, the Company was in compliance with its covenants. 

Senior Secured Loans

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Radiant Canada, Radiant Canada obtained a CAD$
      
       29,000
       senior secured Canadian term loan from Fiera Private Debt Fund IV LP (“FPD IV” formerly, Integrated Private Debt Fund IV LP) pursuant to a CAD$
      
       29,000
       Credit Facilities Loan Agreement. In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Lomas, Radiant Canada obtained a CAD$
      
       10,000
       senior secured Canadian term loan from Fiera Private Debt Fund V LP (formerly, Integrated Private Debt Fund V LP) pursuant to a CAD$
      
       10,000
       Credit Facilities Loan Agreement. As of June 30, 2024, both term loans have been repaid in full. 

NOTE 9 – DERIVATIVES

All derivatives are recognized on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets at their fair values and consist of interest rate swap contracts as of June 
30, 2024 and 2023. On  March 20, 2020 , and effective April 17, 2020, the Company entered into an interest rate swap contract with Bank of America to 
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trade variable interest cash inflows at one-month LIBOR for a $
      
       20,000
       notional amount, for fixed interest cash outflows at 
      
       0.635
      %. On  April 1, 2020 , and effective April 2, 2020, the Company entered into an interest rate swap contract with Bank of America to trade the variable 
interest cash inflows at one-month LIBOR for a $
      
       10,000
       notional amount, for fixed interest cash outflows at 
      
       0.5865
      %. Both interest rate swap contracts mature and terminate on  March 13, 2025 . 

The Company uses interest rate swaps for the management of interest rate risk exposure, as the interest rate swaps effectively convert a portion of the 
Company’s Revolving Credit Facility from a floating to a fixed rate. The interest rate swaps are agreements between the Company and Bank of America 
to pay, in the future, a fixed rate payment in exchange for Bank of America paying the Company a variable payment. The net payment obligation is based 
on the notional amount of the swap contracts and the prevailing market interest rates. The Company may terminate the swap contracts prior to their 
expiration, at which point a realized gain or loss would be recognized. The value of the Company’s commitment would increase or decrease based 
primarily on the extent to which interest rates move against the rate fixed for each swap. The derivative instruments had a total notional amount of $
      
       30,000
       and a fair value of $
      
       1,032
       and $
      
       2,229
       recorded in deposits and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Neither interest rate swap contract is designated as a hedge, and gains and losses from changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. See Note 12 for discussion of fair value of the derivative instruments.

NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Company is authorized to issue 
      
       5,000,000
       shares of preferred stock, par value at $
      
       0.001
       per share and 
      
       100,000,000
       shares of common stock, $
      
       0.001
       per share. 
      
       
        
         
          No
         
        
       
       shares of preferred stock are issued or outstanding as of June 30, 2024 or 2023.
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Common Stock

In December 2023, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 
      
       5,000,000
       shares of the Company’s common stock through  December 31, 2025 . In February 2022, the Company’s board of directors authorized the 
repurchase of up to 
      
       5,000,000
       shares of the Company’s common stock through  December 31, 2023 . Under the stock repurchase programs, the Company is authorized to 
repurchase, from time to time, shares of its outstanding common stock in the open market at prevailing market prices or through privately negotiated 
transactions as permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements. The programs do not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific number 
of shares and could be suspended or terminated at any time without prior notice. Under these repurchase programs, the Company purchased 
      
       726,449
       shares of its common stock at an average cost of $
      
       5.64
       per share for an aggregate cost of $
      
       4,099
       during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the Company purchased 
      
       1,784,249
       shares of its common stock at an average cost of $
      
       6.20
       per share for an aggregate cost of $
      
       11,063
      .

NOTE 11 – VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

RLP is owned 
      
       40
      % by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and 
      
       60
      % by RCP, a company for which the Chief Executive Officer of the Company is the sole member. RLP is a certified minority business enterprise that 
was formed for the purpose of providing the Company with a national accounts strategy to pursue corporate and government accounts with diversity 
initiatives. RCP’s ownership interest entitles it to 
      
       60
      % of the profits and distributable cash, if any, generated by RLP. The operations of RLP are intended to provide certain benefits to the Company, 
including expanding the scope of services offered by the Company and participating in supplier diversity programs not otherwise available to the 
Company. In the course of evaluating and approving the ownership structure, operations and economics emanating from RLP, a committee consisting of 
the independent Board members of the Company, considered, among other factors, the significant benefits provided to the Company through association 
with a minority business enterprise, particularly as many of the Company’s largest current and potential customers have a need for diversity offerings. In 
addition, the committee concluded that the economic relationship with RLP was on terms no less favorable to the Company than terms generally 
available from unaffiliated third-parties. 

Certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the 
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties are considered variable interest entities. The Company 
has power over significant activities of RLP including the fulfillment of its contracts and financing its operations. Additionally, the Company also pays 
expenses and collects receivables on behalf of RLP. Thus, the Company is the primary beneficiary, RLP qualifies as a variable interest entity, and RLP is 
consolidated in these consolidated financial statements. 

RLP recorded $
      
       853
       and $
      
       1,077
       in net income for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. RCP’s distributable share was $
      
       512
       and $
      
       646
       for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The non-controlling interest recorded as a reduction of net income available to 
common stockholders in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income represents RCP’s distributive share.

The following table summarizes the balance sheets of RLP: 
 

 June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
ASSETS      
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Accounts receivable − Radiant Global Logistics, Inc. $

            
             245

  $

            
             377

 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

             
             —  

 

             
             1  

      

 $

            
             245

  $

            
             378

 
      
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS’ CAPITAL      

Accrued expenses $

            
             —

  $

            
             1

 

Partners’ capital

             
             245  

 

             
             377  

      

 $

            
             245

  $

            
             378
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NOTE 12 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

The accounting guidance for fair value, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands 
disclosure for each major asset and liability category measured at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the reporting 
date. The framework for measuring fair value consists of a three-level valuation hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value based upon whether such inputs are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent 
sources, while unobservable inputs reflect market assumptions made by the reporting entity. In general, fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize observable inputs other than 
Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can 
be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs are 
unobservable data points for the asset or liability and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The fair value 
measurement level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques 
used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on one or more of the following three valuation techniques:

• Market approach: Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities;

• Cost approach: Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (replacement cost); and

• Income approach: Techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based upon market expectations, including present value 
techniques, option pricing and excess earning models.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

  Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2024  
(In thousands)  Level 3   Total  

Contingent consideration  $

(
            

             5,165
)  $

(
            

             5,165
)

Interest rate swap contracts (derivatives)   

            
             1,032

   

            
             1,032

 
       
       
  Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2023  

(In thousands)  
Level 3

  Total  

Contingent consideration  $

(
            

             4,173
)  $

(
            

             4,173
)

Interest rate swap contracts (derivatives)   

            
             2,229

   

            
             2,229

 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the financial assets (liabilities) measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): 
 

(In thousands)  
Contingent

Consideration   

Interest Rate Swap 
Contracts 

(Derivatives)  

Balance as of June 30, 2023  $

(
            

             4,173
)  $

            
             2,229

 

Increase related to acquisitions   

(
            

             5,165
)   

            
             —

 

Contingent consideration paid   

            
             3,723

   

            
             —

 

Change in fair value   

            
             450

   

(
            

             1,197

)
       

Balance as of June 30, 2024  $

(
            

             5,165
)  $

            
             1,032
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The Company has contingent obligations to transfer cash payments to former shareholders of acquired operations in conjunction with certain acquisitions 
if specified operating results and financial objectives are met over their stated earn-out period. The change in fair value in each period is principally 
attributable to a change in management’s estimates of future earn-out payments through the remainder of the earn-out periods.

The Company uses projected future financial results based on recent and historical data to value the anticipated future earn-out payments. To calculate 
fair value, the future earn-out payments were then discounted using Level 3 inputs. The Company has classified the contingent consideration as Level 3 
due to the lack of relevant observable market data over fair value inputs. The Company believes the discount rate used to discount the earn-out 
payments reflects market participant assumptions. Changes in assumptions and operating results could have a significant impact on the earn-out amount 
up to a maximum of $
      
       11,675
      , through earn-out periods measured through September 2027. 

As discussed in Note 9, derivative instruments are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair market value of interest rate swaps 
are determined using Level 3 unobservable inputs, specifically a pricing service proprietary to Bank of America.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s cash equivalents, receivables, contract assets, accounts payable, commissions payable, accrued expenses, 
and the income tax receivable and payable approximate the fair values due to the relatively short maturities of these instruments. The carrying amounts 
of the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility and notes payable would not differ significantly from fair value (based on Level 2 inputs) if recalculated based 
on current interest rates. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, there were 
      
       
        no
       
       transfers of financial instruments between Levels. 

NOTE 13 – INCOME TAXES 

The significant components of income tax expense are as follows:
 

 Year ended June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
Current:      

Federal $

            
             1,265

  $

            
             3,115

 

State  

            
             341

   

            
             2,568

 

Foreign  

            
             2,052

   

            
             4,115

 

Total current  

            
             3,658

   

            
             9,798

 
      

Deferred:      

Federal  

(
            

             1,629
)   

(
            

             2,665
)

State  

(
            

             707
)   

(
            

             689
)

Foreign  

            
             201

   

(
            

             139
)

Total deferred  

(
            

             2,135
)   

(
            

             3,493
)

      

Income tax expense $

            
             1,523

  $

            
             6,305

 

The following table reconciles income taxes based on the U.S. statutory tax rate to the Company’s income tax expense:
 

 Year ended June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
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Income tax expense at U.S. statutory rate (
            
             
              21
             
            %) $

            
             2,041

  $

            
             5,785

 

State income taxes, net of federal benefit  

(
            

             290
)   

            
             1,484

 

Foreign tax rate differential  

            
             404

   

            
             750

 

Permanent differences  

            
             274

   

            
             63

 

Share-based compensation  

(
            

             42
)   

(
            

             111
)

GILTI & FDII  

(
            

             161
)   

(
            

             422
)

Minority interest from partnership  

(
            

             107
)   

(
            

             136
)

Amended tax return impact  

(
            

             377
)   

            
             —

 

Return to provision true-ups  

(
            

             179
)   

(
            

             656
)

Other, net  

(
            

             40
)   

(
            

             452
)

      

Income tax expense $

            
             1,523

  $

            
             6,305
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The Company’s effective tax rate for the year ended June 30, 2024 is lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate primarily due to an amendment of a prior 
year return resulting in a refund. The Company’s effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 was higher than the U.S. federal statutory rate 
primarily due to state and foreign income taxes.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
 

 June 30,  
(In thousands) 2024   2023  
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):      

Allowance for credit losses $

            
             437

  $

            
             395

 

Accruals
 

            
             1,075

   

            
             937

 

Share-based compensation  

            
             1,664

   

            
             1,477

 

Operating lease liabilities  

            
             14,376

   

            
             16,401

 

Operating lease ROU asset  

(
            

             12,685
)   

(
            

             14,806
)

Property, technology, and equipment basis differences  

(
            

             2,368
)   

(
            

             1,977
)

Goodwill deductible for tax purposes  

(
            

             4,419
)   

(
            

             3,345
)

Intangible assets  

            
             2,010

   

(
            

             618
)

Other, net  

(
            

             902
)   

(
            

             1,408
)

      

Net deferred tax liabilities $

(
            

             812
)  $

(
            

             2,944
)

 

The Company and its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return. The Company also files unitary or separate returns in 
various state, local and non-U.S. jurisdictions based on state, local and non-U.S. filing requirements. Tax years that remain subject to examination by the 
IRS are the fiscal years ended through June 30, 2024. Tax years that remain subject to examination by state authorities are the fiscal years ended June 
30,  2020 through June 30,  2024 . Tax years that remain subject to examination by non-U.S. authorities are the periods ended December 31,  2018
through June 30,  2024 . Occasionally acquired entities have tax years that differ from the Company and are still open under the relevant statute of 
limitations and therefore are subject to potential adjustment. The Company does not have any material uncertain tax positions.

NOTE 14 – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

The Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2021 plan”) permits the Company’s Audit and Executive Committee to grant share-based 
awards to eligible employees, non-employee directors, and consultants of the Company. The 2021 plan became effective immediately upon approval by 
the Company’s stockholders and will expire on  November 16, 2031 , unless terminated earlier by the Board. The 2021 plan replaced the 2012 Radiant 
Logistics, Inc. Stock Option and Performance Award Plan (the “2012 plan”). The remaining shares available for grant under the 2012 plan will roll over 
into the 2021 plan, and no new awards will be granted under the 2012 plan. The terms of the 2012 plan, as applicable, will continue to govern awards 
outstanding under the 2012 plan, until exercised, expired, paid or otherwise terminated or canceled. Other than the 2021 plan, there are no other equity 
compensation plans under which equity awards can be granted. As of June 30, 2024, there are 
      
       2,488,448
       shares available for grant under the 2021 Plan.

Restricted Stock Units

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units of $
      
       2,540
       and $
      
       2,432
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      , respectively. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $
      
       4,246
       of total unrecognized share-based compensation cost for restricted stock units expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 
approximately  1.65 years. 

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity under the plans:
 

 
Number of

Units   
Weighted Average 

Grant Date Fair Value  

Unvested balance as of June 30, 2023

            
             1,360,796

  $

            
             6.54

 

Vested  

(
            

             217,185
)   

            
             5.18

 

Granted  

            
             570,826

   

            
             6.27

 

Forfeited  

(
            

             161,310
)   

            
             6.56

 
      

Unvested balance as of June 30, 2024  

            
             1,553,127

  $

            
             6.63

 

The table above includes a total of 
      
       870,252
       restricted stock units with performance-based conditions as of June 30, 2024. These awards will vest upon achievement of pre-established individual 
and Company performance goals as measured after a  three-year period. 
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Stock Options 

Stock options are granted at exercise prices equal to the fair value of the common stock at the date of the grant and have a term of  ten years . Generally, 
grants under each plan vest 
      
       20
      % annually over a  five-year period from the date of grant. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized share-
based compensation expense related to stock options of $
      
       71
       and $
      
       71
      , respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $
      
       491
       and $
      
       533
      , respectively, for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $
      
       137
       of total unrecognized share-based compensation cost for stock options expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 
1.93 years. 

The following table summarizes stock option activity under the plans:
 
 

Number of
Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

(Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(In thousands)  

Outstanding as of June 30, 2023  

            
             946,514

  $

            
             4.37

   

            
             2.40

  $

            
             2,302

 

Exercised  

(
            

             213,421
)   

            
             3.45

   —    

            
             491

 
            

Outstanding as of June 30, 2024  

            
             733,093

  $

            
             4.63

   

            
             1.73

  $

            
             963

 
            

Exercisable as of June 30, 2024  

            
             693,093

  $

            
             4.47

   

            
             1.43

  $

            
             963

 
 

The following table summarizes outstanding and exercisable options by exercise price range as of June 30, 2024:

  Outstanding Options   Exercisable Options  

Exercise Prices  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(In thousands)   

Number of
Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(In thousands)  

$
            

             3.00
             − $

            
             3.99

              

            

215,504
  $

            

3.36
   

            

1.38
  $

            

502
   

            

215,504
  $

            

3.36
   

            

1.38
  $

            

502
 

$
            

             4.00
             − $

            
             4.99

              

            

352,344
   

            
             4.46

   

            

0.62
   

            
             434

   

            

352,344
   

            
             4.46

   

            
             0.62

   

            
             434

 
$

            
             5.00
             − $

            
             5.99

              

            

55,245
   

            
             5.21

   

            
             0.84

   

            
             27

   

            

55,245
   

            
             5.21

   

            
             0.84

   

            
             27
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$
            

             6.00
             − $

            
             6.99

              

            

10,000
   

            
             6.77

   

            
             1.07

   

            
             —

   

            

10,000
   

            
             6.77

   

            
             1.07

   

            
             —

 
$

            
             7.00
             − $

            
             7.99

              

            

100,000
   

            
             7.45

   

            
             6.93

   

            
             —

   

            

60,000
   

            
             7.45

   

            
             6.93

   

            
             —

 
                         

   

            

733,093
  $

            
             4.63

   

            
             1.73

  $

            
             963

   

            

693,093
  $

            
             4.47

   

            
             1.43

  $

            
             963

 
 

NOTE 15 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Legal Proceedings 

The Company and its subsidiaries may be subject to legal actions and claims arising from contracts or other matters from time to time in the ordinary 
course of business. Management is not aware of any pending or threatened legal proceedings that are considered other than routine legal proceedings. 
The Company believes that the ultimate disposition or resolution of its routine legal proceedings, in the aggregate, are not material to its financial 
position, results of operations and liquidity.

On or about March 14, 2024, through its information technology systems monitoring tools, the Company detected what was determined to be the initial 
stages of a cybersecurity incident related to its Canadian operations. Upon detection, the Company immediately initiated its incident response and 
business continuity protocols and began taking measures to disrupt the unauthorized activity. As part of its process to address the incident, the Company 
proactively took measures to isolate its Canadian operations from the rest of its network and engaged the services of cybersecurity and forensics 
professionals to further assess, contain and remediate the incident. While the incident in combination with the Company’s security protocols caused 
service delays for customers in Canada, systems recovery efforts were promptly completed. The Company’s U.S. and other international operations 
continued without disruption throughout this process in all material respects. 

While the investigation is ongoing, as of the date of this filing, the incident has not had a material impact on the Company’s overall operations, and the 
Company has not determined the incident is reasonably likely to materially impact the Company's financial conditions or results of operations. Although 
the Company acted promptly and as efficiently as possible, any failure of the Company to comply with data privacy or other laws and regulations related 
to this event could result in claims, legal or regulatory proceedings, inquiries, or investigations. 
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Contingent Consideration and Earn-out Payments 

The Company’s agreements with respect to previous acquisitions contain future consideration provisions, which provide for the selling equity owners to 
receive additional consideration if specified operating results and financial objectives are achieved in future periods.  Earn-out payments are generally 
due annually on November 1 st and  90 days following each anniversary of each respective acquisition . 

The following table represents the estimated discounted earn-out payments to be paid in each of the following fiscal years ended June 30: 
 

(In thousands)  2025   2026   2027   2028   Total  
Earn-out payments:                

Cash  $

            

465
  $

            

1,830
  $

            

2,240
  $

            

630
  $

            

5,165
 

                

Total estimated earn-out payments  $

            

465
  $

            

1,830
  $

            

2,240
  $

            

630
  $

            

5,165
 

Other Contractual Commitments

As of June 30, 2024, the Company has $
      
       833
       of non-cancelable contractual commitments related to warehouse equipment associated with an operating lease that has not yet commenced. The 
amounts are expected to be paid within one year. 

NOTE 16 – OPERATING AND GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the 
chief operating decision-maker or decision-making group in making decisions regarding allocation of resources and assessing performance. The 
Company’s chief operating decision-maker is the Chief Executive Officer. The Company has 
      
       
        two
       
       operating and reportable segments: United States and Canada. 

The Company evaluates the performance of the segments primarily based on their respective revenues and income from operations. In addition, the 
Company includes the costs of the Company’s executives, board of directors, professional services, such as legal and consulting, amortization of 
intangible assets, and certain other corporate costs associated with operating as a public company as Corporate. 
 

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2024        Corporate/     
(In thousands)  United States   Canada   Eliminations   Total  

Revenues  $

            

683,955
  $

            

118,756
  $

(
            

             241
)  $

            

802,470
 

Income (loss) from operations   

            
             23,718

   

            
             8,544

   

(
            

             22,964
)   

            
             9,298

 

Other income   

            
             148

   

            
             194

   

            
             80

   

            
             422

 

Income (loss) before income taxes   

            
             23,866

   

            
             8,738

   

(
            

             22,884
)   

            
             9,720

 

Depreciation and amortization   

            
             3,670

   

            
             3,948

   

            
             10,477

   

            
             18,095

 

Total assets   

            

267,185
   

            

104,000
   

            
             —

   

            

371,185
 

Property, technology, and equipment, net   

            
             9,215

   

            
             16,343

   

            
             —

   

            
             25,558
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Goodwill   

            
             73,304

   

            
             19,739

   

            
             —

   

            
             93,043

 
             
As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2023        Corporate/     
(In thousands)  United States   Canada   Eliminations   Total  

Revenues  $

            

937,497
  $

            

148,374
  $

(
            

             385
)  $

            

1,085,486
 

Income (loss) from operations   

            
             41,520

   

            
             14,704

   

(
            

             28,103
)   

            
             28,121

 

Other income (expense)   

            
             599

   

            
             332

   

(
            

             1,506
)   

(
            

             575
)

Income (loss) before income taxes   

            
             42,119

   

            
             15,036

   

(
            

             29,609
)   

            
             27,546

 

Depreciation and amortization   

            
             4,072

   

            
             3,335

   

            
             15,293

   

            
             22,700

 

Total assets   

            

278,301
   

            

115,440
   

            
             —

   

            

393,741
 

Property, technology, and equipment, net   

            
             10,104

   

            
             15,285

   

            
             —

   

            
             25,389

 

Goodwill   

            
             68,823

   

            
             20,380

   

            
             —

   

            
             89,203

 
 
NOTE 17 − BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Fiscal Year 2024 Acquisitions

On October 1, 2023, the Company acquired the assets and operations of Daleray Corporation (“Daleray”), a Fort Lauderdale, Florida based, privately 
held company that has operated under the Company’s Distribution by Air brand since 2014. 

Effective February 1, 2024, the Company acquired the stock of Select Logistics, Inc. and Select Cartage Inc. (collectively “Select”), both Miami, Florida 
based, privately held companies that have operated as part of the Company’s Adcom Worldwide brand since 2007. 
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Select is expected to transition to the Radiant brand and combine with the operations of Daleray to solidify the Company’s cruise logistics service 
offerings in south Florida. 

Effective April 1, 2024, the Company acquired the assets and operations of Viking Worldwide, Inc., a Minnesota based, privately held company with 
operations in both Minneapolis, Minnesota and Houston, Texas that has operated under the Company’s Service by Air brand since 2012. 

On June 3, 2024, the Company acquired the operations Cascade Transportation, Inc., a Seattle-based, privately held company that provides a full range 
of customized time critical domestic and international transportation and logistics services.

On June 3, 2024, the Company acquired the operations of D.V.A & Associates, Inc., a Portland, Oregon based, privately held company that provides a 
full range of domestic and international transportation and logistics services across North America. 

The Company structured each of the transactions similar to its previous transactions, with a portion of the expected purchase price payable in 
subsequent periods based on the future performance of the acquired operations. The total consideration for the business combinations was not 
significant. Goodwill is recorded in the United States operating segment and is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes over a period of  15
years. Intangible assets acquired consist of customer related intangible assets and have an estimated useful life of  10 years. 

The preliminary fair value estimates for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based upon preliminary calculations and valuations. The 
estimates and assumptions are subject to change as additional information is obtained for the estimates during the respective measurement periods (up 
to one year from the acquisition date). The primary estimates not yet finalized relate to identifiable intangible assets, working capital and contingent 
consideration.

Fiscal Year 2023 Acquisition

On  October 1, 2022 , the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired the assets and operations of Cascade Enterprises of Minnesota, Inc. 
(“Cascade”) a Minneapolis, Minnesota based privately held company that has operated as a strategic operating partner under the Company’s Airgroup 
brand since 2007. As part of the post-acquisition integration activities, Cascade has combined with existing Company‑owned operations in Minneapolis 
and is able to leverage the Company’s Global Trade Management (“GTM”) platform to strengthen the Company’s purchase order and vendor 
management service offerings. The goodwill is recorded in the United States operating segment and is expected to be deductible for income tax 
purposes over a period of  15  years. Intangible assets acquired consist of customer related intangible assets and have a useful life of  10 years.

NOTE 18 − SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Repurchase of Common Stock 

Pursuant to the stock repurchase program described in Note 10, the Company purchased 
      
       129,360
       shares of Common Stock subsequent to June 30, 2024 and through September 3, 2024 for a total cost of $
      
       708
      , inclusive of transaction costs.

Acquisition

Effective  September 1, 2024 , the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired the stock of Foundation Logistics & Services, LLC 
(“Foundation”), a Humble, Texas based privately held company that provides a full range of specialized transportation and logistics services for 
companies involved in the exploration, drilling, and production of oil and gas. Foundation is expected to transition to the Radiant brand in 2025. As 
consideration for the acquisition, the Company paid $
      
       11,781
       in cash upon closing, and the sellers are entitled to additional contingent consideration payable in subsequent periods based on future financial 
performance.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated 
and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Exchange 
Act) as of June 30, 2024 was carried out by our management under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and CFO. Based on this 
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective as of June 30, 2024 due to the existence of the 
material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below.

Management believes that the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, our 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows as of and for the periods presented, in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the 
Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, 
we conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013).

Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures, 
which:

1. pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; 

2. provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorization of our management and directors; and 

3. provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could 
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As of June 30, 2024, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective due to the material weakness discussed below. A 
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Material Weakness over the Recording and Processing of Revenue Transactions and Remediation Progress

As of June 30, 2023, we concluded that a material weakness existed in our internal controls over financial reporting related to the recording and 
processing of revenues. As of June 30, 2024, remediation was ongoing. As such, as of June 30, 2024, we concluded that a material weakness still 
existed in our internal controls over financial reporting related to the recording and processing of revenues. Specifically, the controls as currently designed 
are not sufficient to prevent or detect a material misstatement in revenues as the design of the controls lack the level of precision necessary to ensure 
the completeness and accuracy of revenues. 
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During fiscal year 2024, management made significant progress designing and implementing a series of new, or enhanced existing controls aimed at 
mitigating risks associated with the accuracy, completeness, occurrence, and cut-off of reported revenue. This included a series of controls operating at 
various frequencies and levels of precision to detect material misstatements, including, among others: 

• Individual transactions meeting certain risk criteria are tested and analyzed for accuracy by comparing historical revenue and margin data, 
invoices, outstanding receivables, and payments. In some cases, inquiries and confirmation may be obtained from operators at individual 
locations;

• Individual transactions are tested, on a sample basis, to ensure they are supported by carrier invoices, indicating legitimate shipments, and to the 
corresponding cash receipts;

• Regional Vice Presidents review weekly and monthly revenue variances exceeding a set threshold, using historical data and inquiring or 
confirming with operators at individual locations when necessary;

• Implementation of controls that verify, on a sample basis, actual departure and proof of delivery dates for selected transactions, ensuring the 
inputs to the revenue accrual are accurate;

• Improved procedures and controls to enhance the granularity and precision over the month-end revenue accrual process;

• Enhanced lookback procedures to test the accuracy of prior month-end revenue accruals; and

• Performed additional review and analysis of unposted shipments to improve the accuracy of the revenue accrual.

As management has evaluated, designed and implemented the processes needed to remediate its internal controls weakness, it has done so in light of, 
among others: (a) the need to design and implement such processes in a manner that will not disrupt, to the best extent possible, the historic commercial 
processes that the Company has deployed across its network of Company-owned and strategic operating partner locations since its inception, and (b) 
management’s firm belief that, despite the material weakness in process and controls, the Company’s ultimate billing and collection processes continue 
to work on a commercially sound basis and the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K continue to fairly present, 
in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows as of and for the periods presented, in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
No further errors requiring restatement have been identified.

Management believes that the suite of controls it has implemented or enhanced during fiscal year 2024, which operate at various frequencies and levels 
of precision, will provide reasonable assurance that a potential material misstatement in revenue would be prevented or detected in a timely manner. 
That being said, while many of these new and enhanced controls have been in operation for much of fiscal year 2024; certain controls were implemented 
closer to year end, and the documentation supporting the performance of these controls can still be improved to demonstrate that the controls operate as 
they were designed for a sufficient period to conclude the controls are effective. We may also need to refine the underlying design and implementation as 
we continue to evaluate the manner in which they operate over a longer period before concluding that the material weakness has been resolved. 
Nevertheless, in recognition of the progress made during fiscal year 2024, and management’s resolve to address the remaining weakness, it is our goal 
to resolve the material weakness in fiscal year 2025.

Remediation of Material Weakness over Information Technology General Controls (“ITGCs”)

As of June 30, 2024, we concluded that material weakness surrounding our ITGCs, specifically relating to change management and user access rights, 
has been remediated. 

In response to the material weakness identified in the prior year, the Company removed certain elevated logical access privileges from user accounts, 
enhanced existing controls, and implemented new controls to specifically monitor and review elevated access over privileged accounts, monitor and 
review changes to core applications, and logging to evaluate both access and changes further strengthen our technology environment. For user access 
rights, software specifically designed to control access of the company’s ERP has been deployed. During fiscal year 2024, we performed testing 
procedures to verify the effectiveness of the new controls over multiple periods of operation. This supported our conclusion that the material weakness 
related to ITGCs has been remediated as of June 30, 2024.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the remediation activities of the material weaknesses over the recording and processing of revenue transactions and the ITGCs described 
above, there have not been any other changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the 
Exchange Act) that occurred during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None. 
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PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained under the captions entitled “Proposal 
No. 1 Election of Directors—Information about Director Nominees,” “Executive Officers,” and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy statement for 
our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, (which we refer to as our “2024 Proxy Statement”).

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which applies to all of our directors, executive officers and employees, is available in the “About—
Governance” section of our website located at www.radiantdelivers.com. In addition, printed copies of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are 
available upon written request to Attn: Human Resources, Radiant Logistics, Inc., Triton Towers Two, 700 S. Renton Village Place, Seventh Floor, 
Renton, Washington 98057. Any waiver of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for our employees may be made only by our CEO and, with respect 
to our director or executive officers, our Board of Directors and will be promptly disclosed as required by law and NYSE rules. We intend to satisfy the 
disclosure requirements of Item 5.05 of Form 8-K and applicable NYSE rules regarding amendments to or waivers from any provision of our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information in the “About—Governance” section of our website located at www.radiantdelivers.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained under the captions entitled “Executive 
Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Audit and Executive Oversight Committee Report” and “Director Compensation” in our 2024 
Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained under the caption entitled “Stock 
Ownership” and “Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans” in our 2024 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information contained under the captions entitled “Certain 
Relationships and Related Party Transactions,” and “Corporate Governance—Director Independence” in our 2024 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required in response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information be contained under the captions entitled “Proposal 
No. 2: Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Audit, Audit-Related, Tax, and Other Fees” and “Proposal No. 2: 
Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures” in our 2024 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) List of Documents Filed as part of this Report

(1) All Financial Statements and Supplemental Information

The Company’s consolidated financial statements filed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included in Part II, Item 8. 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Not applicable.

(3) Exhibits

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are included under Item 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits 
 

     Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number  Description  

Filed/
Furnished
Herewith  Form  

Period
Ending  

Exhibit 
Number  

Filing
Date  

              

3.1 & 4.1  Certificate of Incorporation   SB-2   3.1  9/20/02  
              

3.2 & 4.2  Amendment to Registrant’s Certificate of Incorporation 
(Certificate of Ownership and Merger Merging Radiant 
Logistics, Inc. into Golf Two, Inc. dated October 18, 2005)  

 8-K   3.1  10/18/05  

              

3.3 & 4.3  Amended and Restated Bylaw of Radiant Logistics, Inc. 
(October 1, 2019)  

 8-K   3.1  10/2/19  

              

3.4 & 4.4  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation   10-Q  12/31/12  3.1  2/12/13  
              

4.5  Description of Company’s Common Stock  X          
              

10.1  Executive Employment Agreement dated January 13, 2006 by 
and between Radiant Logistics, Inc. and Bohn H. Crain+  

 8-K    10.7  1/18/06  

              

10.2  Letter Agreement dated June 10, 2011; amending the 
Employment Agreement between Radiant Logistics, Inc. and 
Bohn H. Crain+  

 8-K    10.1  6/10/11  

              

10.3  Employment Agreement dated May 14, 2012 by and between 
Radiant Logistics, Inc. and Todd Macomber+  

 8-K    10.2  5/14/12  

              

10.4  Employment Agreement dated February 2, 2015 by and 
between Radiant Logistics, Inc. and Arnold Goldstein+  

  10-K  6/30/16  10.6  9/13/16  

              

10.5  Employment Agreement dated April 27, 2018 by and between 
Radiant Logistics, Inc. and John W. Sobba+  

  8-K    10.1  5/11/18  

              

10.6  Separation Agreement and General Release between the 
Company and John Sobba dated December 22, 2023+  

  8-K    10.1  12/22/23  

              

10.7  Employment Agreement between the Company and Jaime 
Becker dated November 13, 2023+  

  8-K    10.2  12/22/23  

              

10.8  Operating Agreement of Radiant Logistics Partners, LLC 
dated June 28, 2006  

  8-K   10.4  5/14/12  

              

10.9  Radiant Logistics, Inc. Management Incentive Compensation 
Plan (As Amended and Restated Effective as of July 1, 2021)+ 

  8-K    10.1  10/4/21  

              

10.10  Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan+    8-K    10.1  11/23/21  

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000116376502000412/articles.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000114420405032489/v027649_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000156459019036268/rlgt-ex31_6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000114420413007763/v332129_ex3-1.htm
file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex4_5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000114420406001821/v033278_ex10-7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000114420411035144/v225639_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000114420412028210/v313091_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000156459016025164/rlgt-ex106_775.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000156459018013263/rlgt-ex101_6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000095017023072729/rlgt-20231222.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000114420412028210/v313091_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001171155/000095017021001980/rlgt-20210927ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001171155/000095017021004862/rlgt-ex10_1.htm
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10.11  Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 
use with the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive 
Plan+  

  8-K    10.2  11/23/21  

              

10.12  Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 
(Canada) for use with the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 
Omnibus Incentive Plan+  

  8-K    10.3  11/23/21  

              

10.13  Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award 
Agreement for use with the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 
Omnibus Incentive Plan+  

  8-K    10.4  11/23/21  

              

10.14  Form of Employee Performance Unit Award Agreement for 
use with the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive 
Plan+

 

  8-K    10.5  11/23/21  

              

10.15  Form of Employee Non-Statutory Option Award Agreement for 
use with the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive 
Plan+  

  8-K    10.6  11/23/21  

              

10.16  Form of Non-Employee Director Non-Statutory Option Award 
Agreement for use with the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2021 
Omnibus Incentive Plan+  

  8-K    10.7  11/23/21  

              

10.17  Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Performance 
Award Plan+  

 DEF 14A   Annex A  10/9/12  

              

10.18  Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement under the 
Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Performance 
Award Plan+  

 10-Q  12/31/12  10.5  2/12/13  

              

10.19  Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Radiant 
Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Performance Award 
Plan+  

  10-Q  12/31/12  10.7  2/12/13  

              

10.20  Form of SAR Award Agreement under the Radiant Logistics, 
Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Performance Award Plan+  

  10-Q  12/31/12  10.8  2/12/13  

              

10.21  Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Award Agreement under 
the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and 
Performance Award Plan+  

 10-Q  9/30/16  10.1  11/9/16  

              

10.22  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 
Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Performance 
Award Plan+  

  10-Q  9/30/16  10.2  11/9/16  

              

10.23  Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Award Agreement 
(Director) under the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option 
and Performance Award Plan+  

 10-Q  9/30/16  10.3  11/9/16  

              

10.24  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Director) 
under the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and 
Performance Award Plan+
  

 10-Q  9/30/16  10.4  11/9/16  

              

10.25  Form of Canadian Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 
under the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and 
Performance Award Plan+  

 10-Q  12/31/16  10.1  2/8/17  

              

10.26  Form of Canadian Non-qualified Stock Option Award 
Agreement under the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 2012 Stock 
Option and Performance Award Plan+  

 10-Q  12/31/16  10.2  2/8/17  
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000156459016028654/rlgt-ex101_256.htm
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10.27  Credit Agreement, dated August 5, 2022, by and among 
Radiant Logistics, Inc. and Radiant Global Logistics, Inc., as 
the Borrowers, the subsidiaries of the Borrowers, and Bank of 
America, N.A., Bank of Montreal, KeyBank National 
Association, MUFG Union Bank, N.A., the Lenders, Bank of 
America, N.A. and BMO Capital Markets Corp.  

  8-K    10.1  8/11/22  

              

10.28  $29,000,000 Credit Facilities Amended and Restated Loan 
Agreement dated August 5, 2022 by and among Radiant 
Global Logistics (Canada) Inc., 2062698 Ontario Inc., Radiant 
Logistics, Inc., Radiant Global Logistics, Inc., Adcom Express, 
Inc., Radiant Road & Rail, Inc., DBA Distribution Services, 
Inc., Radiant Trade Services, Inc., Radiant Transportation 
Services, Inc., Radiant Off-Shore Holdings LLC, Service by 
Air, Inc., International Freight Systems (of Oregon), Inc., 
Green Acquisition Company, Inc., Highways & Skyways, Inc., 
Radiant Global Logistics (CA), Inc., On Time Express, Inc., 
Radiant Customs Services, Inc., Radiant Logistics Global 
Services, Inc., Navegate, Inc., Radiant World Trade Services, 
Inc., Centrade, Inc., Navegate Logistics, Ltd., Radiant 
Logistics Domestic Services, Inc., Navegate Domestic, LLC, 
and Radiant Logistics Partners, LLC, and Fiera Private Debt 
Fund IV LP.  

  8-K    10.2  8/11/22  

              

10.29  $10,000,000 Credit Facilities Amended and Restated Loan 
Agreement dated August 5, 2022 by and among Radiant 
Global Logistics (Canada) Inc., 2062698 Ontario Inc., Radiant 
Logistics, Inc., Radiant Global Logistics, Inc., Adcom Express, 
Inc., Radiant Road & Rail, Inc., DBA Distribution Services, 
Inc., Radiant Trade Services, Inc., Radiant Transportation 
Services, Inc., Radiant Off-Shore Holdings LLC, Service by 
Air, Inc., International Freight Systems (of Oregon), Inc., 
Green Acquisition Company, Inc., Highways & Skyways, Inc., 
Radiant Global Logistics (CA), Inc., On Time Express, Inc., 
Radiant Customs Services, Inc., Radiant Logistics Global 
Services, Inc., Navegate, Inc., Radiant World Trade Services, 
Inc., Centrade, Inc., Navegate Logistics, Ltd., Radiant 
Logistics Domestic Services, Inc., Navegate Domestic, LLC, 
and Radiant Logistics Partners, LLC, and Fiera Private Debt 
Fund V LP  

  8-K    10.3  8/11/22  

              

10.30  First Lien Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of 
August 5, 2022, by and among Bank of America, M.A., Fiera 
Private Debt Fund IV LP and Fiera Private Debt Fund V LP, 
and acknowledged and agreed to by Radiant Logistics, Inc.  

  8-K    10.4  8/11/22  

              

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001171155/000095017022016833/rlgt-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001171155/000095017022016833/rlgt-ex10_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001171155/000095017022016833/rlgt-ex10_3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001171155/000095017022016833/rlgt-ex10_4.htm
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10.31  $29,000,000 Credit Facilities Amended and Restated Loan 
Agreement, dated March 13, 2020, by and among Radiant 
Global Logistics (Canada) Inc., 2062698 Ontario Inc., Clipper 
Exxpress Company, Radiant Logistics, Inc., Radiant Global 
Logistics, Inc., Radiant Transportation Services, Inc., Radiant 
Logistics Partners LLC, Adcom Express, Inc., DBA 
Distribution Services, Inc., International Freight Systems (of 
Oregon), Inc., Radiant Off-Shore Holdings LLC, Green 
Acquisition Company, Inc., On Time Express, Inc., Radiant 
Global Logistics (CA), Inc., Radiant Trade Services, Inc., 
Service By Air, Inc., Radiant Customs Services, Inc., and 
Fiera Private Debt Fund IV LP  

  8-K    10.2  3/19/20  

              

10.32  $10,000,000 Credit Facility Amended and Restated Loan 
Agreement, dated March 13, 2020, by and among Radiant 
Global Logistics (Canada) Inc. and 2062698 Ontario Inc., 
Clipper Exxpress Company, Radiant Logistics, Inc., Radiant 
Global Logistics, Inc., Radiant Transportation Services, Inc., 
Radiant Logistics Partners LLC, Adcom Express, Inc., DBA 
Distribution Services, Inc., International Freight Systems (of 
Oregon), Inc., Radiant Off-Shore Holdings LLC, Green 
Acquisition Company, Inc., On Time Express, Inc., Radiant 
Global Logistics (CA), Inc., Radiant Trade Services, Inc., 
Service By Air, Inc., Radiant Customs Services, Inc., 
Highways & Skyways, Inc., and Fiera Private Debt Fund V LP  

  8-K    10.3  3/19/20  

              

10.33  First Lien Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of 
March 13, 2020, by and among Bank of America, M.A., Fiera 
Private Debt Fund IV LP and Fiera Private Debt Fund V LP, 
and acknowledged and agreed to by Radiant Logistics, Inc.  

  8-K    10.4  3/19/20  

              

10.34  First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Consent, dated 
September 27, 2023, by and among Radiant Logistics, Inc., 
Radiant Global Logistics, Inc. and Radiant Global Logistics 
(Canada) Inc., as the Borrowers, the subsidiaries of the 
Borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A., Bank of Montreal, 
Keybank National Association, U.S. Bank National 
Association (successor to MUFG Union Bank, N.A.), the 
Lenders, Bank of America, N.A. and BMO Capital Markets 
Corp.  

  8-K    10.1  9/27/23  

              

14.1  Code of Business Conduct and Ethics   10-KSB   14.1  3/17/06  
              

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant  X         
              

23.1  Consent of Moss Adams, LLP  X         
              

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  X         

              

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

X         

              

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002

 

X         
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000156459020011791/rlgt-ex103_27.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1171155/000156459020011791/rlgt-ex104_81.htm
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file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex21_1.htm
file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex23_1.htm
file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex31_1.htm
file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex31_2.htm
file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex32_1.htm


 

74

Table of Contents

              

97.1  Radiant Logistics, Inc. Clawback Policy  X          

              

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance  X          

              

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded 
Linkbase Documents  

X          

              

104  Cover Page Interactive Data (embedded within the Inline 
XBRL document)  

X          

              

 
+Compensatory plans or arrangements

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

file:///tmp/T2616/87de18f9-81ca-4bac-955b-a1e97c884720/rlgt-ex97_1.htm
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 

      
RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
(Registrant)

    
Date: September 12, 2024   By:  /s/ Bohn H. Crain 
      Bohn H. Crain
      Chief Executive Officer
      (Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

Signatures  Title  Date
   

/s/ Richard P. Palmieri  Director  September 12, 2024
Richard P. Palmieri     
   

/s/ Michael Gould
 

Director
 

September 12, 2024
Michael Gould     
     

/s/ Kristin E. Toth  Director  September 12, 2024
Kristin E. Toth     
   

/s/ Bohn H. Crain  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  September 12, 2024
Bohn H. Crain  (Principal Executive Officer)   
   

/s/ Todd E. Macomber  Senior Vice President and Chief  September 12, 2024
Todd E. Macomber

 
Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
 DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF

THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Radiant Logistics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our”), has only one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: our common stock, par value $0.001 per share (“common stock”).

The following description of our common stock is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference 
to our Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (our “Charter”), and our Amended and Restated Bylaws (our “Bylaws”), which are filed as exhibits to our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 and are incorporated by reference herein. We encourage you to read our Charter, 
our Bylaws and the applicable provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”) for additional information.

Authorized Shares

We have authority to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share. As of September 3, 2024, we had 46,699,484 shares of 
common stock issued and outstanding.

We are authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share of which none are outstanding. Our board of directors has the 
authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series, and to fix, as to any such series, any 
dividend rate, redemption price, preference on liquidation or dissolution, sinking fund terms, conversion rights, voting rights, and any other preference or 
special rights and qualifications. Any or all of the rights and preferences selected by our board of directors may be greater than the rights of our common 
stock. The issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock and the likelihood that holders of common 
stock will receive dividend payments and payments upon liquidation.

Voting Rights

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, including 
the election of directors, and do not have cumulative voting rights.

Dividends

Holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to dividends as and when declared by our Board of Directors from funds legally available therefor, and 
upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities. We have not paid any 
dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Our ability to pay dividends is 
limited by the terms of our credit facility (subject to limited exceptions). As such, it is our present policy to retain earnings, if any, for use in the 
development of our business.

Liquidation

Subject to any preferential rights of any then outstanding preferred stock, in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our common 
stock are entitled to share ratably in the assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preferences of any then outstanding preferred 
stock.

Rights and Preferences

Our common stock does not carry any preemptive rights enabling a holder to subscribe for, or receive shares of, any class of our common stock or any 
other securities convertible into shares of any class of our common stock, or any redemption rights. Our common stock also does not have any 
conversion rights, and there are no sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock.

Stock Exchange Listing

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE American under the symbol “RLGT.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. The transfer agent and registrar’s address is 1717 
Arch Street, Suite 1300, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103.



Exhibit 4.5

 

Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of our Charter and Bylaws and the DGCL

Provisions of the DGCL could make it more difficult to acquire us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise, or to remove incumbent 
officers and directors. These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage types of coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover 
bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with us. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our 
potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of 
discouraging takeover or acquisition proposals because, among other things, negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their 
terms.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute. We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, an anti-takeover statute. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly-held 
Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the time the person 
became an interested stockholder, unless (with certain exceptions) the business combination or the transaction in which the person became an 
interested stockholder is approved in a prescribed manner. Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other 
transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and 
associates, owns (or within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status did own) 15 percent or more of a corporation’s voting 
stock. The existence of this provision would be expected to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance by the 
Board, including discouraging attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of Common Stock.

No Cumulative Voting. The DGCL provides that stockholders are denied the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a corporation’s 
certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. The Company Certificate prohibits cumulative voting.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors. The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of 
directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors’ fiduciary duties as directors. Our certificate of 
incorporation provides that no director shall have any liability for monetary damages for breaches of directors’ fiduciary duties as directors. Our bylaws 
include provisions that indemnify, to the fullest extent allowable under the DGCL, the personal liability of directors or officers for monetary damages for 
actions taken as a director or officer of the Company, or for serving at our request as a director or officer or in another position at another corporation or 
enterprise, as the case may be. The bylaws also provide that we must indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and officers, subject to our 
receipt of an undertaking from the indemnitee as may be required under the DGCL. We are also expressly authorized to carry directors’ and officers’ 
insurance to protect the Company and our directors, officers, employees and agents from certain liabilities.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a 
lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duties. These provisions may also have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation 
against directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. We may be adversely affected 
to the extent that, in a class action or direct suit, we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these 
indemnification provisions. There is currently no pending material litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers, employees or agents for 
which indemnification is sought.

Authorized but Unissued Shares of Common Stock. Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock will be available for future issuance without 
approval by the holders of common stock. We may use additional shares for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to raise 
additional capital, employee benefit plans and as consideration for or to finance future acquisitions, investments or other purposes. The existence of 
authorized but unissued shares of common stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, 
tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Advance Notice Requirement. Stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of our stockholders must comply with advance notice 
procedures. These advance notice procedures require timely notice and apply in several situations, including stockholder proposals relating to the 
nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors. These requirements could make it more difficult for a stockholder to bring a proposal before 
an annual meeting.

Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock. As a result, our board may, without the approval 
of our stockholders, issue shares of preferred stock with super voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences on a discriminatory basis 
that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deferring, delaying or discouraging hostile 
takeovers, or changes in control or management of the Company.

Election and Removal of Directors. Our certificate of incorporation requires that directors may be removed for cause and only with the approval of the 
holders of at least 75% of our outstanding shares entitled to vote in the election of directors. Any vacancy on our Board of Directors, including vacancies 
resulting from increasing the size of our Board of Directors, may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors in office. The foregoing provisions could 
make our acquisition by a third party, a change in our incumbent directors, or a similar change of control more difficult by limiting the methods available 
for removing directors.
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Amendments to Organizational Documents

The DGCL provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is required to amend a corporation’s 
certificate of incorporation or bylaws. However, our bylaws provide that our stockholders may make additional bylaws and may alter and repeal any 
bylaws by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote upon the election of directors. This provision 
could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company.
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Subsidiaries of 
Radiant Logistics, Inc. 

 
Name of Subsidiary  State of Incorporation or Organization
Radiant Logistics Domestic Services, Inc.  Delaware
Radiant Logistics Global Services, Inc. (formerly Saltspring Acquisition, Inc.)  Delaware
Adcom Express, Inc.  Minnesota
Centrade, Inc.  Minnesota
DBA Distribution Services, Inc.  New Jersey
Navegate, Inc.  South Dakota
Navegate Domestic, LLC  South Dakota
Navegate Logistics, Ltd.  Minnesota
Navegate Supply Chain (Shanghai) Co., Ltd  China
Radiant Global Logistics, Inc. (formerly Airgroup Corporation)  Washington
Radiant Logistics Partners LLC (40% owned by Radiant Global Logistics, Inc.)  Delaware
Green Acquisition Company, Inc.  Washington
Highways & Skyways, Inc.  Kentucky
International Freight Systems (Of Oregon), Inc.  Oregon
Select Logistics, Inc.  Florida
Select Cartage Inc.  Florida
Foundation Logistics & Services, LLC  Texas
Radiant Trade Services, Inc.  Washington
Radiant World Trade Services, Inc.  Minnesota
Service By Air, Inc.  New York
Radiant Customs Services, Inc.  New York
Radiant Road & Rail, Inc. (formerly Clipper Exxpress Company)  Delaware
Radiant Global Logistics (CA), Inc. (formerly Wheels MSM US, Inc.)  Delaware
Radiant Transportation Services, Inc. (formerly Radiant Logistics Global Services, Inc.)  Delaware
On Time Express, Inc.  Arizona
Radiant Off-Shore Holdings, LLC  Washington
Radiant Global Logistics (Canada) Inc. (formerly Wheels International Inc)  Ontario, Canada
2062698 Ontario Inc.  Ontario, Canada
RGL Mexico LLC  Washington
Radiant Global Logistics (MX) S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico
Radiant Global Logistics (HK) Limited  Hong Kong
Radiant Global Logistics (Shanghai) Ltd.  China
Radiant BPO Services Inc.  Philippines
Radiant Support Services (PH) Inc.  Philippines
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333 264498, No. 333-203821, and No. 333-179868) and 
Form S-8 (No. 333-261351 and No. 333 190683) of Radiant Logistics, Inc. (the “Company”), of our report dated September 12, 2024, relating to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of the Company (which report 
expresses an unqualified opinion on the consolidated financial statements and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting due to a material weakness) appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2024.
 
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
 
Seattle, Washington 
September 12, 2024
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Certification 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Bohn H. Crain, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Radiant Logistics, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. As a certifying officer, I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of 
the registrant’s board of directors: 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting. 

Date: September 12, 2024 
 
By: /s/ Bohn H. Crain
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
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Certification 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Todd E. Macomber, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Radiant Logistics, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. As a certifying officer, I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under my 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of 
the registrant’s board of directors: 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting. 

Date: September 12, 2024 
 
By: /s/ Todd E. Macomber
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Accounting Officer)
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Certifications Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

(18 U.S.C. Section 1350) 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, each of the undersigned officers of Radiant Logistics, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies that, to his knowledge, 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended June 30, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company. 

Date: September 12, 2024 
 
By:  /s/ Bohn H. Crain
  Bohn H. Crain
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
By:  /s/ Todd E. Macomber
  Todd E. Macomber
  Chief Financial Officer
  

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
CLAWBACK AND FORFEITURE POLICY

This Radiant Logistics, Inc. Clawback and Forfeiture Policy (this “Policy”) was approved effective as of the Effective Date by the Audit and Executive 
Oversight Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Radiant Logistics, Inc. (the “Company”). This Policy is adopted 
pursuant to and intended to comply with Section 303A.14 of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) Listed Company Manual so long as the Company’s 
securities are listed on the NYSE. 

Purpose and Policy Statement

The Company is committed to conducting business with integrity in accordance with high ethical standards and in compliance with all applicable laws, 
rules and regulations. This includes the Company’s commitment to comply with all laws, rules and regulations applicable to the presentation of the 
Company’s financial information to the public and to the recovery of erroneously awarded incentive-based compensation.

As a result, the Committee has adopted this Policy to provide that, in the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the 
material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting 
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result 
in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (each, as applicable, a 
“Restatement”), the Company will recover reasonably promptly the amount of any “erroneously awarded compensation” “received” by an “executive 
officer,” in each case as such terms are defined in this Policy, if and to the extent required by any federal or state law, rule or regulation, or rule, 
regulation, policy or listing standard of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or any securities exchange on which the Company’s securities 
are listed, including without limitation, Section 303A.14 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

In the event of any change in any federal or state law, rule or regulation, or rule, regulation, policy or listing standard of the SEC or any securities 
exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed after the Effective Date, which requires the Company to recover compensation from an executive 
officer, the Company will seek recovery under this Policy to the extent required by such laws, rules, regulations or listing standards.

Administration

The Committee has full power, authority, and sole and exclusive discretion to reasonably construe, interpret and administer this Policy. The Committee 
will interpret this Policy consistent with Section 303A.14 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual and any NYSE guidance issued thereunder, the rules and 
regulations of the SEC, and any other applicable laws, rules or regulations governing the mandatory recovery of compensation, as such laws, rules or 
regulations may change, be interpreted or evolve from time to time. All determinations and decisions made by the Committee will be made in its 
reasonable discretion and will be final, conclusive and binding on all affected individuals.

The term “Committee” as used in this Policy means the Audit and Executive Oversight Committee of the Board, or in the absence of such a committee, a 
majority of the “independent directors” (within the meaning of Section 303A.02 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual) serving on the Board.

Applicability 

This Policy applies to all “incentive-based compensation” “received” by an “executive officer,” in each case as such terms are defined in this Policy, after 
beginning service as an executive officer, as such term is defined in this Policy, and who served as an executive officer at any time during the 
performance period for that incentive-based compensation:

• While the Company has a class of securities listed on the NYSE or another national securities exchange or a national securities association; and

• During the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare the Restatement, plus any 
transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years; 
provided, however, that a transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year 
that comprises a period of nine to 12 months would be deemed a completed fiscal year; and provided, further, that the Company’s obligation to 
recover erroneously awarded compensation is not dependent on if or when the restated financial statements are filed.

For purpose of determining the relevant recovery period, the date that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement is the earlier to occur of: (i) the 
date the Company’s Board, a committee of the Board or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not 
required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement; or (ii) the date a court, regulator or 
other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement.
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Executive Officers Covered by Policy 

This Policy covers the Company’s current and former executive officers who received erroneously awarded compensation regardless of whether the 
executive officer committed misconduct or contributed to the error.

The term “executive officer” as used in this Policy is as defined in Section 303A.14(e) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, as amended from time to 
time.

Authority and Obligation to Recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation; Exceptions

In the event of a Restatement, the Company must reasonably promptly recover any “erroneously awarded compensation,” as such term is defined in this 
Policy, in compliance with this Policy, except to the extent one of the three conditions below is met and the Committee has made a determination that 
recovery would be impracticable.

1. The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered and the Company has made 
a reasonable attempt to recover any amount of erroneously awarded compensation, has documented such reasonable attempt(s) to recover and 
provided that documentation to the NYSE.

2. Recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022 and the Company has obtained an opinion 
of home country counsel, acceptable to the NYSE, that recovery would result in such a violation and has provided such opinion to the NYSE.

3. Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the 
Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or 411(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Erroneously Awarded Compensation 

The term “erroneously awarded compensation” as used in this Policy means that amount of “incentive-based compensation” received that exceeds the 
amount of “incentive-based compensation” that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, and must 
be computed without regard to any taxes paid. 

For incentive-based compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of erroneously awarded compensation is not 
subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a Restatement the amount must be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of 
the Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the incentive-based compensation was received. The Company will maintain 
documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE.

The term “incentive-based compensation” as used in this Policy means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon 
the attainment of a financial reporting measure. 

The term “financial reporting measures” as used in this Policy means measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting 
principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Financial 
reporting measures include, without limitation, stock price and total shareholder return, and may include non-GAAP financial measures. A financial 
reporting measure need not be presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in an SEC filing to constitute a financial reporting 
measure for this purpose.

Incentive-based compensation is deemed “received” as such term is used in this Policy by an executive officer in the Company’s fiscal period during 
which the financial reporting measure specified in the incentive-based compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the incentive-
based compensation occurs after the end of that period.

Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, “incentive-based compensation” is intended to be interpreted and construed broadly and includes with 
respect to any plan that takes into account incentive-based compensation (other than a tax-qualified plan) any amount contributed to a notional account 
based on erroneously awarded compensation and any earnings accrued to date on that notional account. Such plans include without limitation long-term 
disability plans, life insurance plans, supplemental executive retirement plans and other compensation, if it is based on incentive-based compensation.

For clarity and the avoidance of doubt, “incentive-based compensation” does not include the following:

• base salary (other than any base salary increase earned wholly or in part based on the attainment of a financial reporting measure, which 
increase is subject to recovery as incentive-based compensation hereunder);

• bonuses paid solely at the discretion of the Committee or Board that are not paid from a “bonus pool” that is determined by satisfying a financial 
reporting measure performance goal;
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• bonuses paid solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standards (e.g. demonstrated leadership) and/or completion of a specified 
employment period;

• non-equity incentive plan awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic measures (e.g., consummating a merger or divestiture), or 
operational measures (e.g., completion of a project); and

• equity awards for which the grant is not contingent upon achieving any financial reporting measure performance goal, and vesting is contingent 
solely upon completion of a specified employment period and/or attaining one or more non-financial reporting measures.

Authority to Recoup Incentive-Based Compensation for Egregious Conduct

If the Committee determines that an executive officer has engaged in egregious conduct that is substantially detrimental to the Company, the Committee 
may require the executive officer to reimburse the Company for all or a portion of incentive-based compensation previously vested or paid to such 
executive officer during the one-year period preceding the date on which the Company discovers such conduct and/or authorize the cancellation of 
unpaid or unvested incentive-based compensation, as determined by the Committee pursuant to this Policy. “Egregious conduct substantially detrimental 
to the Company” will mean any one of the following:

• any act or omission which would constitute grounds, in the discretion of the Committee, for termination for “Cause” under the terms of the 
executive officer’s employment agreement or other employment arrangements if no employment agreement was in place; 

• the material breach of a written policy applicable to the executive officer, including, but not limited to, the Code of Ethics;

• egregious misconduct by the executive officer including, but not limited to, fraud, criminal activities, falsification of Company records, theft, violent 
acts or threats of violence, or a violation of law, unethical conduct or inappropriate behavior that causes substantial reputational harm to the 
Company or exposes the Company to substantial legal liability; or

• the commission of an act or omission which causes the executive officer or the Company to be in violation of federal or state securities laws, 
rules or regulations.

In the event the recoupment is triggered by egregious conduct substantially detrimental to the Company by the executive officer, then the Committee will 
determine the amount of incentive-based compensation to recoup from such executive officer based on the following factors:

• the amount of incentive-based compensation received by the executive officer that exceeds the amount of incentive-based compensation that 
otherwise would have been received or granted had the executive officer’s egregious conduct substantially detrimental to the Company been 
known; 

• the relative fault or degree of involvement by the executive officer;

• the overall work performance of the executive officer;

• the relative impact of the executive officer’s conduct on the Company and the magnitude of any restatement, loss or variance from budget or 
plan; 

• the cost or difficulty of obtaining recoupment, including but not limited to whether the executive officer has any outstanding equity-based awards 
that may be cancelled, whether the executive officer continues to be employed by the Company or its subsidiaries, and the language of this Policy 
in effect on the relevant date; and/or

• any other facts and circumstances determined relevant by the Committee, in its sole discretion.

Method of Recovery

The Committee will determine, in its reasonable discretion, the method for recovering incentive-based compensation hereunder, which may include, 
without limitation, any one or more of the following:

• requiring reimbursement of cash incentive-based compensation previously paid;

• seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards; 

• cancelling or rescinding some or all outstanding vested or unvested equity-based awards; 

• adjusting or withholding from unpaid compensation, deferred compensation or other set-off;

• cancelling or setting-off against planned future grants of equity-based awards; and/or 
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• any other method required or authorized by applicable law or contract.

Enforceability 

In addition to the adoption of this Policy, the Company will take steps to implement an agreement to this Policy by all current and future executive officers. 
In furtherance of the foregoing, each executive officer subject to this Policy is required to sign and return to the Company the Acknowledgement Form 
attached hereto as Exhibit A pursuant to which such executive officer will agree to be bound by the terms and comply with this Policy.

Policy Not Exclusive 

Any recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recovery that may be available to the Company pursuant 
to the terms of any other clawback or recovery policy or any similar policy in any employment agreement, incentive or equity compensation plan or award 
or other agreement and any other legal rights or remedies available to the Company. 

Notwithstanding the generality of the foregoing, to the extent that the requirements under the provisions of Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
are broader than the provisions in this Policy, the provisions of such law will apply to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

No Indemnification

The Company will not indemnify or agree to indemnify any executive officer or former executive officer against the loss of erroneously awarded 
compensation nor will the Company pay or agree to pay any insurance premium to cover the loss of erroneously awarded compensation.

Effective Date and Relationship to Prior Policy

This Policy is deemed effective as of October 2, 2023 (“Effective Date”) and applies to all incentive-based compensation received by the Company’s 
current or former executive officers on or after the Effective Date. This Policy supersedes and replaces the Radiant Logistics, Inc. Clawback and 
Forfeiture Policy, as adopted by the Board on September 27, 2021, with respect to all incentive-based compensation received by executive officers on or 
after the Effective Date.

Required Disclosures

The Company will file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirements of the federal securities laws, including the disclosure 
required by the applicable SEC filings and will provide all required SEC and other disclosures regarding this Policy and in the event of a Restatement.

Amendment and Termination

The Committee may amend, modify or terminate this Policy in whole or in part at any time in its sole discretion and may adopt such rules and procedures 
that it deems necessary or appropriate to implement this Policy or to comply with Section 303A.14 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual and any other 
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all current and former executive officers of the Company and their respective beneficiaries, heirs, 
executors, administrators, or other legal representatives.
 

* * * * * *
 
Adopted by the Audit and Executive Oversight Committee
of the Board of Directors of Radiant Logistics, Inc. 
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EXHIBIT A

RADIANT LOGISTICS, INC.
CLAWBACK AND FORFEITURE POLICY

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confirms that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the Radiant Logistics, Inc. 
Clawback and Forfeiture Policy (the “Policy”). 

By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy 
and that the Policy will apply both during and after the undersigned’s employment with Radiant Logistics, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. 

Further, by signing below, the undersigned agrees to abide by the terms of the Policy, including, without limitation, by returning any erroneously 
awarded compensation (as defined in the Policy) to Radiant Logistics, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries to the extent required by, and in a 
manner permitted by, the Policy. In addition, by signing below, the undersigned expressly agrees to the following: (i) that Radiant Logistics, Inc., and its 
direct and indirect subsidiaries, are authorized, regardless of the terms of any existing offer letter, employment agreement or other agreement with the 
undersigned relating to his/her employment, to recover any erroneously awarded compensation from the undersigned in the manner permitted by the 
Policy; (ii) the terms of the Policy are deemed incorporated into any offer letter, employment agreement or other agreement between the undersigned 
and Radiant Logistics, Inc. or its direct and indirect subsidiaries as an amendment thereto; and (iii) any term contrary to the Policy contained in any 
offer letter, employment agreement or other agreement between the undersigned and Radiant Logistics, Inc. or its direct and indirect subsidiaries, is 
hereby disregarded and superseded by the Policy.

 

 
Signature:  

Name:  

Date:  




